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1881.
NEW ZEALAND.

PUBLIC PETITIONS COMMITTEE.
REPORT ON THE PETITION OF MESSRS. BROGDEN

Report drought up loth September, 1881, and ordered to be printed.

EEPORT.
In dealing with the petitioners' case the Committee have availed themselves of the evidencetaken by the Public Works and Immigration Committee of 1873. The Committee have alsoobtained documentary evidence from the Public Works Department, and fully examined suchwitnesses as have been submitted for examination by thepetitioners. After carefullyconsideringthe evidence,, and giving due weight to the circumstances under which the immigration contractwas entered into, I am directed to report that the Committee are of opinion that the petitionersliave no claim against the colony

, „ , _ , Thomas Kelly,15th September, 1881. Chairman.

PETI T I O N
To the Honorable the House of Representatives, in Parliament assembled.

The htjmbie Petition of Alexandek Brogden, M.P., Henby Bbogden, and James Bbogden, of
the City of Westminsteb, in England.

Sjiowetii :—
Youn petitioners in June, 1871, after many months of previous negotiation with the HonorableJulius Vogel, at that time the Treasurer of the Colony of New Zealand, and then in England, executedin duplicate three instruments, dated respectively the 21st, the 22nd, and the 26th June, 1871 eachof which was expressed to be made between the then Governor of New Zealand, of the onepart andyour petitioners, of the other part. '

2. The first instrument expressed that the Governor would intrust to your petitioners, and thatthey would undertake, the construction of railways in New Zealand to the value of £4,500,000; thatthe Governor, besides paying your petitioners the cost of the railways to them, and a profit of 5 percent, thereon, would make to them grants of land at the rate of three-quarters of an acre for everypound sterling of cost of the railways, and one-fifth of which should be suitable for settlement, and forsettlersto takeimmediatepossession of; that theportions of the latterrequired for immigrants shouldbe granted as and when required ; that your petitioners wouldwithin ten years land in New Zealandten thousand approved European immigrants ; and that the Governor would also pay your petitionersthe sum of £1 per head per annum for ten years for all immigrants so landed.3. The second and third instrumentsrelated to the construction of railways, without anyreferenceto immigration ; neither of the three contracts referred to was, however, adopted by the House ofRepresentatives, and long negotiationsensued, which resulted in certain other contractsfor the com-pletion of various lines of railway in different parts of the colony being entered into between theGovernment and your petitioners, the subject of immigrationbeing altogether excluded from them.4. The negotiation with your petitioners relative to immigration, to which the present petitionrefers, was initiated by the Government, and pressed upon your petitioners. To a certain point it wascarried on in the colony between the Honorable the Minister for Immigration and your petitionerJames Brogden (who had come over to New Zealand with a large and experienced staff, at the special
request of the Honorable the ColonialTreasurer) ; but, being deemed by the latteran affair of too muchimportance to be undertaken without the concurrence of his partners, it was, in November, 1871relegated to the Agent-General for the colony in England, on the part of the Government, and'to the
partners of your petitioners' firm, resident in England, on behalf or the firm. (See Parliamentary
Papers, 1872, D. No. 1,pages 8, 9, and 10.) J

5 Oil receipt by the Agent-Generalof his despatchesfrom the colony on this subject, he openeda communication with your petitioners, Alexander and Henry Brogden, concerning it. Negotiations



I.—lA II

followed, and the result was that, on the faith of the assurances referred to below, an instrument
dated the 27th day of June, 1872, and expressed to be made between the Governor of New Zealand
by the Agent-General, of the one part, and your petitioners of the other part, was executed by the
Agent-Oeneral, on behalf of the Governor, and by your petitioners, by the hands of Alexander and
Henry Brogden. This instrument is fully set forth in the Parlimentary Paper, 1872, D. No. 19d, and
it purports that your petitioners will send out such a number, not exceeding 2,000 able-bodied
men, besides wives and children, as the Agent-General shall require ; that the Agent-General shall
cause them to be conveyed to the colony, and the Governor will make all payments in respect of their
conveyance ; that the Governor will deal with them on their arrival in as beneficial a manner as other
immigrants are received and dealt with on behalf of the Governor on arrival in the colony; that your
petitioners will repay the Governor £10 in respect of every such adult immigrant, to be secured,
with interest, by joint and several promissory notes of your petitioners in a given form, and with
liberty to the Governor to deduct the amount of any due notes from any moneys payable by him to
your petitioners in respect of anyrailway or other works executed by them ; and that your petitioners
might take from every adult immigrant a promissory note for a sum not exceeding £15 in payment
of their passage-moneys, the extra £5 being intended to cover risk of non-payment and expenses
of collection.

6. The scheme embodied in this instrument of the 27th June, 1872, was accepted by our
petitioners, Alexanderand Henry Brogden, entirely at the instance and upon the faith of the repre-
sentations of the Agent-General, who from timeto time communicated to them the urgent despatches
of the Government on the subject of the paramount necessity of a prompt and continuous flow
of from 8,000 to 10,000 immigrants into the colony (Parliamentary Paper, 1872, D. No. 1) and
earnestlypressed upon them the resumption and completion of the treaty which had begunbetween
the Minister in the colony and Mr. James Brogden. Acceding to the Agent-General's request, your
petitioners intimatedtheir willingness to assist the immigration schemes of the Government by some
arrangement which should neither yield them any profit nor expose them to any loss ; and they
suggested that they should keep account of the moneys expended and the repayments received from
immigrants, and that the accounts should be ultimately settled upon the terms of their beingrepaid
actual outlay In was in anticipation that such would be the basis of agreement between themselves
and the Government that your petitioners, before the execution of the document, the 27th June,
1872, sent out between 600 and 700 immigrants and their families. But the Agent-General
objected that there was no finality in such an agreement. At the same time, he vouched to
your petitioners, Alexanderand Henry Brogden, in the strongestpossible manner, and as from his own
actual personal experience, that the terms which were ultimately embodied in the document of June,
1872, wouldfully andeffectually indemnify them from all loss ; and they implicitly relying upon this
assurance (which to them was invested with all the weight attaching to the ex officio utterance ofa
Government authority), and confiding entirely in it, executedthe documentin question, and proceeded
to act upon it until, in the whole, they had despatched 1,290 able-bodied men, besides women and
children, to the colony

7 At the same time he also represented to them that the Government itself was dealingwith
immigrants on a similar footing of advancing the passage-moneys and taking promissory notes ; that it
was found a satisfactory course to the Government; that there were no difficulties in the way of
recovering and enforcing thesenotes ; that the law of arrest for debt prevailed in the colony and was
effectual; and that other immigrantswould be sent out by the Government upon very similar terms.
These representations were received by your petitioners as authentic, and contributed to induce them
to accept the deed of June, 1872, instead, of the basis they had themselves desired.

8. Immediately after the execution of the deed, the Government began taking out their own.
immigrants in the same vessels with those of your petitioners upon other and more favourable terms,
thus creating jealousy and discontenton the part of the later. They then proceeded to vary the terms
upon which they took out immigrants, and finally to grant entierely free passages to immigrants other
than those of your petitioners, and so raised the feeling of the latter from one of discontent to one of
accusation against your petitioners, whom they charged with defrauding them, and against whom every
device to avoid payment of their promissory notes was deemed legitimate. The Government after-
wards ceased to enforce the promissory notes of their own immigrants, thereby showing their estimate
of the value of securities which your petitioners had been so strongly assured by the Agent-Generalto
be effectual. A,t length every possible chance of recovery was extinguished by the repeal of the law
ofarrest for debt, yet ths Government claimed to remain creditor of your petitioners, after having itself
destroyed the security which, theAgent-General had assured them, was ample to protect themfrom
loss.

9. In this state of things, and in consequence of the losses sustained by your petitioners through
their endeavourto assist the immigration plans of the Government by the means provided in the deed
of June, 1872, Mr. James Brogden, in October, 1872, at an interview with the Hon. the Minister for
Immigration, claimed that the Government should relieve your petitioners from that deed. The claim
was further urged in a correspondencebetween the Minister and Mr. James Brogden in October and
November, 1872, andbetween the petitioners in England and the Agent-Generalon the 15th, 26th,
27th, and 28th May, the 12th June, and the 10th July, 1873. This correspondence is all set out
in extenso in the appendix to the report of the Committee hereinafter referred to (see the Parlia-
mentary Paper, 1873, 1.-5, pages 19 to 22). The letter of the petitioners to the Agent-Generalof
the 12th June, 1873,recapitulated the fact of the Government havingoriginated the negotiations which
resulted in the deed of June, 1872 ; the pressure put both by the Government and himselfupon themto
undertake it; their statements to the Agent-General at the time that they sought no profit, but
desired to make no loss ; the strong assurances of the Agent-General of the amplitude of the security
against loss, and upon thefaith of which assurance alone your petitioners entered into the deed; and
many of those subsequent measures of the Governmentto which the defalcations of the immigrants, in
spite of the assurances of the Agent-General, are to be traced.
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10. To the statements of that letter of the 12th June, 1873, no contradiction has ever been offered
by the Agent-General, either to your petitioners or to the Government; but they have for many years
been acquiesced in, and are, therefore, to be taken as proved.

11. In their letter of the 10th July, 1873, to the Agent-General,already referred to (1873,1.-5),
your petitioners showed that the amount in which their immigrants were indebted to them on promis-
sory notes for the agreed rate of passage, and for nearly £11,500 advanced for kits, outfits, and
sundries, was £39,874 13s. 9d. (including the extra £5 referred to in paragraph 5) ; and that, against
the item for passage-money, your petitioners had given to the Government their own promissory notes
for £18,240; and they proposed that they should be relieved from these latter promissory notes, and
should transfer to the Government those of the immigrants,to enable the Government to collect them,
and apply the moneys collected in reduction rateably of the passage-money and your petitioners'
advances.

12. Tour petitioners in August, 1873, presented a petition to the honorable the House of Kepre-
sentatives, praying inquiry into their case with a view to such relief as might be just. To that petition
they ask now to refer.

13. The petition was referred to the Public Works and Immigration Committee, who heard
evidence upon it, and made their report, dated the 24th September, 1873.

14. The report was to the effect that the petitioners prayed to be relievedfrom the loss to which
they alleged they had been subjected under their immigration contract with the Government; that the
Committee, having taken all the evidence that was available to them on the subject of the chums put
forward in the petition, were of opinion " that the statements in the said petition were not substan-
tiated;" that, " so far as they were able to judge," there was no good ground for such claim either in
law or in equity; and that the Committee were, further of opinion that, "in the absence of proof," it
would be a bad precedent to entertain claims founded upon vague allegations, and the admission of
which would do away with all finality in a system of public contracts underwritten engagements.

15. Upon the considerationof the report, the opinion of the House was clearly to the effect that
the Committee did not consider either the evidence submitted to them, or their decision, final and con-
clusive; and that the subject still lay open for further investigation. It further appears that the
Agent-General's despatch of the 10thJuly, 1873, hadbeen received, andwas, or might have been, before
the Committee. The early portion of this despatch is not printed, but your petitioners know that it
recommends the Government to agree to the proposal in their letter; your petitioners areconfirmed
in this statement by a reference to the Agent-General's despatch on the same subject, dated the sth
May, 1874, in which, while giving additional reasons for adopting the proposals of the petitioners, he
says, "In forwarding this letter, I can only refer the Government to my despatch of the LOth July,
1873, No. 502, in which I forwarded the proposals then made by the firm for an amicable settlementof
their claims, and recommended it to thefavourable consideration of the Government."

16. The conclusions reported by the Committee being therefore based oh the want of sufficient
evidence, the petitioners renewed the subject in a letter, dated the 25th March, 1874, addressed to the
Agent-General (see Parliamentary Papers, 1874,D.-3a),recalling to his attention their letters of the
12th June and 10thJuly 1873;—again setting forth the state of accounts with respect to expenditure
upon immigration ; reiterating the history of the deed of June, 1872, and of the representations and
assurances of the Agent-General which induced them to undertake it; and renewing their former
claim for relief.

17 In the letter of the 25th March, 1874, your petitioners also quoted a memorandum of the
Hon. E. Eichardson, Minister for Public Works, to the Cabinet (No. 66, Ist April, 1873), which
says, "The only thing which has kept the rates of labour from rising to rates ruinous to the various
interests in the colony has been the shipment of so much labour by Messrs. Brogden." In fact (as
the same letter states), out of the 1,299 able-bodied male immigrants introduced by your
petitioners, there remained working for their firm at that date only 76. That number
was afterwards reduced to 39, and ultimately to none. Practically, therefore, the whole number
sent overby your petitioners violated their engagements to them under a sense of the disadvantage
at which they were placed relatively to Government immigrants, and distributed themselves throughout
the colony, workingfor other employers, and producing that benefit to the colony at the expense of
your petitioners, which the Minister for Public Works has described in the above extracts.

18. Out of the 2,000 maleimmigrants and their families contemplated to be sent out by your peti-
tioners, 1,877 statuteadults, or 2,174 persons, were actually forwarded, and of these no less than 887,
or 41 per cent., were women and children—a class much more valuable to the colony than to your
petitioners. The changes in the terms of forwarding the immigrants by the Government occurred
during the same period as your petitioners were so occupied, and continued after they finished, but the
effect of the changes was really felt after the arrival of the immigrants in the colony, and when the
time came for collecting the moneys for them.

]9. It cannot be contended that your petitioners were reimbursed for loss under the immigration
agreement by any allowance in the prices of their contract works; in confirmation thereofyour peti-
tioners refer to the answers made by the Engineer-in-Chief, Mr. Carruthers, before the Committeeof
the House.

20. In the year 1875 the Government retained out of the moneys due to your petitioners under
their railway contracts the sum of £20,739 15s. 10d., and applied the same in payment of the passage-
moneys of the immigrants and interest thereon.

21. Tour petitioners cannot, and feel it was not intended that they should, accept the resolution
of 1873 as a final decision. The Government, in their various immigration arrangements, have not
charged to other immigrants more than £5 cash for the passage-money of each adult; and, where
promissory notes for £10 or other sums have been given by immigrants (as an alternativefor cash),
the Government have not recovered the moneys under them to any appreciable extent, and have
ceased to prosecute their claims. Finally, the principle of free immigration was adopted; but, on the
other hand, your petitioners have been charged and made to pay £10 cash for ea<-h statute adult,
amounting to upwards of £18,240, while the varying and more favourable terms granted to other imini-
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grants since your petitioners executedthe deed of June, 1872, have been amongst the principal causes
of their disappointment and loss.

Tour petitioners therefore humbly pray your honorable House that the case made by your
petitioners in this petition may be considered by your honorable House, and that your honorable
House may recommend that your petitioners may be compensated for the loss they have sustained in
connection with the contract of the 27th June, 1872, or that such other relief be granted to your
petitioners as your honorable House may in the circumstances deem just and proper.

Alexander Bkooden.
Henry Brogden,

(By his Attorney, AlexanderBrogden.)
James Bhogden,

(By his Attorney, Alexander Brogden.)
Wellington, New Zealand, 20th June, 1881.

MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS.
Wednesday, 6th July, 1881.

Present': Mr. Allwright, Mr. Kelly (Chairman), Captain Kenny, Mr. Murray, Hon. Mr. Eiehard-
son, C.M.G., Mr Swanson, Mr. Turnbull.

The minutes of the previous meeting were read and confirmed.
Petition from Messrs. Brogden, claiming compensation for loss sustained under the immigration

contract dated 27th June, 1872, wasread.
Mr. Travers attended as counsel for the petitioners, and Mr. Bell for the Government.
Mr. Travers opened the petitioners' case.
The Committeethen adjourned, having agreed to resume this case on Friday next, the Bth July,

1881.

Feiday, Bth July, 1881.
Present: Mr. Allwright, Mr. Andrews, Mr. Barron, Hon. Mr. Dick, Mr. Kelly (Chairman),

Captain Kenny, Mr. Murray, Hon, Mr. Eichardson, C.M.G-., Mr. Swanson, Mr. Turnbull.
The minutes of the previous meeting were read and confirmed.
Mr. Travers and Mr. Bell were present.
Mr. A. Brogden, M.P., attended, and was under examination.
The Committee adjourned, after agreeing to take this case again on Wednesday next, the 13th

July, 1881.

Wednesday, 13tu July, 1881.
Present: Mr. Allwright, Mr. Barron, Hon. Mr. Dick, Mr. Kelly (Chairman), Captain Kenny, Mr.

Murray, Hon. Mr. Eichardson, C.M.G., Mr. Turnbull.
The minutes of the previous meeting were read aad confirmed.
Mr. Travers and Mr. Bell were in attendance.
Mr. Brogden's examination continued.
Mr. Bell asked to be excused attending on Friday
The Committee then adjourned, having agreed to resume this case on Friday next, the 15th July,

1881.

Friday, 15th July, 1881.
Present: Mr. Allwright, Mr. Barron, Hon. Mr. Dick, Mr. Kelly (Chairman), Captain Kenny,

Mr. Murray, Hon. Mr. Eichardson, C.M.G-., Mr. Swanson, Mr. Turnbull.
The minutes of the previous meeting were read and confirmed.
Mr. Brogden's examination completed.
The Committee then adjourned, having agreed to take this case on Wednesday next, the 20th

July, 18S1.

"Wednesday, 20tii July, 1881.
Present: Mr. Allwright, Mr. Barren, Mr. Kelly (Chairman), Captain Kenny, Mr. Murray, Hon.

Mr. Richardson, C.M.G., Mr. Swanson,Mr. Turnbull.
The minutes of the previous meeting were read and confirmed.
Mr. Cave and Mr. Bell were present.
Mr. J Lawson attended and gave evidence.
Mr. J Billing attended and gave evidence.
E. Summers,E. Hibberd, and W Thacker (immigrants introduced by Messrs. Brogden) attended

and gave evidence.
The Committee then adjourned, having agreed to take this case on Wednesday next, the 27th

July, 1881.

Wednesday, 27th July, 1881.
Present: Mr. Allwright, Mr. Barren, Hon. Mr. Dick, Mr. Kelly (Chairman), Captain Kenny,

Mr. Murray, Hon. Mr. liichardson, C.M.G., Mr. Turnbull.
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The minutes of the previous meeting were read and confirmed.
Hon. Mr. Hall, Hon. Mr. Gisborne, Hon. Mr. Waterhouae, and Sir Maurice O'Eorke aUeuded

and gave evidence.
The Committee then adjourned, having agreed to take this case on Thursday, the 4th August,

1881.

Thtjesday, 4th August, 1881.
Present: Mr. Barron, Hon. Mr. Dick, Mr. Kelly (Chairman), Captain Kenny, Mr. Murray, Hon.

Mr. Eichardson, C.M.G-., Mr. Turnbull.
The minutes of theprevious meeting wereread and confirmed.
Mr. BbII stated the case for the Government.
Hon. Mr. Eichardson, C.M.G., was examined.
The Committee then adjourned, having agreed to resume the case after theevidence was in print

and in the hands of the Committee.

Fbidat, 9th Septembeb, 1881.
The Committeemet pursuant to notice.
Present: Mr. Allwright, Mr. Barron, Hon. Mr. Dick, Mr. Kelly (Chairman), Captain Kenny,

Mr. Murray, Hon. Mr. Richardson, CM.6., Mr. Turnbull.
The minutesof the previous meeting wereread and confirmed.
Printed copies of the evidenceand appendix were distributed'to each member of the Committee.
Resolved, That matters referring to immigration in the letters put in by thepetitioners bo printed

in the Appendix to Evidence, and that letter No. 15 from James Brogden to Messrs. Brogden, of the
25th November, 1871, be insertedin full.

The Committee proceeded to consider petitioners' claim.
Moved by Mr. Turnbull, That relief be granted to Messrs. Brogden in respect of their emigration

contract, so as to put the charges for passages on the same footing as other immigrants have been
chargedwho paid cash, viz.:—

1877 emigrants, at £5 .. .. .. .. £9,385
Interest at G per cent. ... .. ... 1,245

£10,630
Less—Recoveries ... .. ... .. £1,043

600 men. at £5 .. ~ 3,000
Interest ... .. 620

4,G60

£5,074
One-third transhipment charges .. 256

£6,230

Mr. Barron moved, by way of amendment, That all the words after " that ' be omitted, for the
purposeof inserting the following words, namely, " the Committee are of opinion the petitioners have
no claim against the colony "

The question was put that the words proposed to be omitted stand part of the question.
The Chairman declared the " Noes" had it. A division being calledfor, the Committee divided: —
Ayes, 1.—Mr. Turnbull.
Noes, 6.—Mr. Allwright, Mr. Barron, Hon. Mr. Dick, Captain Kenny, Mr. Murray, Hon. Mr.

Richardson, C.M.G-.
The words were therefore omitted.
The question was then put, That the following words be inaerted, " The Committee are of opinion

thepetitioners have no claim against the colony."
The Chairman declared the Ayes had it. A division being called for, the Committee divided:—
Ayes, 6.—Mr. Allwright, Mr. Barron, Hon. Mr. Dick, Captain Kenny, Mr. Murray, Hon. Mr.

Eichardson, C.M.G.
Noes, I.—Mr. Turnbull.
The words were therefore inserted.
The question was then put, That the motion as amended be agreed to, namely, " That the Com-

mittee are of opinion the petitioners have no claim against the colony "
Which was carried in the affirmative.
The Committee then adjourned.

Wednesday, 14th Septicmbee, 1881.
Present: Mr. Allwright, Mr. Andrews, Mr. Barron, Hon. Mr. Dick, Mr. Kelly (Chairman), Mr

Murray, Mr. Turnbull.
Resolved, That the Chairman be directed to report the resolution and evidence on the petition of

Messrs. Brogden to the House.

ii—l. la.
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MINUTES OF EVIDENCE.

Wednesday, 6th July, 1881,

No. 67.—Petition of Alexander Brogden and Others.
Messrs. W T L. Travers, and 0. W Cave, appeared to conduct the proceedings on behalf of the

petitioners, and Mr. H. D. Bell was present on behalf of the Government of New Zealand.
The Chairman: The Committee have decidedto hear the counsel for the petitioners in this case,

and also to take the evidence of any witnesses whom he may desire to call in support of their peti-
tion. Mr. Travers may therefore make a statement if he wishes to do so.

Mr. Travers : I appear on behalf of the Messrs. Brogden, in support of the petition which they
have presented to the House of Representatives, and which has been referred to this Committee.
Before calling your attention to the evidence which the petitioners propose to adduce, I may, per-
haps, be permitted to refer to circumstances which occurred both anterior and subsequent to the
immigration arrangements which have resulted in this proceeding. After Sir Julius Vogel had pro-
posed his scheme of public works to the Parliament of the colony, and after it had been adopted,
he proceeded to England—presumably with the view of ascertaining in what manner it could best
be carried into effect. Whilst there, he entered into communicationswith the Messrs. Brogden ; the
result being that certain contracts were enteredinto, dependent, however, upon theirratificationby the
General Assembly But Messrs. Brogden, taking Sir JuliusVogel's official position intoconsideration,and
naturally conceiving that any arrangementwhich he had made would be agreedto by his colleagues and
ratifiedby the Legislature at once, at his suggestion, sent out a staffof engineers and other skilled persons,
and invested money in plant, and, in fact, did in other respects what wouldbe uecessary to start a large
scheme of public works. Mr. James Brogden, one of the members of the firm of Brogden and Sons,
came out to the colony in 1871, only to find that Parliament, advised by the Government of which
Mr. Vogel was the leading member, had not thought fit to ratify either of the contracts which had been
made with them. The Assembly, however, feeling that this involved an injustice, determined to give
Messrs. Brogden the construction of works to the value of £1,000,000. The specific contracts for these
works werenot entered into until August, 1872; but, in the meantime, some works werebeing carried
on at Auckland under a provisional arrangement. Shortly after the arrival of Mr. James Brogden,
negotiations were opened by the Government with him with reference to a scheme of immigration.
There is one thing which I wish to call theattention of the Committee to particularly, at thispoint, and
that is, that this immigration matter had no connectionwhatever with the arrangements for the con-
struction of railways. The one thing was entirely independent of the other. The contracts were
entirely separate. It is important to bear this in mind, because it was suggested on a former occasion,
that, in the contracts for works, some allowance had been made for possible losses in connection with
the immigration contract. In effect, we wish the Committee to understand that we treat this matter
as entirely dissociated from the contracts for works entered into, whether then, in 1872, or with
any other subsequent contracts. Now, this question of immigration was intimately associated with the
Public Works scheme, for it was felt that any attempt to carry out that scheme would be attendedwith
serious effects, resulting from the certain disturbance of the labor market, unless provision was made
to meet this by means of emigration. Indeed, at that time, the colony was not in such a state as to
warrant the construction of the class of works proposed, without providing simultaneously for the
immigration of people in large numbers. I intend to put in, as evidencein this case, all thepapers and
documents bearing on the subject of the petition ; but I propose to call the attention of the Committee
specifically only to those parts of the documents which have the most direct bearing on the case of the
petitioners. I will, in the first place, call the attention of the Committee to certain passages in the
correspondence, which took place between members of the Government and others at the time when
the Public Works scheme was in what may be called its "fullest swing." The Hon. Mr. Gisborne
(who was then a member of the Government), in a memorandum dated the 25th November, 1871,
refers to the necessity of immigration in connection with the carrying out of public works, as
follows:—

Ineed not inform you that the public works which it is intended to construct will absorb, beyond the ordinary labour
of the colony, a large amount of imported labour for a considerable period ; and very serious inconvenience to existing
industries, not to mention great additional expense in carrying out the proposed works, would be occasioned, if for some
time the c was not a continuous flow of labour into the colony. You may deduct from the number stated in
the attached list those immigrants whom you have, since your arrival in England, sent out or engaged to serfd,under the
regulations already in your possession. The number stated in the list is to be independentof the immigrants to be sent
out under arrangements with Messrs. John Brogden and Sons, particulars as to which will be separately addressed to
you, and that number also to be independentof those whom you may send out under nomination by persons already in
the colony.

The Minister then goes on to state how many immigrants he wishes to arrive in thecolony in the
year 1872, and he says: " Half of that number I desire that you will cause to be forwarded with the
least possible delay You may deduct from the number stated in the attached list those immigrants
whom you have, since your arrival in England, sent out, or engaged to send, under the regulations
already in your possession. The number stated in the list is to be independentof the immigrants to be
sent out under arrangementswith Messrs. John Brogden and Sons, particulars as to which will be
separately addressed to you, and that number also to be independentof those whom you may send out
under nomination by persons already in the colony " Youwill see by this that the Minister requires
that no fewer than 8,000 statute adults shall be brought out to thecolony, exclusive both of nominated

I—l. IA.
f



I.—lA

emigrants and of those who might be brought out by Messrs. Brogden. Again, on the 23rd December,
1871, in a memorandumto the Agent-General, Mr. Gisborne Says:—"The memoranda which have been addressed to you by previous mails will have informed you of the desire of
the Government that emigration to New Zealand should be prosecuted witli the utmost vigour, and they hope shortly to
learn that you have been equally successful in making arrangements for the introduction of a large and continuous flow of
emigrants from the United Kingdom. The necessity of this immigration, always imperative as a part of the general policy
of the Government, is now still more so in consequence of the arrangement entered into with Messrs. Brogden and Sons for
the immediate commencement of several of the railways authorized last session, and the intention of the Government to
submit others to public competition as early as they can safely do so without deranging tho labour-market. To this end
you have already been left free to make such terms as to passage as shall in your judgment be sufficient to insure
that supply of labour which the Government have indicated, and they confidently rely on yourusing everyexertion tocarry
out the spirit of the instructions on this subject which have been from time to time communicated to you.

There is, as the Committee will observe, a remarkable passage in that memorandum, to which I
would specially invite their attention, and that is, that the Agent-General was left absolutely free to
make such terms withregard to passages, &c, as he thought fit, in order thereby to insure the sending
out of thevery large numberof immigrants that the Government required. On the 20th January, 1872,
Mr. Gisborne wrote to the Agent-General as follows: "Of theregulations issued in reference to nomi-
nated immigration,or that immigration which originates in the colony, I enclose a copy; but, as you are
already aware, the Government have for the present, in the absence of theinformation necessary to guide
them, devolved upon you the initiationof a uniform system of assisted immigration, or that immigra-
tion which originates in Europe." That also shows that the Government of the day found it necessary
to give the Agent-Generalthe largest powers, so far as the cost of bringing out the immigrantswas
concerned. Very soon after the arrival of Mr. James Brogden in the colony, 1 think in October, 1871,
the Government urged Mr. James Brogden to arrange with them for carrying on a scheme of
immigration ; but, although a draft agreement was prepared, the arrangements were never concluded,
as Mr. James Brogden thought it a matter which should be referred to his firm at Home. Whatever
might have been the reasons which actuated him in breaking off negotiations, they were broken off,
and the matter was remitted to England. In his memorandum of the Bth February, 1872, the Agent-
General says :—

Ihave the honor to acknowledgereceipt ofmemorandum No. 56, of the 25th November, 1871,relative to tho contract
which it was thought the Government would be able to arrange with Messrs. John Brogden and Sons, for sending to
New Zealand a certain number of emigrants, but which cont act (a copy of which I have received) has not been arranged.
You request me, in consequence, to endeavour tocome to 6ome arrangement with the members of the firm in London. In
reply, I beg to inform you that, in the interview of a few minutes which I had two days ago with the Messrs. Brogden, they
expressed their readiness to discuss the matter at an early date; they left, however, an impression on my mind that they
were not disposed to enterinto any emigration contract. At the same time, lam satisfied that theycould and would afford
valuable aid in procuring emigrants.

I may^here state, parenthetically, that the petitioners wish it to be understood that they donot
impute wilful misrepresentation to any member of the Government, or any of their officers, in con-
nection with this matter. They do not pretend to say that any information was wilfully kept from
them with any intentionto deceive them. On the 7th March, the Agent-General sends out a memo-
randum to thefollowing effect:—■

I havethe honor to inform you that, although I have had several interviews with the Messrs. Brogden, on the subject
of the proposedemigration contract, I 'have not yet arrived at any definite understanding with them. Messrs. Brogden
are, in fact—owing to the non-arrival of the December mail—so entirely without advices from Mr. James Brogden, that
they scarcely feel themselves in a position to enter into any arrangement. I have, however, reason to believe that on the
arrival of the mail they will be prepared to agree to the proposals submitted to Mr. James Brogden, with certain modi-
fications. In the meantime they are engaging a considerable number of men, on terms which appear to me fair and reason-
able. They hope to send out 150 by the "Sohiehallion,"which will sail for Wellington on the 27th instant.

It will be observed that, although no definite arrangement had been come to, the Messrs. Brogden
had agreed to commence sending out emigrants, upon the general terms that theyshould neither be
gainers nor losers by so doing. That is to say, they were to make no profit out of the transaction, nor
were they to sustain any loss. It was distinctly understood that the Messrs. Brogden were not to
suffer any loss ; and they wore expected to make no profit by the transaction. In a letter dated4th
April, 1872, to Mr. James Brogden, from his firm in England; they say : —

Mr. Noble has written to you about our efforts and success in this matter. Iwill confine myself to state tho
position of the negotiations. After receiving the copy of the agreement which it was proposedyou should enter into, we
discussed the question several times with Dr. I^eatherston,and, as I mentioned in my last letter, he proposed that tho
Government should pay the passage, and we repay them by instalments, less 25 per cent, to cover loss, which the
Government would bear. We have proposed and arranged verbally with the Agent-General that we act upon these terms,
keeping a strict ledger account of the cost actually incurred in the emigration ; and we will see how the account rectifies
itself by the repayments recovered from the men's promissory notes ; and, if any modification of the arrangement is applied
for, it must be justifiedby a reference to the accounts, the intention being that we are to be reimbursed the cost, but not to
make profit or suffer loss by it.

This sufficiently shows that the petitioners entered into the matter on the understanding thatthey
were not to make any profit or sustain any loss. On the 18th April, the Agent-General informs the
Hon. Mr. Gisborne of the sailing of the first ship (the " Schiehallion "), sent by Messrs. Brogden, with
emigrants for New Zealand. At that time the Messrs. Brogden were not engaged in carrying out
works under definite authority, and, therefore, had not the same opportunity of employing the immi-
grants that they had after the contracts were entered into in August, 1872. On 2nd May, 1872, the
Agent-General notifies that an arrangement has been made, and that he hoped to be able to send
particulars by the next mail. On the 6th June, 1872, Mr. Ormond, then a Minister,wrote a memo-
randum to the Agent-General as follows :—-

Referring to the arrangement proposed by the Government to Mr. James Brogden, in Wellington, as fully advised in
the memorandum of 25th November, No. 66-71, and to your letter of the 2nd May, No. 256-72, reporting the arrangement
you had effected with Messrs. Brogden and Sons, in London, I am informed that in consequence of neither of them being
satisfactory to Mr. James Brogden, that gentleman has resolved to telegraph to his firm by this opportunity, that the exist-
ing agreement is so unfavourable,as compared with the arrangement with which each emigrant might make for himself
under the Home regulations, that it cannot be continued, and that he has not now time for a fresh arrangement with the
Government before the departureof the present mail.

It must be remembered that at that time Mr. James Brogden had been in the colony for seven or
eight months, and, consequently had become acquainted with the fact that considerable difficultywas

2
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experienced in getting in the money for the promissory notes, which had been givenby the immigrants
brought to thecolony both by the General and theProvincial Governments. He had always been led to
believe, however, by his advices from England, that the arrangement with his firm would be on the
basis that while his firm was not supposed to make any profit, it was not to sustain any loss. No
sooner, therefore, had he become acquainted with the terms of the agreementof June, 1872,than he at
once communicated to the Government his disapproval of it, and remonstrated against it. It was
impossihle, of course,for Mr. James Brogden to have caused any alteration in the arrangements made
by his firm in London, because he was off his guard, andknew nothing of the nature of the arrange-
ments until they had been completed ; but, when once aware of them, he at once communicated to the
Government and to his firm in England his disapproval of them, and intimated to the former his
feeling that his firm ought to be relieved from them. The fact is that the agreement was one of an
oppressive character, as far as Messrs. Brogden wei'e concerned. They felt that they had considerable
groundsfor dissatisfaction, and brought this under thenotice of the Government; and the Government
seemed to think that the best course they could adopt would be to refer the matter to the Agent-
General, in order that he might advise them. Accordingly, in the year 1872, the Hon. Mr. Water-
house, in the absence of the Minister for Immigration, forwarded to theAgent-General the following
letter :—

Herewith are forwarded for your information copies of a correspondence that lias passedbetween the Messrs. Brogden
and the Government,with reference to their immigration contract of the 27th June, 1872. The Government have invited
tlie Messrs. Brogden to place themselves in immediate communication with you, and have promised to favorably consider
any suggestion or recommendation you may make on the subject.

The correspondence which was enclosed with that letter consisted of three letters, two of which
are from Mr. James Brogden to Ministers, and one from Ministers to Mr. James Brogden. The first
is written by Mr. James Brogden, and is dated 28th October, 1872. It is as follows:—

Having reference to our conversation on Saturday last, I have now the honor to submit in writing the proposition
which I then made. It is that the Government should at once relieve my firm of all further obligations (if any) under the
contract of 27th June, 1872, and that the Government should repay to us all actual outlayincurred by us in connection
with that contract, we indorsing to the Government the promissory notes given to us by theimmigrants, and undertaking to
aid the Government as far as we can in recovering the amounts payable under those notes. I need not repeat in writing
the reasons which I urged why the Government should adopt this course. Should the Government consent to it, I shall be
willing, on the part of my firm, to enter into arrangements with the Government for obtaining emigrants in England ; but
I think it inexpedient to propose terms for that service, which had perhaps better be discussed after the Government
have signified their determination in regard to the matter in the former part of this letter. This letter is, of course,
"without prejudice.

Had the Government acted in accordance with the suggestions made in that letter they wouldhave
suffered no loss, and the Messrs. Brogden would not have been in the position they are now in. Fur-
ther on, Sir G M. O'Eorke, as Minister for Immigration, wrote as follows :—Ihave the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the 28th ultimo, in which you propose that the Govern-
ment should at once relieve your firm of all further obligations (if any) under the immigration contract of 27th June, 1872,
and that you Bhould be repaid the actual outlay incurred in connection with that contract; the promissory notes given by
the immigrants being indorsed to the Government, and yourfirm undertaking to assist in recovering the sums due undo!"
those promissory notes. In reply, I have to express to you the regret of the Government that, after the gravest considera-
tion, they find themselves unable to meet your views so far as to relieve the firm from their liabilities in connection with
the conduct of immigration under the agreement referred to; but I may state that, so far as regards modification in the
terms of the contract, as i espects future operations,favourable consideration will be given to any suggestion or recom-
mendation which may be made by the Agent-General, with whom, upon the subject, your firm are invited to place them-
selves in immediate communication.

On 4th November, 1872, after receiving the letter from Sir G. M. O'Eorke, Mr. James Brogden
addressed thefollowing further letterto the Minister for Immigration:—

Having reference to our recent correspondencerespecting the immigration arrangements of the 27th June, 1872, I
desire especially to put upon record one of the grounds upon which I, at several interviews, urged the Government to
relieve my firm from their obligations (if any) under it—namely, that it places the immigrants in a far worse pecuniary
position than those who are introduced under the ordinary Immigration Regulations of the Government, while it also places
my firm in the invidious position of endeavouring to enforce, upon such of them as we may be desirous of employing,
conditions more unfavourable than those under which we can employ other persons of the same classes. This letter must,
however, not be treated as any recognition on my part of any obligation under the arrangement above referred to.

The Hon. Mr. Waterhouse, on the same date, refers in very strong terms to the fact that a far less
number of immigrants had arrived than had been arranged for. ]n the memorandum No. 19, of the
year 1872, the Hon. Mr. Waterhouse says:—

As regards the supply of immigrants generally, the Government cannot avoida feeling of apprehension,almost amount-
ing to certainty, that the number which it was desired should be introduced in course of 1872 will not arrive within the
specified time. Under date, 25th November, 1871, instructions were given for the introduction within the year 1872 of
8,000 immigrants, exclusive of noiniuaed immigrants and of those to be introduced by Messrs. Brogden. Although so near
the termination of the year, only 3,116^ statute ndults have arrived,and we have advices ofonly 469 more being on the way
out—making a total of 3,585* statute adults. But of these 958| are nominated immigrants and Brogden's people, leaving
a balance of only 2,627 immigrants as against 8,000 ordered. Doubtless, this number will be increased by the arrival of
one or more of the vessels to sail after the dale of the last advices. There seems, therefore, no possibility that the number
of immigrants arriving in the course ofthe present year will be at all equal to the number which were considered requisite,
for the forwarding of which instructions were given under the date quoted.

On 21st December, 1872, Messrs. Brogden addressed a letter to the Agent-General, as follows:—
In fulfilment of the letter of our agreement with you relative to New Zealand emigrants, we have the honor to hand

you our promissory notes for passage-money disbursed by you to the 19th November, 1872. But while we thus unreservedly
fulfil the letter of the agreement, we have to represent to you that we are likely to sustain very great loss in the transaction.
Our agents in New Zealand inform us that great numbers of the men whose passage-money we thus secure deserted on
arrival in port, and itwill be extremelydifficult,even if at all possible, for us to recover from them our advances for passage-
moneys and kits. Nothing is included in our prices for works to cover that contingency. Not only, then, is our object for
securing men for the execution of our works defeated, but our expenditure is thrown away and becomes dead loss ; while
the New Zealand Government, whose object is immigration, for all purposes, secures the distribution of a number of able-
bodied men through the colony at our expense. Under these circumstances, and seeing that, in accepting your form of
agreement we relied mainly upon your long experience,and on your opinion that the margin between the amount to be paid
by us and the amount charged to the emigrants would amply protect us from any loss, we trust to your supporting any
representations we may have to make to the Government hereafter, by way of appeal to them, to make allowance to us for
any losses we may ultimately sustain by the transaction.

With that letter, as will be observed, the Messrs. Brogden handed over the promissory notes
referred to in the petition. By the terms of the contracts for works, there was power given to the
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Government to deduct from any moneys they had to pay to Messrs. Brogden the sums due on their
promissory notes. After they had sent that letter, Messrs. Brogden did not send out any more
emigrants. But Messrs. Brogden gave the promissory notes under protest, and with the view of
inducing the Government to recommend that they should not be enforced. As I have already said, the
petitioners do not wish to impute anything like wilful misrepresentation to any memberof the Govern-
ment; but, at the same time, they allege that there was misrepresentation, and that they suffered loss
in consequence. I will repeat that, they were acting throughout on the supposition that they should
neither make any profit nor sustain any loss out of this emigrationmatter. It will be remembered that
Messrs. Brogden not only paid thepassage-moneyof the immigrants, but also advanced money for the
purchase of their kits. However, they do not claim anything from the Government on that account—they simply ask the Committee to take the fact into consideration. There is a further point on which
the petitioners do not think the Government have acted fairly, and that is, that they have declined to
furnish them (the petitioners) with the copy of a document which would, or might, have the effect of
inducing the Committee to report in favour of the petitioners. It appears that the Agent-General did
consider the matters submitted to him by the Government; and*it appears, also, that he forwarded to
the Government some recommendation; but that recommendation was not brought before the last
Committee, nor has it been open to us. The recommendationI refer to is contained in a letterwritten
by the Agent-General to the Government on 10th July, 1873. We now ask the Committee to procure
a copy of that letter. On Bth April last,an application was made to the Government for acopy of that
letter. The application was as follows :—
SIE,— Wellington, Bth April, 1881.

We have the honor to request to be furnished with a copy of a letter from the late Agent-General (Dr.
Featherston) to the Government, dated 10th July, 1873. That letter related to our immigration agreement with the
Government,and was read over to us in London. We wish to refer to it, aud now ask for a copy to insure accuracy.

We have,&c.,
The Hon. the Minister for Immigration, Wellington. John Bbooden and Sons.
To this letter the Government sent the following reply : —

Gentlemen,— Immigration Office,Wellington, 20th April, 1881.
I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your letterof the Bth instant, applying for a copy of a letter which

■was written to the Government by the late Dr. Feather.-ton,as Agent-General for the colony in London, on the 10th July,
1873. And in reply to inform you that, as litigation is pending between your firm and the Government,the Cabinet does
not feel justified in supplying youwith a copy of the letter in question.

I have, &c,
W Boleeston,

Messrs. J Brogden and Sons, Wellington. Minister for Immigration.
I wish now shortly to call the attention of the Committee to the circumstances under which

immigration was carried on in those days. It is clear that Government thought it advisable to leave
all arrangements financial and otherwise in connection with immigration to the Agent-General, the
principal object of the Government being to get out as many persons as possible. Inproof of this I
could quote several statements of Ministers and others.

I will give you one. On the Ist April, 1873, the Hon. Mr. Richardson (who was always very
careful in expressing an opinion on any of these subjects) says, in a memorandum:—In the despatchesto be senthome to the Agent-Generalby the outgoing mail, I think it is absolutely necessary that the
Agent-General's attention should be specially directed to the present state of the labour-market in New Zealand, and that
he be informed that, with the full expectationthat the number of emigrants which he has been instructed to send out will
be forwarded during the coming season, the Government have entered into contracts which will provide employment for
these immigrants, and that he be instructed, by return mail, to inform the Government whether he will be able to send
out anything approaching the number asked for, as, if not, it will be necessary, by the time the Agent-General's replies
arrive, to take steps, by retarding the works or otherwise, toprevent theserious disturbance of the labour-market, which will
inevitably occur in the colony during next summer, when the shearing and farming season comes round. The only thing
which has kept the rates of labour from rising to rates ruinous to the various interests in the colony, during the season just
ended, hasbeen the shipment of so much labour by Messrs Brogden ; and, as it appears that they have ceased sending men
out (at least for the present), it is all the more necessary for the due carrying outof the public works that the emigrants
ordered should be sent out, and imperatively necessary that the Government be reliably informed at the earliest possible
date of the capability cr otherwise of the Agent-General to comply with their instructions.

The fact is, that at that time, the Public Works scheme being full swing, it was considered desirable
that as many immigrants as possible should be introduced into the colony But, in comparison with
the immigrants sent outby the Agent-General, those who weresent out by the Messrs. Brogden were
placed under a great disadvantage, because they were compelled to pay £5 or £6 more for their
passage-money, and when they arrived here they stood no better chance of obtaining employment,
for the simple reason that there was abundance of employment for everybody Amongst other things,
in this connection, which caused loss to the petitioners, was the carriage of the immigrantsfrom one
port to another, or, in other words, from the place where they were lauded to the places where they
were wanted. I shall not detain the Committee any longer, but merely repeat that the petitioners
consider that they have a fair claim upon the colony for the loss they have sustained, and at the next
meeting I will bring forward evidence in support of that claim.

Bth July, 1881.
Messrs. W T. L. Travers and 0. W Cave appeared on behalf of the petitioners, and Mr. H. D.

Bell for the Government.
Mr. Alexander Bbogden, examined.

1. Mr. Travers.'] Youare a partner in the firm of John Brogden and Sons?—Tes.
2. And, on behalf of your firm, you have prepared and presented the petitionwhich is now before

this Committee to the House of Representatives ?—Yes.
3. You have acted in this matter with the sanction of your partners ?—Yes.
4. The first threeclauses in thepetition relate to provisional contractsentered into with Sir Julius

Vogel in connection with railway works ?—-Yes.
5. When ?—ln the year 1871 we were authorized to construct works to the value of £4,000,000.
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6. Are the contents of the first two paragraphs correct, in substance ?—Yes.
7 Mr. James Brogden is one of your partners ?—Yes.
8. And he followed Sir Julius Vogel to thiscolony in 1871?—He did. He arrived in New Zea-

land in October, 1871
9. A_nd he found that the House of Representatives declined to give effect to the arrangements

which had been made by Sir Julius Vogel?—sTes ; the House of Representatives would not agree to
carry out the arrangements which had been made with Sir Julius Vogel.

10. The arrangement made in December, 1871, was a suspensory one?—It was.
11. I believe you have been informed by your brother, Mr. James Brogden,by correspondence and

otherwise, that shortly after his arrival in this colony the Government opened negotiations with him
with regard to immigration?—Yes. I was informed also by the Agent-General, Dr. Featherston, that
some arrangement had nearly been come to with regard to immigration between the Minister for
Immigration and Mr. James Brogden.

12. And that was confirmed by the Agent-General's letter to the Colonial Secretary of New
Zealand, which letter is dated Bth February 1872 ["I have the honor to acknowledge receipt of
memorandum No. 56, of 25th November, 1871, relative to the contract which it was thought the
Government would be able to arrange with Messrs. John Brogden and Sons, for sending to New Zea-
landa certain number of emigrants, but which contract (a copy of which I have received) has not been
arranged. You request me, in consequence, to endeavour to come to some arrangement with the
members of the firm in London. Inreply, I beg to inform you that in the interview of a few minutes
which I had two days ago with the Messrs. Brogden, they expressed their readiness to discuss the
matter at an early date: they left, however, an impression on my mind that they were not disposed to
enter into any emigration contract. At the same time lam satisfied that they could and would afford
valuable aid in procuring emigrants."] ?—Yes.

13. Is it a fact that immediately after that negotiations were opened by the Agent-Generalwith
your firm inLondon ?—Yes ; theAgent-Generalinformed me that the negotiationswhich had been going
on in New Zealand had been transferred to England, to be conducted there by him and my firm.
A draft agreement was enclosed in the letter of the Minister to him. It is published in the Blue-
book, D.-l, of 1872,page 11. That is the draft agreement which was subsequently brought under
my notice. The Agent-General at the same time showed me the despatch of 25th November, 1871.
The letters are Nos. 7 and 8 of D.-l, 1872, pages 8 and 10.

14. Youhad interviews with Dr. Featherston in December, 1871?—-Yes, we had frequent inter-
views, because we were both ignorant as to the arrangements which had been made with regard to the
railway contracts.

15. And you had some brief interviews with regard to the immigration contracts?—Yes, in a
letter dated Bth February, 1872, Dr. Featherston says : "In the interview of a few minutes, ' &c. [See
letter printed in Question No. 12.]

16. And prior to 7th March you had a number of interviews with Dr. Featherston ?—Yes, I had
several interviews with him, but I cannot rememberhow many

17 In a letter to the Colonial Secretary dated 7th March, 1872,the Agent-General says: "I have
thehonor to inform you that, although I have had several interviews with the Messrs. Brogden on the
subject of the proposed emigration contract, I have not yet arrived at any definite understandingwith
them. Messrs. Brogden are, in fact—owing to the non-arrival of the December mail—so entirely
without advices from Mr. James Brogden, that they scarcely feel themselves in a position to enter into
any arrangement. I have, however, reason to believe that on the arrival of the mail they will be
prepared to agree to the proposals submitted to Mr. JamesBrogden, with certain modifications. In
the meantime they are engaging a considerable number of men on terms which appear to me fair and
reasonable. They hope to send out 150 by the ' Schiehallion,' which will sail for Wellington on the
27th instant."—Yes; and I may say that by that mail we got no letters bearing on the subject from
Mr. James Brogden, Wellington; but at that time we were commencing to engage men although no
arrangement had been made, but upon the faith of our coming to some arrangement eventually It is
quite evident, from the despatches which were sent to Dr. Featherston, that immigration into the
colony was not progressing as satisfactorily as was desired by the Government; consequently we gave
assistance to him in selecting immigrantsfor the colony.

18. Dr. Featherston, in his letter, says: "In the meantime they are engaging a considerable
number of men on terms which appear to me fair and reasonable?" Yes; but there were no
definite terms as between ourselves and the Agent-General. The general understanding was that we
were to give the Agent-General all the help we could, but at the same time in doing so we were not to
sustain any loss nor make any profit. First of all we were under the impression that we should have to
pay the cost of sending out immigrants, and provide for it by adding to the cost price of the works
which were to be given to us to execute, but we got very early information of thefact that the amount
voted for each line of railway which the Government were authorized to construct was less than the
amount which the lines would cost. By the March mail 1 wrote to my brother, Mr. James Brogden,
as follows : " We shall continue to send out emigrants until the number you mention is reached.
Unfortunately your letter did not convey to us the idea that we had to take up the negotiations with
Dr. Featherston, or that there had been such an advance in the negotiations with you as the prepara-
tion of draftagreements. We shall arrange with Dr. Featherstonon the basis of our undertaking the
liability of the passage-moneywith the Government much in the same way as proposedin the draft
agreement, covering ourselves with engagements with the men, and stipulating also that in the 'cost-
price' of the works there shall be added a sufficient sum to cover loss from defaulting persons. The
Government will have to advance the money and be repaid by instalments, and we shall deducta pro-
portionate part of the weekly wages under cir formal engagement; and have also in the prices an
allowance for the loss which will probably occur. This item of cost' must be settled by you and
Henderson, and should be added as the losses occur. The draft form of engagement of the
men has been hurriedly prepared, and was copied without having beeu finally read over. In
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the passage relating to the fixing of wages the expression occurs, ' The Governor of
the colony as a referee.' This Dr. Feathers-ton thinks is not right, as the G-overnor may
not like such a duty and we have yet to fix the referee; also the engagement will be for
two years' work, unless the final amount is repaid, and we engage to find work for two years."
That letter was written on 7th March, 1572, by my firm in London to Mr. James Brogden iv this
colony Negotiationswere continued, and on the 4th April, 1872, the Ageut-G-eneral wrote to the
Colonial Secretary as follows : " Sir, I have the honor to inform you that no arrangement has been
come to in respect to the emigration to be conducted by the Messrs. Brogden. My proposal to them
is, that they should take promissory notes from the emigrants to the amount of £16 per statute adult,
and that they should give to the Government their own promissory notes for £12 per statute adult,
payable over a period to be agreed upon. This allows them a nominal profit of 25 per cent, to cover
their risk of recovering the whole amount of the promissory notes given to them by their emigrants.
But they demurto this, and intend sending in a counter-proposal, which will (I gather from the con-
versations I have had with them) be to this efFect: They will take promissory notes from the emigrants
for £16 per statute adult; will make certain specified reductions per diem from the wages of the emi-
grants employed by them ; will pay over all such recoveries to the Government; and the Government
shall re.ip the profit or bear the loss of such a transaction. Until I receive their counter-proposalit is
useless to discuss it. I may, however, at once state I am not disposed to accept it, if it be such as I
have represented. There is no finality about it, and such conditional engagements are, to my mind,
pregnant of future disputes." Believing that our agreement with the Agent-Generalwould be arrived
at we continued sending out immigrants. We told Dr. Featherston that we had no experience our-
selves with regard to the collection of the amounts due on promissory notes given by immigrants.
We knew nothing of the state of the law relating to the collection of small debts, and, consequently,
we did not know whether there would be any difficulty in getting back our money, Owing to our want
of knowledge on this subject we were unable to judge what would be considered a fair arrangement.
We, in England, were bound to consider that the arrangement proposed to Mr. James Brogden by the
Government in Wellington would be a tolerably reasonable one, upon which there might, possibly, be
some loss, but not approaching an entire loss ; and, iv addition to that, we had the more favourable
proposal of Dr. Featherston that he would take off 25 per cent, from the promissory notes, and we
considered that, by accedingto the terms proposed, if we reduced the payments again below the amount
that was proposed, we should increase the margin to cover the risk, and so should be more certain to
recover our money from the immigrants ; and Dr. Featherston assured us, most distinctly thatsuch
would be the case, and that we should suffer no loss on the passage-money

19. Is the Committee to understand that you had a distinct conversation withDr. Featherston
respecting these promissory notes ?—Tes ; and not only that, but our attorney, Mr. Tahourdin, dis-
cussed the matter with him, and we both received an assurance that there would be no difficulty in
collecting the amounts of the promissory notes sufficient to secure us from loss. We were also in-
formed thatthe law of imprisonment for debtprevailed in the colony, and that labourers, generally, in
New Zealandwere so well off that they preferred to work and pay their debts insteadof going to gaol.

20. Is the Committee to understand that, in concluding your arrangements with regard to the
sending out of immigrants, you acted upon the strength of those assurances that were made to you ?—
Tes; on the strength of the assurance that was given us. We had increased the margin from 25 per
cent, to 33 per cent, and Dr Featlierston informed us that we should thenhave no difficulty in getting
back our money We understood that the minimum rate of wages for labourers in the colony was
ss ; per day

21. Was anything said about the hours of labour?—The number of hours in which a labourer
worked in England was ten, and we supposed it was the same here, though nothing was said about it.

22. I suppose this understanding led to your fixing some specific amount of money for thepassage
of each emigrant?—Yes. We were assured that hj reducing the price of the promissory notes from
£12, named by Dr. Featherston, to £10, we should guard ourselves from loss. So far as I know the
Government did not keep back any information from us. We werefurnished with a copy of the terms
upon which the Government were sending out nominated and assisted immigrants, and I urged upon
Dr. Featherston that we should send out immigrants on the same terms. As to the nominated
emigrants, I was at once told that they would have to bo nominated in the colony which made that
class not availablefor us. But seeing that, practically, the terms for the assisted emigrants were the
same as those for the nominated ones, I argued with Dr. Featherstonthat we should be put on the same
footing as the Government emigrants, and that the emigrants wo sent out should only be required to
pay £5 in cash. The A gent-General,however, would not allow us to send people out to the colony on
those terms, as he considered them far too favourable. He said he would allow them to go out for a
week on those terms, but would not bind himself for a longerperiod, and might change the m any day
lam bound to say that I think the arrangement was a very foolish one, and defeated its own purpose.
If we had been allowed to send the immigrants out for £7 10s. instead of £15, and pay he Govern-
ment £5 instead of £10, which would have been the same proportion of margin to cover the risk of
loss, there would not have been the same markeddifference that therenow is betweenour emigrants and
those of the Government, and probably we should not have had the men whom we brought out taking
every opportunity of leaving our service and taking work from other people, neither would we have
Tbeen put to the same loss.

23. Did you make any specific inquiries as to whether the Government had experiencedany
difficulty in collecting the moneys for which immigrants had given promissory notes ?—Tes, we asked
the Agent-General, and he informed us that he had found no extraordinary difficulty in collecting the
notes.

24 Did you ask him whether he was in possession of any official returns on the subject?—l do
notremember whether I did or not. We understood that we should be able to recover except under
very remote contingencies.

25. Do 3rou know Mr. Morrison?—Tes; he was one of the agents of the Government,
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26. In a letter addressedby your firm in London to Mr. James Brogden in this colony, and dated
30th May, 1872, you say : " The ihird lot of men despatched sailed from G-ravesend to-day in the
' City of Auckland. lam not able to send you the exact number, but they are included in the
number of 285 men telegraphed you on the 21st instant. You will have received already the lists
of the men sailing by the Scbiehallion ' and the ' Halcione,' both of which ships sailed for Welling-
ton. The 'City of Auckland' sails for Auckland, so that you will know what proportion of the
men already sent out are going to Wellington and what proportion to Auckland. I enclose you the
form of account for the money advanced and gocds supplied, with a copy of the promissory note. It
is drawnin accordance with Mr. Morrison's advice."—Yes; that is correct. Mr. Morrison had acted
as an agentfor the Provincial Government for some years. In fact, I believe he acted as agent for
more than one of theprovinces as well as for that of Wellington.

27 Had you any conversation with Mr. Morrison with reference to the recovery of the amounts
of the promissory notes ?—1 do not remember. I had frequent conversations with him, and I believe
he must have been present when this subject was discussed.

28. Is the Committee to understand that, in connection with the promissory notes, you acted
entirely on the information supplied to you by the Government departments?—Yes, undoubtedly

29. Was it not part of the verbal, as well as part of the written, arrangement that the immigrants
whom you sent out should be distributed according to some rule?—Yes; we were to name the places
to which the ships were to go, and to find a sufficient number of persons to fill them. At that time we
had very little work on hand in New Zealand, except some small works iv Auckland under special
arrangements. This was the case up to August, 1872, and we were unable to localize or locate the
immigrants whom we sent out in such a manner that they would be useful to us in assisting to carry
out our contract works. As a matter of fact, we had at that time hardly any contract work to do in
New Zealand. But at that time Dr. Featherston was urged very strongly by his Government to send
out immigrants, and he transferred part of the pressure to us. We thought wo were assisting the Go-
vernment to carry out their Public Works policy, and, in fact, doing them good, and that is why we
acted as we did.

30. Can you say, from documents in thepossession of your firm, what becameof thefirst few ship-
loads of immigrants that you sent out to the colony ?—Yes ; I willput in a return giving all thatinfor-
mation. The return was prepared from documents in the office of the firm, and is to the following
effect: (Statement A).
It willbe seen from this that thefirst ship was sent out from England on 13th April, 1872, and arrived
in this colony on 9th July, 1872 ; but when the men arrived here we had no work for them to do ; con-
sequently we had to send as many of them as would go to Picton. They were sent to Picton from
Wellington at the expense of my firm, and it cost £91 7s. to take them there.

31. They hadbeen sent to Wellington on thepresumption that youwould have work therefor them ?
—Yes.

32. This return that you have put in shows the number of immigrants introduced into the colony
by your firm ?—Yes. I also produce a return showing thenumber of people sent out to the colony by
our firm, and the number that remained in our employ after they arrived here. The return is
as follows : (Statement B.)

33. I believe it was early in May 1872, that the terms of the actual agreement, which was subse-
quently entered into, were agreedto?—Yes, on 2nd May, 1872, the Agent-Generalwrote as follows:
" I have the honor to inform you that I have only this moment, after repeated discussions, come to an
arrangementwith the Messrs. Brogden, withrespect to the emigrants to be sent outby them. I trust
to send you the agreement, duly executed,by the next mail. The main provision of it is, that Messrs.
Brogden are to give the Government their promissory note for £10 for every statuteadult, they taking
a promissory note from the emigrants for £16."

34. In the sixth and seventh paragraphs of the petition you state certain matters in connection
with the instrument of June, 1872, and the terms generally Are the statements theremade as regards
the assurances which you received on the subject such as you have described, and correct in substance
and fact ?—Yes.

35. Ibelieve you notified your brother, James Brogden, as to the agreement?—l did. A copy of
the draft agreement was sent out to him. by the mail, which left London on or about 30th Ma}r

36. The agreement was executed on the 27th June, 1872, and you received an intimation to the
effect that Mr. James Brogden was dissatisfied with it?—Yes, the Agent-General received a despatch
from the Hon. Mr. Ormond., dated 6th June, 1872, relating to the matter. I think, however, that the
first intimation we had of my brother's dissatisfaction was a telegram to the Agent-General, which lie
received about 17th August, which he showed us before Mr. Ormond's despatch arrived.

37 Then your brother, as soon as he became aware of the terms, pointed out that they were un-
favourable ?—Yes.

38. And you afterwards became aware of the correspondence between your brother and the
Minister for Immigration ?—Yes.

39. You continued to carry on the immigratioa until youreceived advices from your brother ?—
Practically we suspended theimmigration in June, 1872, because we thought then that we had donequite
enough to show that we were able to send out a good number of men, but seeing that the arrangements
for contracts were so long in being concluded we did not think it wise to go on. The Agent-General,
however, induced us to resume the sending out ofmen.

40. Did you address the Agent-General on the subject in writing ?—No, the Agent-General
addressed us as follows on 16th July, 1872:—" G-entlemen,—I venture to suggest that it is extremely
advisable that you should resume emigration, and send out the number of emigrants specified in your
contract with the least possible delay, for the following amongst other reasons : (1.) The Minister for
Public Works, in a letter daled Wellington, 13th May, says,—' Mr. J Brogden is here, and about to
tender for several railways, but we can give him no reliable information as to what labour may be
expected to arrive. Practically the public works cannot proceed until we get a considerable stream cf



I.—lA 8

immigration. No doubt we shall hear from you by an early date what you have been able to do; and
pray take care that we have aconsiderable supply of labour by spring, or the consequences will be
serious.' (2.) In a letter of the same date the Premier writes,—'On the immigration question
generallywe hope the incoming mail will show that you are doing something substantial. In a few
days we shall have settled with Brogden, either by his contracting for four or five railways (including
the Wairarapa), or by his refusing and our falling back on No. 2 contract, and putting up the rest to
public tenders. Either way labour will soon be wanted; and although Ido not anticipate a pinch for
four, or perhaps six, months, it will be serious if a considerable supply does not arrive by that time.'
From these extracts it is clear that neither you nor the Government will be able to carry on the
railways without a large supply of labour except at a ruinous expense. (3.) As the terms you have
been giving to labourers engaged by you are much more liberal than those offered by the Government,
your emigration necessarily competes and interferes with the Government immigration. Until, there-
fore, you have sent out the whole number specified in your contract, you, very unintentionally but
unavoidably, will be acting as a hindrance and obstruction in the way of the immigration conducted
by the Government. Trusting you will take my suggestion into your serious consideration, I have," &c.
We suspended the work of sending out immigrants, because we had no employment to give themon
their arrival here, and the letter which I have just quoted was sent to us by the Agent-General,
urging us to resume it. After we received that letter we, having faith and confidence in the promise
that the works would be given to us, sent out three ships in September, two in October, and threein
November. It was not until August thatwe got informationthat the arrangementwas unsatisfactory
The telegram from the Hon. Mr. Ormond to the Agent-General says, "Broaden dissatisfied with
emigration arrangements with his firm. Some trouble with ' Schiehallinn' immigrants." I saw that
telegram before I received advices from my brother, to the effect that the terms were unsatisfactory
Some time afterwards we saw Dr. Featherston, and requested him to explain the marked difference
between his statement to us respecting the ease with which the money represented by the promissory
notes of the immigrants could be got in, and the great difficulty which we had had in collecting it;
and, further, we asked to be allowed to withdraw from the arrangement altogether.

41. Mr. Billing, in a letter to you dated Bth June, 1872, says'1 "I mentioned to Mr. James
Brogden the substance of the conversation I had wth you before I left London on the emigration
scheme, and the directions you gave me in regard thereto, most of which I find embodied in your letter
of the 4th April. Ifyour present terms of engaging men are carriedinto effect whereby Government
advance the passage-moneyand hold us refponsible for the collection of it, less 25 per cent, to cover
losses, we are bound to be heavy losers. But if Dr. Featherston admits the principle that we are to
be reimbursed the cost but not to make profit or suffer loss by it. it seems desirable to have this
principle embodied in the agreement when drawn up. We shal] consequently be relieved of all
anxiety in a pecuniary sense. Tour wishes as to a strict accotirt being kept of all charges on this
head will be attended to, so that there will be no difficulty in finally adjusting the accounts with
Government hereafter. The Government scheme of immigration has not hitherto been a success. In
this province alone, whilst Dr Featherston was Superintendent, the Government lost about £30,000
through absconders principally, although they took every precaution to prevent men running
away, even to having all outward-bound ships searched by police. This act has since been declared
illegal. lam hoping to meet Mr. Knowles, Under-Secretary, in a few days, and as he is well
acquainted with the subject of immigration, I hope to get some information which may bo of use to us.
Nothing has yet been done with a view of settling with the Government the question of charges
incurred in landing, housing, transhipping, and provisioning the immigrants from the time of their
landing to the time they arrive at their place of work."—My brother afterwards said the arrangement
was unsatisfactory, and it was in consequence of that that we suspended operations in November.

42. There is another letter written by Mr. John Henderson, who was your engineer here, and
which was dated 6th July, 1872. It says: "Immigrants will be housed and well cared for on arrival.
I am only sorry that the immigrants were not sent out upon the usual Government terms—namely £5
cash, or £7 10s. on promissory notes. lam afraid the men, on arrival here, will feel dissatisfied, and
that we shall lose many of them. Please do not send out any more except upon the usual Govern-
ment terms, and even then the Government ought to allow you 25 per cent, for risk and pay all expenses
incurred in getting the men and putting them on the work?"'—Yes, that letter was sent to us by Mr.
Henderson.

43. Well, then, it amounts to this: that in November, 1872, you felt compelled, in consequence
ofrepresentations made to you from the colony, to suspend further operations in the matter ofsending
people out to the colony ?—Yes.

44. On 12th Juno, 1873, the firm addressed a letter to the Agent-General?—Yes. The letter is
to the following effect: " Sir,—At the invitation of the Minister, the Hon. G. Maurice O'Rorke,
conveyed to our Mr. James Brogden, in New Zealand, by letter of 2nd November, 1872, and in com-
pliance with your letter of 27th May last, we address you on the subject of agreement of 27th June,
1872, between the Governor of New Zealand and ourselves relative to the promotion of immigration
into the colony The negotiationson this subject commenced, as you will remember, in New Zealand,
between Mr. James Brogden and the Ministry there, and the continuance of them was relegated to
you and the members of our firm in England. At that time the postal arrangements from the colony
were very irregular, and we received intimationfrom our firm that the subject was so remitted us, but
without any further particulars. Youwill doubtless remember that the draft agreement for emigration
which had been discussed in the colony was handed to us by you, and you informed us that it had in
fact very nearly been signed by our Mr. James Brogden, but at the last moment he had
declined to take the responsibility, and so the subject was remitted home. At the same time
you urged us with so great pressure to commence sending out immigrants that even before
any agreement was made with you we had already sent out a considerable number, and
were actively at work in the necessary organization in different parts of the country We wish
here to observe that we had no desire to enter into this undertaking. It was at the request of
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the Government in New Zealand and of yourself here that we did so, and from the first we informed
you that we looked for no profit, but only sought to be covered against any loss. The terms we sought
to arrange with you wero similar in principle to those negotiated with Mr. Vogel in England for the
No. 1 Contract, and required that we should keep .accurate accounts of the moneys expended and of
the repayments received from the emigrants; that at the expiration of the time the accounts should
be adjusted and settled upon the basis of repaying actual outlay We sent out immigrants in several
of theearly ships, as we supposed upon this understanding, and informed our firm in JNew Zealand that
there would be therefore no necessity to consider, in settling the prices of work, any cost or loss
arising from the emigration. To this you objected that there was no finality in such an agreement, and
it was with reluctance, and only on your distinct assurance that the terms subsequently arranged would
fully cover us against any loss that we signed the agreement. We could not but remember also your
statement that the agreement with higher charges against us was on the point of being signed in
New Zealand. The terms to be charged to the emigrants, the form of agreement with them, also of
the promissory notes to be taken from them; and, in fact, all details were from time to time discussed
with and approved by you. These terms bound us to repay you by instalments—£10 of the passage
money with interest—and entitled us to charge, in addition to any other advances we might make, £15
to theemigrants, and to deduct a portion of the amount weekly from their wages. In the mode of
execution and wiineasing of these agreements and promissory notes, we acted entirely upon the
advice and information of either yourself or the Government Emigration Agent, Mr. Carter,
the difference between the £10 you charged us and the £15 we were to charge the
emigrants being, in fact, the only margin to set against any loss that might arise through
delinquencies or misfortunes, and this, you assured us, would be amply sufficient to
do so. We never desired to make any profit out of the emigration, but we certainly
relied upon your assurance that this margin was sufficient to protect us against any loss.
We had no knowledge that in these same ships you wore intending to send out other emigrants on
different terms, requiring from them very much less repayment for their passage-money than was
required from our-emigrants; and, although the latter required help in removing from their homes to
the ship, and also for their kit and clothing, yet that was given from our firm, and not from the
Government; so that in what the Government had to provide, viz., the passage-money,there was a
marked disadvantageto the extent of a third or one-half of the passage-money to our emigrants, as
compared with the Government emigrants. There is no doubt that during the voyage these facts
always became known and created a feeling of disappointment and dissatisfaction, which has resulted
in a very disastrous defeat of the whole object to us of this emigration. The men, as soon as they
landed, mostly deserted, dispersed themselves over the colony and refused to work for us, saying they
had been ill-treatedand overreached, and blamed us for what is, in fact, the arrangement forced upon
us by you. We have said, in the commencement of this letter, that we only entered upon this subject
at the urgent request of the New Zealand Government, and, manifestly, with the desire to provide
labour for the public works to be entrusted to us, so that those works might proceed rapidly without
creating a great disturbance in the question of labour in the other industries in the colony We have
sent out 1,299 adult males, and, according to our most recent advices, wo have 525 working for us.
The remainder are mostlyremaining in the country engaged at other work, and we have been unable
to recoverany appreciable amount of their promissory notes from them. Thus the country has the
advantage of the large number of selected men and their families for its industries and revenue, but,
unfortunately for us, at our cost. Again, we have been repeatedly informed by our firm in New
Zealand that, when some of the immigrants arrived, there were not public works entrusted to us
sufficient to employ them, and we have had either to find temporary employment for them, so as to
keep our engagement to them, or to see them leaving us for other work, from which it is almost
impossible to recall them ; and our latest advices assure us that there is no necessity for further
emigrants for the works given to us. Under the circumstances as herein stated, we feel confident in
appealing to you for a reconsideration of the terms as to the emigrantswho havealready been sentout by
us, and we must certainly be put upon an entirely different footing with reference to any further
number. We are not, and never were, desirous of entering upon this kind of engagement,but believe,
if the Government urge it upon us, we couldorganize anew the emigration movement for the despatch
of considerable numbers ; but, with reference to the past, we think we have a fair claimto a full reim-
bursement of any moneys we have paid in connection with this matter, and a release from the notes
signed by us. Tour emigration circulars show that you have found it quite necessary, in order to
keep up the flow of emigration, and to put yourself on a level with other countries, who have active
agencies here for similar objects, to give a very great modificationof the terms you formerlydemanded
even from the Government emigrants; and the promissory notes for £10, which is now all you demand
from the emigrants, give you no greater security than what we imagined we had received. We shall be
glad to give you the documents we havereceived from the emigrants, applying their respective amounts
pro rata to your passage-moneyand our actual advances, and we think you ought to be satisfied in our
case with what you arenow satisfied with from a,ny casual applicant.—We have, &c, John BROflDEtr
and Sons."

45. That letter was forwarded by you with a view to obtaining relief, and in accordance with
the suggestion of the Minister for Immigration?—Yea.

46. Did you receive any answer from the Agent-General?—¥c had a communication from him
asking us for an explanation as to the exact amount of money we had disbursed. We gave that
information, but heard nothing further about it.

47 Had you any personal interview with Dr. Featherston on the subject ?—I do not recollect
exactly, but I have no doubt that we had some such interview

48. Did Dr. Feathorston ever, either in writing or verbally, dispute the accuracy of your letter of
12th June?—Never. The Hon. Mr. Hall, the present Premier, who was at that time in England, was
present at an interview which I had with Dr. Featherston on the subject, and at that interviewI urged
the sameviews that I do now

2-L la. j
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49. I observe that in that letterof 12thJune, 1873, which yourefer to, you say, " "We have sent out
1,299 adult males, andaccording to our most recent adviceswe have 525 working for us. The remainder
are mostly remaining in the country, engaged at other work, and we have been unable to recover any
appreciable amount of their promissory notes from them ?"—Yes, that return wasprior to April, 1873,
and before we had commenced the monthly form from which this extract is made. Even then there
were more than 700 fewer men at work for us than we had sent out.

50. In your letter dated 10th July you state the amount of your outlay, including passages, outfits,
&c, to be something like £39,000 ?—Yes, less the extra£5 charged on the promissory notesfor passage
money

51. sfou did not receive anything in cash from the immigrants themselves?—No; it was all outlay
on our side.

52. It was in December, 1872, after you became aware that there was some dissatisfaction with
regard to the agreement that you handed over your promissory notes to the Government?—Yes; on
21st December, 1872, we handed in the promissory notesunder protest. At that time we had finished
all our arrangements and knew that we should not send out any more immigrants.

53. Had any application been made to you for these promissory notes prior to you handing them
in ?—Yes.

54. Have the whole of the notes been paid ?—No ; but the Government have deducted the whole
of the money for passages and interest from the amount due to us by them. The total amount is
£20,739 15s.'lOd. [Vide statement C attached.]

55. That sum is exclusive of the amounts you had to pay in sending the immigrants from one
part to another ?—Yes. "We have paid the cost of transporting the immigrants from one Port to
another ourselves. The amount we have paid in that way is £767 9s. 6d. That expenditure was
rendered necessary in consequence of our not having work to give the immigrants when they arrived
in the colony We have asked the Government to return that money to us, because weconsider it is
justly due to us. We hold that, in sending out immigrants, we were only complying with the request
of the Agent-General, and, having brought them out, we considered that we were bound to find em-
ployment for them ; therefore, we took them from one port to another. The total amount of the
promissory notes is £39,241 16s. 4d., and the amount recovered is £5,192 18s. 7d. gross, less expenses
of collection, &c. [Vide statement A attached.]

56. I observe that there is a considerable sum set down for stamps for the promissory notes ?—
Yes, there is ; but we knew nothing about the necessity for rcstamping thepromissory notes when we
took them ; and, in fact, in some cases we lost money when we took action in the law courts in con-
sequence of not having stamped the notes again in the colony

57 Taking interest and everything into consideration, you calculate that your total loss is
£47,103 os, Bd. ?—Yes. [Vide statement C attached.]

58. Are you in a position to say whether, in the execution of the works, you derived any advantage
or benefit fromthe introduction of theseimmigrants ?—Wo certainly didnot; but lamwilling to admit
that the introductionof some 2,000 people to tho colonywould have some influence on the labourmarket,
and would cause an averagereduction in,the wages throughout, and we would have the benefit of that
in the same manner as other people. The only difference in our case would be that we had to bear
the entire cost of bringing about the reduction. At the same time, if the Government had brought
out these immigrants, we should have received more benefit than we did.

Wednesday, 13th July, 1881.
Mr. A. Bbogden", examined.

59. Mr. Travers.'] I believe your firm intended to have sent out men to carry on your works, irre-
spective of the arrangement made with the Government?—To a certain extentwe did. Here is a letter
written by Mr. Henderson to our firm in London on the 27th October, 1871, in which, after detailing
other things, he says, "Should Mr. James Brogden telegraph to you that all is arranged, and to send
men, &c, out, please allow one of your people to see and arrange with the first good ship coming out
passages for housekeeper, servant, and children." On the 25th November, 1871, my brother wrote
me. I will read an extract, but the whole letter will be put in. After mentioning that it was the
intention of the Government to give us contracts to a million sterling, he says, "We should disturb
the labour marketmaterially if we proceeded to makerailways and draw upon the present resources of
the colony in labour to a largo extent, and so disorganize industries of various kinds. Holding this in
view the Government wish to limit our payment to theworking navvies,for a days' labour of eight
hours, to the sum of 6s1. per day Now we find this varies in differentprovinces from 6s. to 10s.: in the
proximity of gold-mining they pay 10s. per day readily; in places where labour is not in demand it is
possibly 7s. 6d. to Bs. per day The Government prohibit the employment of Chinese labour. Hence
the Government advise that one person or firm should control the labour market, and thus the idea
gains currency that we should have all the public works I have, of course, done all 1 could to further
this idea. Then, the Government also wish us to import men, with a view to their employment on the
public works and to their future settlement in the colony ; hence they desired me to consider an immi-
gration scheme in connection with our works. I decline to take any risk or responsibility without
your approval and consideration; I have thereforearranged torefer you to Dr. Featberston on this sub-
ject. 1 shallmention this morein detailpresently,and meantimereferback to thenegotiationsfor works.
A lengthy agreement was submitted as to our importing immigrants : the substance of it was that we
should receive from the Government £15 per adult for all persons imported ; that we should import
2,000 men, who would possibly have some 4,000 women and children attached and connectedwith them;
that promissory notes should be given for the passage-money,repayable, in equal sums at two, three,
and five years, to us by deduction from wages, and have 20 acres of settlement (fair or good land)
land allotted, for which they would have to pay £1 per acre, in the course of two, three, and
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five years, with the power to take up an equal amount of land if they had paid for thefirst lot in
one year after arrival. I found that much better terms were being offered than those proposed to us,
in the case of immigrants coining independently, and applying to the Agent-General in England.
The Agent-General has discretion to pay the whole passage-money, and give the right to landabove
mentioned, or he may insist on £5 of the £15 passage-money being paid by promissory note of the
immigrant. I find that about 50 per cent, of the immigrants after arrival disappear, and leave their
engagements unfulfilled, although they are promised in addition four days a week employment at ss.
on public works (roads, &c.) for one year. I thought we could have worked the matter out; that the
Government would take the risk as they impose a limitation as to the price to be paid for labour. I
therefore thought, as we shall have to get labour imported, it would be better that you arrange with
Dr. Featherston a means of their being sent out under the general terms the Agent-General in
England is empowered to act upon, at least until you hear further from us here. Ido not intend we
should run risks, but I see we shall require men. I shall be anxious to hear what you have done or,
proposed with Dr. Featberstou. I would be glad to have information as to the operations of Thomson
Bonar, and others, who arecondncting schemes of this kind, and information as to theirprogress. We
should get the Government Agent-General to pay the full passage-money of the men we require.
Remember also that, in the case of promissory notes given, a particular form is required ; these are
to be indorsed by the Government, and drawn on a private firm, so as to be legal and reclaimable in
New Zealand. Dr. Featherstou has some experience in this, as in Wellington Province alone he was
party to a loss occasioned to the extent of £40,000 on account of persons who repudiated their
promissory notes or who absconded. We propose to get 2,000 adult males, at £15 passage-money,
£30,000; 3,000 others (wives and families), at £L5passage-money,£45,000; 1,000 children at £7 10s,
£7,500 : total £82,500. The item to be paid by the Government, but promissory notes to be given
by the immigrants, and we were to collect the moneys from the men. We should be paid the total sum,
and collect in two, three, and fiveyears; but we couldnot agree as to the Government taking the risk
of absconding persons. We to pay 6s. per day eight hours. Deaths to be covered by insurance by
the New Zealand Government, so that the matter remains for you to act on, until we feel assured by
the terms of the Government offer that we can submit a proper offer here for the above operation."

60. Do I understand your arrangement with the Agent-General was that they were to be sentout
upon Government terms?—The Agent-General was quite willing they should be sent on those terms.
We also intended to send them out on whatever terms we could send them out—Government terms,or
any other terms. We should certainly have sent out 500 or 600 at our own cost.

61. At that time the Goverment terms were the payment of £5 per man ?—Yes. It would have
cost us £3,000 or rather more.

62. Was that intention of yours altered after the agreement withDr. Featherston was made ?—Naturally, when we wrote the letters of February and March we were not alive to the fact that
negotiations for enlarged immigration were begun from this side, and were to be continued in London.
We thought Dr. Featherston only wanted our help.

63. It was your intention to have sent out 500 or 600 men, and you could have done that at a
cost of about £3,000 ?—Tes.

64. You now come down to your letter of the 10th July, 1873, which you addressed to the Agent-
General?—Yes.

65. Youhad an interview with him prior to that letter being sent ?—Yes.
66. Had you any conversation with him with reference to the loss you had sustained?—Yes. As

I mentionedbefore, the letter of the 12th June, 1873, was really a reduction to writingof the subjects
discussed at that interview

67 Now, at that interview, what took place? What was said on the part of the Agent-General
in reference to this?—Betweenthe 12thJune and the 10th July I saw the Agent-General again,and he
asked me to give him the exact figures, which was done. On the 10th July I saw him, and ho told
me he should be writing to the colony, and should recommend the Government to agree to our pro-
posals.

68. That is your letter of the 10th July, which is printed in the proceedings of the Committee of
1873?—Yes. Youmust, in fact, read the two letters of the 12th June and 10th July together.

69. Do I understand that the letter of the 10th July, 1873, from the Agent-General, which you
wish to have produced in full, is the one which you understandto embody the recommendation you
refer to ?—Yes.

70. The Chairman.'] That is the letter from the Agent-General to the Government ?—Yes.
On the 11th July, 1873, we wrote from London to Welliugtou: "A friendly meeting took place on
Tuesday last between the members of the firm and the Agent-General to discuss the emigration agree-
ment, Mr. Hall, ex-Minister, being present. The result is the letter to the Agent-General (copy
enclosed, 10thJuly) I and Henry Brogden wereinformed by theAgent-Generalyesterday that he was
quite prepared to indorse the proposal of the firm, and will recommend the Government to accedeto it
in his despatch by the present mail."

71. Mr. Travers.] I assume yourested satisfied with that assurance?—Naturally
Mr. Dick : Will Mr. Hall be asked to substantiate that ?
The Chairman : He will be asked to attend.
Witness : Some time followed, and in the interval the inquiry beforea Committeeof the House was

held here. Then, in the early part of 1874, after we becameawareof theresolution of that Committee,
we frequently tried to see Dr. Featherston, who at that time was very ill and not always visible. We
did see him again, and wrote a letter dated the 25th March, 1874: liReferring again to our emigra-
tion agreement, you will remember that, in our interview with you and the Hon. John Hall in June
last, certain proposalsfor an amicable settlement were discussed, which were afterwards embodied in
our letters of the 12th Juneandthe 10thJuly, and it was agreed that you wouldrecommend the Govern-
ment to accept ouroffer. Not having receivedany repljr to our communications, our Mr. James Brogden
waited upon you on the 18th March to ascertain if you had received despatches from the Government



I.—lA 12

enabling you to give afavourable answer, and weregret to find that you arestill without any instructions.
It appears that our representatives in New Zealand were advised last session to petition the Parliament
praying the recoupment of our losses under the emigration agreement, but without success. Since,
however, our proposal to apply the amount recovered from the men, pro raid, in reduction of your
passage-charges and our own advances, has been before the Government, you have adopted the system
of free passages, which was doubtless an urgent necessity in consequence of the greatly-increased
demand for labour; but you willnot fail to see chat our position is thus materiallyaltered since our offer
of June and July last, and that it will now be impossible for us to enforcefurther recoveries from our
workmen. You will admit that the Government are in a similar position as regards the promissory
notes taken from ordinary emigrants ; and that a heavy loss to the Government, as well as ourselves,
must inevitably follow the adoption of free passages. Underthe circumstances, we are again compelled
to ask your reconsideration of our position, and to press our claims for the remission of passage-
expenses and all other disbursements in connection with our emigration. The passage-charges include
—Promissory notes to Government, £18,240 ; payments in cash, £97 10s. ; interest on promissory
notes to 28th February, 1874, £1,275 12s. : total, £19,613 2s. And our other disbursements are as
follow, viz, : (Ship's kit for emigrants, £1,791 15s. ; outfit, railway fares, dock dues, medical examina-
tion, &c, £9,619 13s. 9d. ; agency expenses for collecting emigrants, printing, advertising, journeys,
and commission, £1,679 9s. 10d. ; immigrants' maintenance in New Zealand, boat hire, &c,
£3,759 os. 6d. ; loss of interest on advances to men to the 31st December, 1873, £708 16s. lOd.:
total, £17,558 15s. lid. Total of outlay, exclusive of additional interest on promissory
notes accruing from time to time, £37,171 17s. lid. ; less repayments by workmen,
according to last advice, £2,766 15s. 3d. : grand total, £34,405 2s. Bd. We note that,
in a memorandum to the Cabinet, No. 66, April 1, 1873, the Minister for Public Works
says, ' The only thing which has kept the rates, of labour from rising torates ruinous to the various
interests in the colony has been the shipment of of so much labour by Messrs. Brogden;' and we feel
assured that this testimony is supported by facts, and that the advantageto the country of our large
number of selected labourers, and their families, dispersed through the various provinces of the
colony, contributing to its revenue, and employed in developing its resources, can hardly be over-
estimated. The following return,received from our firm by last mail, will show you to what extent, in
point ofnumbers, the country has been benefited by the introduction of our workmen, viz. : Number
of working-men sent out, 1,299; number working for the firm, 76 ; number distributed throughout the
colony working for other employers, 1,233. We have a grave charge of complaint against colonial
employers forenticing our men from their employment, and in several instances engagingtheemigrants
on landing, notwithstanding the employers were made aware of the engagement the men had entered
into prior to leavingEngland. Our agent fit Dunedin, referring to this subject, writes : 'October 20,
1873. Immediately the men were landed at these works, every artifice was resorted to by farmers and
others to induce them to quit the firm's employ, and engage in farm-labour, &c. Higher wages were
promised, and every means used to decoy the men away, and in the greater number of instances with
success. The men, on the other hand, do all in their power to avoid therepayment of their promissory
notes; and the proof of this assertion lies in the fact that, of the whole number of immigrants who
originally landed in Otago, only five continue in the employ of thefirm. Our engineer on the Dunedin
and Clutha Ilailway-works, alsoreports that ' The working of the immigration scheme in this province
(Otago) has met with even worse success than that of Marlborough ; for at the time of the janding of
the immigrants per " Bebington," "Lady Jocelyn,"" ChristianMcAusland," " Zealaudia,"and following
vessels, the labour market was by no means full, and a great many of the farmers in. both the country
districts adjacent to Dunedin, and more remote, enticed many of the men away by offering them 40s.
to 48s. per week, and board and lodging. The honesty of the greater part of the men was not proof
against this opportunity of getting rid of their obligations to the firm. There is no reason to doubt
that the debt to the firm with which our men landed in this country is that which prompts them to
attempt at once to get employment at the hands of some other employer. We have no wish tc
multiply similar reports from other provinces, showing the gain to the country from our imported
labour, but we cannot help complaining of the recent action of the Government in entering into
direct competition with us in the labour market, thus rendering it impossible for us to complete out
engagements within the stipulated time. Our recent contract for completion of certain works ar
Auckland and Onehunga within the next three months was entered into on the supposition that we
should have only the ordinary demand for labour to compete with; but we regret to say that our
exertions are paralyzed by the withdrawal of our men for service in the railway corps on
the Waikato extension,—the Government offer of the highest current wages, with lodging, accom-
modation, and other inducements, rendering our efforts to retain our workmen wholly abortive.
In urging our appeal, wo must again reiterate that the importation of our immigrants was under-
taken by us, not from any desire of ours to engage in this work, but at the urgent request of the New
Zealand Government, in order to preventthe withdrawalof labourfrom the various colonial industries;
that much pressure was put on us by you to commence sending out emigrants before any agreement
had been made, and without giving us time or opportunity to communicate with our firm in New Zea-
land. You will also remember that we repeatedly explained to you that we had had no experienceof
this kind, and sought for no profit, and therefore proposed to keep separate accounts of our expendi-
ture and receipts, andbe reimbursed by the Government our actual outlay on this account. Moreover,
all the details connected with it were carried out under your advice and assistance ; our emigrantswere
shipped from timeto time under your instructions, and were landed at the various ports selected by
yourself; and we cannot look at ourposition in the matter in any other light than as the agents of the
Government, acting under their supervision and direction, and seeking only to be freed from any loss.
The arrangement for taking the promissory notes from the emigrants was also madeunder your advice,
and upon your assurance that we should be able to recover them without much loss, and the amount
we were to pay the Government for passage was fixed by you and agreed to by us; again asserting, at
the sametime, that we relied on your assurance that we should thereby be amply secured from loss,
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and tliat in this transaction we sought no profit. We are sure that in giving us this assurance you
were judging from your enlarged experience, and that you did so in all candour and good faith ;
although we regret that, through no fault of ours, the results have been adverse, caused mainly by the
disparity of passage-charges between our own and the Government emigrants first causing dissatis-
faction, then by the action of the colonists themselves, and subsequently by the granting of free
passages. We learn that the Government has recently invited theLegislature to condone the penalties
in the case of Mr. Webb's contract, on the ground that the colony had been benefited by the San Fran-
cisco mail service. It will surely be conceded that our claim is no trifling one, and that we are entitled
to an equal claim for relief with Mr. Webb The amount in question is too largefor us to cease urging
the Government to reconsider their determination. We have expended, including the amount of our
promissory notes to the Government, upwards of £35,000 in introducing some2,000 emigrants into the
country, to its great present and prospectiveadvantage; and,in appealing to you for areimbursement of
our expenses in connection with this matter, we have no doubt that, in honor, you would personally
feel bound to admit the justice of our claim; and we feel that the Government is also bound through
you, in all honor, to make a similar admission, and recoup us the outlay incurred in benefiting the
country It cannot be for the advautageof any country to first urge responsible persons to undertake
work at the instance of the Government, assure them throughout that the means taken for their reim-
bursement are sufficient, and then to leave them without remedy for the large outlay they have
incurred, while the country reaps all the advantage."

Mr. Travers: It is there stated theAgent-General had, at an interview, agreed to recommend the
Government to accept the offer made by Messrs. Brogdeu. That letteris transmittedto the Hon. Mr.
Yogel in a letter dated the sth May, 1874, in which he says, "I have the honor to forward herewith
copy of a letter which I have received from Messrs. John Brogden and Sons, urging their claims on
the Government in respect of the heavy liabilities they have incurred in connection with New Zealand
emigration, and recapitulating the facts of the case. In forwarding this letter, I can only refer the
Government to my despatchof the 10th July, 1873, No. 502, in which I forwarded theproposal then made
by the firm for an amicable settlement of their claims, and recommended it to the favourable
consideration of the Government. In my letterof the16th May, 1873, in which Ireferred to theproposed
abolitionof the promissory-note system, I pointed out that the position of the Messrs. Brogden would
be seriously affected by such a change ; and, seeing that free emigration has since been adoptedby the
Government, it does appear to me that the difficulty of collecting the promissory notes has been
considerably increased, while the value of the securities in the hands of the Messrs. Brogden has been
correspondingly lessened." We submit the Agent-General's letter in that respect clearly doesnot in
any degree dispute a single statement in the letters of Messrs. Brogden.

Witness: I would also point out the important change that had occurred.
Mr. Travers : Yes ; I will read: "In my letter of the 16th May, 1873, in which I referred to the

proposed abolition of the promissory-note system, I pointedout that theposition of the Messrs. Brogden
would be seriously affected by such a change; and, seeing that free emigration has since been adopted
by the Government, it does appear to me that the difficulty of collecting the promissory notes has been
considerably increased, while the value of the securities in the hands of the Messrs. Brogden has been
correspondingly lessened." In reply to that letter was a letter from Mr. Vogel, dated the 3rd July,
1874, in which Mr. Vogel gives his reasons for not acced'ng to the recommendation.

Witness : Previously there was a letter from Mr. Vogel to Dr. Featherston, sent in October, 1873,
in reply to the letter of July, 1873.

72. Mr. Travers.'] Prior to that letter from Mr. Vogel in 1874, had you any idea the Government
would not act upon the recommendation made by Dr. Featherston ?—No.

73. There has also been a suggestion made with regard to the amount for contingencies on con-
tracts allowed. The contingencies are fixed at 12J per cent, in the contracts of August, 1872. It has
been suggested that some allowance might have been made in these contingencies in regard to this
matter ?—lt has been suggested that losses we might have sustained under this immigration contract
might be covered by allowance made under the works contracts. lat once say that was not so. Here
is the evidence of Mr. Carruthers and others when examined before the Immigration and Public
Works Committee in 1873, in which it is repeated that there was no considerationmade in contracts
for losses sustained by the immigration. The two things were kept distinct, and each had to stand
upon its own bottom. With reference to the general rise in wages I dealt with that the other day
Probably there might have been a general reduction of the average price of labour throughout the
colony by the introduction of these 1,400 men. We should certainly reap the advantageof that average
reduction. Supposing that amounted to 10 per cent, we should have paid 100per cent, of the cost, and
got only 10per cent, of thebenefit. As to thecontingencies, in fixingour prices 12iper cent, was allowed
for contingencies ; at Home it is the constant practice to allow 10 per cent. That 10per cent, is to cover
extraexpenses incurred. For example, in buildinga bridge there is much moreto pay than the mere iron-
work, the brickwork, the timber, and the labour. There maybe a temporaryroad or bridge to be made,
or somecompensation to pay for land, or there may be some loss of material, or the men may leave work
at a critical time, involving heavy loss. The 10 per cent, is to coverall such items. In fixing 12\ per
cent., instead of 10 per cent., we thought an additional 2J per cent, in a new country, where materials
and information were difficult to obtain, was a moderateaddition. I see in Mr. Richardson's evidence
he talks of 15 per cent, having been allowedover and above theEngineers' prices. I desire io say Mr.
Richardson must have been mistaken. The mode in which these contracts were arrived at had nothing
to do with Engineers' prices. Mr. Richardson, as Minister,kept the Engineer from all communication
with us, and we made a tender, and it was accepted. We were obliged afterwards to put a schedule in
that tender and on the schedule we put the estimated net prices, with Vi\ per cent, for contingencies.
In the calculations made afterwards, 5 per cent, was allowed for management, and 10 per cent, for
profit.

74. Mr. Carruthers says the same thing ?—Here is the original contract which shows the prices,
and there is this note : " To the above prices must be added contractor's profit 10 per cent., and cost
of management5 per cent."
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75. Mr. Carruthers's evidence from question 146 to question 169 deals with this very question.
He says, especially in answer to Mr. Richardson, " When these prices wero settled, was the rate of
wages and the number of hours per day taken into account?—-Nothing was absolutely stated as to the
rate of wages, although the rates likely to prevail are usually kept in view when such works are to be
considered. The prices were settled principally upon the rate paid for other works. I never said
anything, and I am pretty sure the contractors never said anything, that would lead to the belief that
an increase in the price of labour would lead to any claim tor compensation. Was there
any allowance made, or was it taken into consideration in fixing these prices, that the contractors were
about to import labour into the colony?—'No, it was not expected that the contractors would have to
import labour, because it was understood at the timethat the Government was going to import a great
many immigrants into the place, and it was supposed that that importation would be sufficient to keep
prices down to prevailing rates. I see by all the contracts that an allowance of 12g- per cent, was
made in name of contingencies ; what was that allowance intended chiefly to cover ?—lt would cover
superintendenceof theworks by foremen, and accidents to the works, tools, &c. Was that allowance
made outside the 10 per cent., and irrespective altogether of it ?—-Yes, it would be outside of that,

Mr. O'-Neill.^ In arranging these prices, did you make any allowance for any loss that
might fall to the Messrs. Brogden by the introduction of immigrants ?—No. Mr.
Carrinffton.] Was there no difference made in the case of the contracts giveu to the Messrs. Brogden
regarding contingencies and allowances as compared with contracts given to other parties?—No;
contracts have been let to other parties in the same manner as to Messrs. Brogden, but only by public
tender. Where the public are allowed to tender for the work, the contractor includes contingencies
in the estimated cost. Of course the contingency is provided for whether it be put down as such, or
simply included as a first price. Hon. Mr. Richardson.~\ The question is, whether in your dealings
with Messrs Brogden, you recognized certain allowances which would not have been made to other con-
tractors?—No, certainly not. Mr. Rolleston.] In arranging these contracts with Messrs. Brogden,
were you in any way authorized to consider the question of the introduction of immigrants, or anything
beyond the question of the price such as would have been considered for any other contractor?—No.

Bid you consider that the contracts entered into with the Government had relation to any
other purpose, especially with regard to the introduction of immigrants by the Messrs. Brogden?—
No ; I expected that whatever arrangement Messrs. Brogdenmight make would rest upon its own
bottom. I knew Government intended to import labour, either through the Messrs. Brogden or in
some other way The Chairman.^ Was your estimate not made for the guidance and information of
Ministers, and in all cases was it not left with Ministers to decide upon the final price to be paid for
the contracts?—Yes."—No allowance whatever was madewith respect to any possible loss inregard to
emigration.

76. Mr. Bell.~] Are we to understand that you have produced all the correspondence relating to
immigration which passed between Mr. James Brogden and your firm in London ?—Prior to the date
of the agreement.

77 How many immigrants did your firm actually send out to the colony ?—There were 1,291
working-men, or 2,174 souls.

78. Under any circumstances, irrespective of Government immigration, you would have sent out
500 or 600 males?—Yes.

79. That fact has not been stated before I believe, nor before the Committee of 1873?—No, I do
not think it was explicitly

80. You have read Mr. Henderson's evidence before that Committee ?—Yes.
81. He says your intention was to get immigrants from Australia, or Chinamen?—That was, with

reference to the 500 or 600, they would not have been necessarily from England. We should have
supplied the 500 or 600 from some market.

82. You say, in your letter to your brother, of the 22nd March,. 1872, "We expect to send out
immediately 150 immigrants." That was the first number you sent, and that was some time of course
before you had enteredinto any arrangement with Dr. Featherston ?—Yes.

83. And you continued to send out immigrants without any arrangement as to how you were to
berepaid ?—Certainly ; we were doing that, and intended to do that to a limitedextent.

84. Plow did you pay the passages of these immigrants ?—I do not think we paid the passages of
any If we paid for those first, it was repaid to us.

85. That was after signing the contract ? Yes ;if we hadfailed to come to any arrangement we
should have felt ourselves bound to payfor those sent out.

86. You were sending men for works you expectedfrom the Government ?—Yes.
87 Did you send any men of any other class than navvies ? Yes, there were a great many

agricultural labourers.
88. Can you say how many?—The majority of them.
89. All thesewere under engagement to you for two years?—Yes.
90. And did you engage agricultural labourers for your purpose?—Yes ; they were men ac-

customed to outdoor work.
9L. Youintended to use them as navvies ?—Yes ; you can soon transform a good agricultural

labourerinto a navvy They would becomesuitable very soon.
92. Were the men suitable for your works whom you engaged for two years ?—They might notbe

immediately suitable, but they would very soon become so.
93. On the 25th November, 1871, Mr. James Brogden wrote to you that Dr. Featherson had per-

sonal experience of the promissory-note system, and that in the Province of Wellington therewere
£40,000 owing on these notes. I wish to know how you reconcile that with your statement that you
were perfectly ignorant that any difficulty would exist in the colony in the collection of promissory-
notes ?—I think the letter answers the question without any answer of mine. It says, "We must be
very particular as to the form in which the promissory notes are made out." We naturally thought
Dr. Eeatherston's experiencein this heavy loss would be used to put us in theright way as to what
form the notes should be given in.
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94. Your brother says there should be a Government indorsement on the promissory note?—I
will read i " Eemember also that, in the case of promissory notes given, a particular form isrequired ;
these are to be indorsed by the Government, and drawn on a private firm, so as to be legal and re-
claimable in New Zealand." I confess to this day Ido not understand what that means.

95. You had notice in the beginning of 1872 that Dr. Featherston himself, as Superintendent of
the Province of Wellington, had lost £40,000 by these notes. Your brother warned you carefully as
to the form, and suggested a Government indorsement? No. He did not suggest a Government
indorsement. He suggested we should take advantage of Dr. Featherston's experience.

96. That if aparticular form was required, it was to be drawn by the Government ?—He says that
Dr. Featherston's experienceshould be used. We thought certainly when we cameto Dr. Featherston
he would instruct us as to the form required. A man who has lost £40,000 in that waywould be likely
to know how to guard against it again.

97 Early in 1872 you had ample notice of the difficulty of collecting these notes ?—Only to a
very limited extent. We heard that the givers of the promissory notes had repudiated them or
absconded. The repudiating of a particular form of note only made us put ourselves more entirely
under Dr. Featherston's guidance in thatrespect. We received this letter on the Bth February

98. All the agreements were made after thereceipt of that letter by you ?■—Yes.
99. Do you fix any particular interview at which theAgent-General represented to you that there

would be no difficulty in collectingthisparticularclass of promissory note,or doyou say it is theresult of
what you gathered from several conversations with the Agent-General?—The question of the recovery
of the money was a very serious matter to us. There was a very large sum involved, so we took the
greatest precaution we could to get ourselves put in such a position that we could recover the money
Not only did I ask Dr. Featherston about this a good many times, but, as I mentioned, our solicitor
consulted with him, and also with Mr. Mackrell, the solicitor for the Crown Agents, to get the best
advice that could be got on the subject, and on that advice to settle the form of the note. We cer-
tainly thought, after settling the form so carefully, we should not have repudiation.

100. Your brother was in the colony Are you aware whether he consulted his legal advisers in
the colony when the original draft agreement was submitted to him?—I do not think he consulted his
solicitors out here.

101. Was a draft agreementreceived by you from your brother ?—No ; we received no draftfrom
him.

102. You are aware that a draft agreementbetween Mr. James "Brogden and the Government was
prepared ?—I am aware of that, from the fact that Dr. Featherston afterwards gave me a copy

103. You had that copy before you signed the agreement in June, 1872?—Yes.
104. Are you aware whether your brother took legal advice in the colony when that draft was

under consideration?—No ; I think he declined to sign, and referred the matter to us.
105. In your evidence you said it was nearly signed by your brother?—No; I said that

Dr. Featherston said he had nearly signed.
106. Your brother had the opportunity of taking legal advice in the colony as to the power to

recover?—No doubt he had the opportunity; but he did not need to take it, as he had declined to
sign it.

107 Did he make any communication to you on it ?—Not beyond the letter you have got.
108. In which he did not enclose the draft?—ln which he did' not enclose the draft.
109. You say the Agent-General represented there would be no difficulty in collecting under the

particular form which was eventually adopted?—Yes; that form was settled by him.
110. You had seen the despatch of the Agent-General of the 10th July, 1873 ?—lt was read over

to me by Dr. Featherston; not the whole of it, but the part that related to our letters of the 12th
Juno and the 10th July

111. Was that in consequence of a request by you to Dr. Featherston that he would favourably
recommend your claim to the Government?—It was theresult of much negotiationwith him.

112. Was there any admission by the Agent-General, when you said he had made these repre-
sentations, that he had made them?—There was no denial of them.

113 But was there any admission so far as you observed. He said he would recommend your
claim to the favourable considerationof the Government,but he never admitted in writing that he had
made the representations you allege?—l can only answer the question by putting a parallel case.
Suppose a man did not admit owing me a sum of money, but paid me, I should consider 1 had gotall I
required. When Dr. Featherston said he hadrecommended our proposals, I considered that to be an
admission of the whole question.

114. Did you ask the Agent-General, when you hadconversations, to make an admission as to the
representations? —No; certainly not. I was quite satisfied with the recommendation. That covered
the whole ground.

115. Did you at any time ask the Agent-General to make an admission that he had made the repre-
sentations ? I did. He admittedall that is stated in that letter; but I couldnever get him to reduce
it to writing.

116. Did you ask him ?—I did ; but he would not give any answer.
117 What was the margin of £5 for?—That was to cover the risk of loss and the expense of

collection ; and a very foolish arrangement it was for everybody except the Government, and I do not
think it was very good for themeither.

118. I find in February or March, 1873, you had 525 men in your employ, and that on the 9th
September, 1873, you had 218 men ?—Yes.

119. You had then sufficient notice that your men were dwindling awayvery fast ?—Yes.
120. Why didyou not take steps then to recover from those in your employment ?—We did by

deducting from the wages of those who remained with us and so longas they remained with us ; but as
to those who had left we found it very costly, and we generally spent more money than we received.

121. Mr. Henderson, in his evidence before the Committee, said it did not pay to put the men in
prison because it cost 10s, a week each to keep them there ?—Yes.
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122. And in the present petition you allege you were wronged by the abolition of imprisonment
for debt ?—Yes.

123. How do you reconcile that ?—ls it necessary for me to reconcile all anomalies ? If a man
was free he was able to earn 6s. or 7s. a day, and the fact of a man being kept in gaol at a cost of 10s.
a week would not be a strong inducement to remain there.

1245. But Mr. Henderson complained that the imprisonment was useless, and you complain of its
abolition?—The liability to imprisonment was to a great extent a deterrent. We had no knowledgeat
Home that the practice here differed so materially At Home if a man was imprisoned for debt it was
not at the cost of the creditor.

Mr. Travers: And imprisonment here extinguished the right to distrain at the rate of so much
per month, and that is not so at Home.

Mr. Sell: It does not extinguish the debt.
Mr. Travers : No ; but it extinguishes the liability to a fresh imprisonment.
125. Mr. Bell^ All the expenses except for transhipment were actually repaid ?—No, not all.
126. Has the claim for expenses of landing, &c., ever been rendered before?—Yes, years ago.
127. Can you state the amount you have actually received. I have a statement that it is about

£1,106?—I think our figures very nearly agree.
128. These moneys were repaid you for landing and medical comforts for your immigrants ?—Yes.
129. The expenses which have been refused, except this small part of your outstanding claim, are

expenses of transhipment?—The largest part; therest is for medicalattendance and other things.
130. About £300 you still claim for these ?—Yes.
131. And you have received £1,100?—Yes.
132. I should like to ask this : Was not thereal difficulty,in recovering onthe notes, that you could

notprove the signatures ?—Thatwas not theprincipal difficulty In many cases there was that difficulty
The principal difficulty was in finding the men. The men, finding that they had to pay us a large sum
of money, left our employment, and could not be found so as to be served with notice.

133. But the difficulty about the signatures of course was known to your solicitorsin England ?—
Certainly It was suggested at first to get the men to re-sign here, and we did send out some
notes to sign, but the men were certain to be very unwilling to sign here. After that, we sent out in
other ships some agent who had witnessed the signatures.

134. When you entered into the agreement of June, 1872,was the Government charging its immi-
grants £15 ?—No ; £10 on promissory note, or £5 cash.

135. So, if your immigrants had to pay £L5in the colony at that time, they were in a less beneficial
position : they had to pay £5 more if they met their engagements?—Yes.

136. You were aware of that difference when you entered into the contract?—Yes; but we were
not allowed to send out under £5 cash, or £10 promissory note, and Dr. Fcatherston would not be
bound by the agreement for more than a week; but held himselffree to give notice at any time, and
stated that he should make the terms more onerous to other applicants.

137 I understand you to say that Dr. Featherston stated that the G-overnment terms would
be made more onerous ?—Yes ; Dr. Featherston said and wrote that the terms on which the emigra-
tion was then conducted were too favourable.

138. You had the opportunity in England of judging what the effect upon your immigrants would
be of finding that they had to pay more on landing than Government immigrants?—lf the difference
was a question of £10 and £15 that is one thing, but a difference between £5 and £15 is a d.fferent
thing, and would create a very different impression on the minds of the immigrants. These peoplewere
very poor, and could not provide thekits the Government insisted on their being provided with before
they would accept them as suitable, and we had to provide that for them. We should not otherwise
have got them in time. We considered that, by giving them the advantage of enabling them to come,
the difference between £10 and £15 was not so serious an obstacle.

139. You had the opportunity to consider this, and did ?—Yes.
140. And you were not less competent than any other person inLondon to consider that?—No.
141. There was no compulsion on you to enter into that agreement ?—-No. It was an extremely

foolish agreement to enter into.
142. You went into it with your eyes open, and you knew of this difference between the £5 and

the £10 ?—Yes.
143. The Chairman.'] I should like to hearfrom you why you undertook the duty of bringing these

people out to the colony ?—The reason was that we were under contract with the Government for
works to the extent of £500,000, and we had negotiated a contract (which was not subsequently
affirmed) for a much larger sum. It was thencontemplated to give us workto the extent of £1,000,000,
and naturally we knew the labour market was a very important question in reference to the carrying-
out of any public works, and to have a certain control over these people would be of very great
moment in keeping the price of labour down to a moderate amount. That is the reason which induced
us to consider it at all.

144. Before any agreement was come to, you undertook to send out immigrants with theAgent-
General?—There was an agreement of the 18th December, 1871, which bound the Governmentto give
works to the extent of £700,000, or else fall back on No. 2 contract. There was an agreement absolutely
existing for the execution of works in December, 1871. That was the groundwork of ourentertaining
the idea of going into immigration at all.

145. Before thecontract of the 27th June, 1872,was signed you appearto have sent outpeople to the
colony Was that of your own motion, or under some verbal agreement?—As I said, we should have sent
out 500 or 600people to carry on the workswe had in hand. Government were to give us these works.

146. But those sent out before the contract, was that done because a member of your firm here
suggested it, or done of your own motion in England?—We understood there was a great scarcity of
men. We had been advised by the Agent-General, and also by despatches we had received from here,
that, if we made any great demands on the labour market, we should disturb it.

147 Then, this was not the result of any agreement between yourselves and the Agent-General?
r—When we knew we had got contracts approaching £1,000,000 we always intended to send out 500
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or 600 men in some way as "soon as we had the work for them; but the immigration scheme was
as it were grafted on to it.

148. Before the June contract took effect did you send out any people ?—Yes.
149. Was there any understanding as to thatwith the Agent-General?—The understanding was

this: We had begun to arrange for the men in the early part of the month of March, 1872, and sent
them out by the ship " Schiehallion." During the time that these men weregetting ready the nego-
tiations for the immigration scheme went on. Our first intention was to pay for the passages of those
men ourselves, but as they became part of the subsequent agreementthey were embodiedin that. TTp
to signing the agreement we had sent 400 men. We always intended to have sent that number, and
should have paid for them if there had been no agreement.

150. Then you commenced operations with the intention of paying yourselves for these men?—
Yes.

151. Some weresent out after the contract was signed who were engaged before ?—Yes. It takes
along time to get themready On the 28th June we sent 150 statuteadults by the " Bebington,"
and that would make 550 men to that day During the months of April and May we were actively
negotiating the contract.

152. The immigrationcontract was no part of the contract for public works ?—No.
153 Simply the result of negotiations between the Agent-General and yourself?—Remitted

from this side for us to settle. I did not understand at first it was so remitted. I only understood
that in April.

154. It was completed between yourselves and the Agent-General entirely voluntarily on
your part ?—Yes. It was pressed upon us with every consideration the Agent-General could
urge. There werealso the clearest intimationsthat from pressure on this side he wished us to takeit.

155. You have stated you understood you were to suffer no loss in consequence of that ?—We
understood it was to be on the terms that we were neither to make aprofit nor a loss, that it should be
a self-adjusting arrangementthat we were torecoverthe moneys and to hand them over. The question
assumed at different times three phases. One was to put increased prices on the works here to cover
losses. Another was that there should be a contract based on similar terms to JNo. 1 contract, viz.,
an account to be kept of the actual cost, and that to readjust itself. Eventually Dr. Featherston urged
there was no finality in that plan, and that he was quite sure in the reduction to £10 we could not
sustain any loss ; his personal experiencewas a voucher for it.

156. You were merely to act as agents for the Government?—That was quite our impression.
157 There is nothing in the contract or any other document to show that?—There are letters

in which we stated we considered ourselves as agents for the Government. Our subsequent letters,
very early after the agreement, say so.

158. Did you receive any consideration in your public works contracts on account of these men ?
—Not a penny

159. In any subsequent contract there was no arrangement as to price on that account?—Not a
penny The engineer, in his evidence, spoke most distinctly on that.

160. In making arrangements between your engineer and the Government Engineer, were the
prices those ordinarily ruling in the colony?—I can only speak from information, not being here,

161. As far as I understand, there were two phases of the question. In the first instance, your
engineer,in conjunction with the GovernmentEngineer, agreed to the prices. Then the engineerrecom-
mended the contract to the Government. Afterwards, tne arrangementswere different; there was no
communication betweenyour engineerand the Government Engineer, but you tendered?—Quite so ;
Mr. Carruthei's says this in his evidence before the Committeeof 1878, viz. : " [The Chairman.] Was
your estimate not made for the guidance and information of Ministers, and in all cases was it not left
with Ministers to decide upon the final price to be paid for the contracts?'' Yes. [lion.
Mr. Richardson] Are you not aware that in every case where the Brogdens have tenderedfor work
an allowance was made, in dealing with their estimate, of 15 per cent, above your estimate, as the
cost of the work if let by public competition?—ln making up the estimate I always took out what
I imagined to be the cost if let in small contracts, and to that sum I added an amount for manage-
ment, profits, and the risk incurred if taken by sub-contractors. I do not remember whether the
amount was 15 per cent.; I think it was more."

162. Were these questions with reference to the early part of the arrangements?—All with
reference to the early part of the arrangements,that is the time he was fixing the prices in conjunction
with our engineer.

163. You state you know nothing of the prices yourself?—l was not here; I had nothing to do
with the fixing of prices, but I have witnesses here.

164. Have you not made inquiries ?■—Yes ; and I am able to say these statements by Mr. Carru-
thers are absolutely the fact.

165. Is it your opinion, after making the inquiries, that the prices were the current rates at the
time?—Yes ; the current prices given to other contractors, irrespective of immigration altogether.
Mr. Carruthers says so, and our own people say so ; and I think Mr. Richardson himself says so. I
will read: " [To Hon. Mr. Richardson] : Has any consideration been made in these contracts to the
Messrs. Brogden for any loss which might fall upon them by the introduction of immigrants. I mean,
has any special sum been given, or special allowancemade, in regard to immigrants?—No.
[To Mr. Ormond] : Was any special allowance made to theBrogdens for any loss they might sustain
by the introduction of immigrants?—In fixing the price of contracts, the two questions were never
connected. [To Mr. Reeves] : In making contracts for works, was there any special
allowancemadeto the Messrs. Brogden for any loss theymight sustain through the introduction of
immigrants?—No, I am not aware of any "

Mr. Bell here put in the letter of the 10th July 1873,alreadyreferred to from the Agent-General
to the Hon. the Colonial Secretary "7, Westminster Chambers, Victoria Street, Westminster, 10th.
July, 1873.—Sir,—I have the honor to inform you tha.t I had yesterday a conference with the Messrs,

3—l. U.
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Brogden, at which the Hon. Mr. Hall was present. Mr. Hall, in the discussion, detailed fully the
negotiations which had taken place in the colony between the Governmentand Mr. James Brogden.
Messrs. Brogdenrepeated the statements made in their letter of the 12th June, which was forwarded
to you on that day, and contended that they had been deceived both by the Government and myself:
that, owing to the delay of the Government in giving them contracts, they had no work to give the
emigrants on their arrival; that many of them consequently left their service; and that I had led
them to believe that there would be little or no difficulty iv obtainingpayments of the promissory
notes given to them by the emigrants; whereas their agents in the colony had informed them that
only a very trifling amount could be recovered. Under these circumstances theymaintainedthat they
were entitled to be reimbursed by the Government for the whole of their outlay on emigration. It
was pointed out to them that Mr. James Brogden had commenced the negotiations in the colony, and
hadbeen on the point ofsigning a contract, when at the last moment he declined on the ground that
he preferred that the terms of the contract should be arranged between his brothers and myself. That
in order that they might be secured against loss, I agreed that they should take a promissory note for
£15 from each adult, they giving to the Government the promissory note of £10 per adult. That this
allowanceof 33 per cent, might be deemed ample to secure them against loss, especially as these emi-
grants went out under engagement with them, and on the distinct understanding that a certain amount
should be deducted each week from their wages towardspayment of their promissory notes. That the
emigrants, consisting principally of navvies, wererequired for the public works they were contracting
for, and were not such as the Government would have selected. That the vast majority of them were
single men, who, under the regulations, if ihey had gone out as Government emigrants, would have
been obliged to pay at least £4 in cash towards the cost of their passages, &c. This discussion, which
lasted two hours, ended without any arrangement which I could recommend for adoption by the
Government being proposed by them. lam free, however, to admitthat, if there is any probability of
Messrs. Brogden losing nearly the whole of their advances from causes not in any way of their own
creating, it is not unreasonable for them to expect some concession on the part of the Government.
It will be seen that the amount of the promissory notes given by the emigrants to Messrs. Brogden is
£39,874 13s. 4d.; that the sum paid by Messrs. Brogden on account of the emigrants is £11,411
Bs. 9d. ; and that the Government hold Messrs. Brogden's promissory notes to the amount of £18,240.
To meet Messrs. Brogden's debt to the Government, and to reimburse them these advances to the
emigrants, a sum of £29,651 Bs. 9d. would have to be recovered from the emigrants. If, as I under-
stand, 525 of the emigrants are employed by the Messrs. Brogden, it appears to me that there
ought not to be any great difficulty in recovering this amount, especially if the Government
co-operated with Messrs. 'Brogden; but, of course the Government are alone able to form a sound
opinion on the matter.—l have, &c, I. E. Featheestok, Agent-General.—The Hon. the Colonial
Secretary, Wellington, New Zealand."

166. The Chairman.^ You have stated that you were not informed of many of the circumstances in
regard to the difficulty of collectingthese promissory notes. Do you make that statementafter reading
this letter of the 25th November, 1871, writtenby your brother in the colony, with respect to former
difficulties in collecting these moneys?—We were informed that the former difficulties in recovering
were through the form of promissory note not being a good one—one that could not be enforced; and
we had to take special care as to the form, so as to make sure of the recovery of the money

167 Then you state that Dr. Featherston saying the power of recovery under these notes
was ample, was to a certain extent misrepresenting the case ?—I should be very sorry to say
Dr. Featherston would misrepresent anything. I think, perhaps, he was too sanguine, because, when
we were discussing that question, he said we should not have any difficulty with these men, because
we were their employers, and that would be quite different from the province bringing in immigrants.

168. I do not saythere was intentioualmisrepresentation, but that therewas misrepresentation in
effect?—It misled us, no doubt.

169. You have stated the Government did not provide work for the men in accordance with the
terms of agreement between yourself and the Government on their arrival?—Yes. The Agent-
General had not power to commit the Government absolutely to give us works—it was not within
his powers; but the two things were bound together. These men werefor the purpose of carrying out
works. At the time of the early negotiations we had no contract at all except some temporary work
at Auckland. We were absolutely sending out ships in anticipation of contracts to be made. With
reference to the "Jessie Eeadman," thesemen in her arrived just as we had arranged for the construc-
tion of the Upper Hutt line. Everything had been settled except that Governmentwished to alter
the general conditions in one respect, and to make us responsible for the designs of the Engineer,
Those men disappeared wholly because we had no work for them to go upon.

170. There was no written agreement between yourselves and the Government that these men.
were to bo employed ?—No ; but the whole object of the immigration was to carry out works. The
despatches show the greatest anxiety that immigrants should be sent over with all possible speed.

171. What is the total amount ofyour claim upon the Government ?—The statement is put in.
172. Yes, but I wish to have it in evidence.—£20,739 15s. lOd. on account of promissory notes

and interest, plus £767 9s. 6d. for transhipment charges, but minus £1,040 receivedfrom immigrants.
173. That is to be deducted from this £20,739?—Yes; and we are quite free to admit to the

extent of the 500 or 600 people we were going to send out. We do not wish to prefer any claim to
that, extent,because we should have done that in any instance.

174. That is to be deducted also ?—Yes ; £3,000.
175. And that leaves a balance of £17,467 ss. 4d. ?—Yes.
176. Then your net claim is £L7,467 ss. 4d. ?—Yes.
177 Hon. Mr. Richardson..] There was a good deal of evidence on the question before that

Committee of 1873. Mr. Reeves, who was Chairman of that Committee, was the gentleman who had
the negotiation of the contracts with Mr. James Brogden ?—Yes.

178. Mr. Henderson was your agent then, and was here in connection with your brother ?—Yes.
J79. I should like to call the Committee's attention—perhaps I had better read some questions.
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Mr. John Henderson is asked, " (Question 25.) Do you not remember that the consideration of the
difficulties the firm would certainly have to encounter in obtaining a sufficient supply of labour at
reasonable rates formed a very important element in the terms granted by the G-overnment to the
firm ? I wish you clearly to understand me: I mean that the probable rates of labour were urged on
the part of the firm as a reason for considerably moreliberality being granted by the Government?—That was one reason why we were anxious to bring out men upon the same terms as they werebrought
out by the Government; otherwise we should have employed labour from a much cheaper market.
We were desirous of bringing out men that would be useful not only to ourselves but likewise to the
colony Had it been otherwise we would have got men from another quarter altogether. (Question
26.) The bearing of my question is this: All these considerations with regard to the cost and the
difficulty of obtaining a supply of labour, including the cost the firm would be put to in getting labour
from Great Britain or elsewhere, were fully urged by you in the conduct of these negotiations,and put
forward as a demand on the part of the firm and admittedas a fair and reasonableclaim for moreliberal
terms than would otherwise have been asked ?—Yes, they were."—I should like to ask whether the
claim is based altogether subsequent to the action of the Government in June, 1872, or whether you
had any claim on the Government in connection with immigration before that?—We were sending
out immigrants before the actual terms were settled. I do not think it possible to drawa line as to
all tbat was done prior to the agreement being signed, because on the 2nd May the Agent-General
writes saying the terms were settled but were not reduced to writing. The contract itself was not
drawn up and signed until the 27th June.

180. Mr. Barron.~\ In addition to the contract embodied in the promissory notes I understand you
tad another contract. That was an agreementbinding the men to you for two years ?—Yes.

181. Were you able to enforce that?—No ; unfortunately, at that time there was no lawof master
and servant, I believe ; here as in England, we were neverable to bind the men.

182. You have not made any claim upon the Government because you were unable to enforce
that?—No. That was a very serious disappointment to us, because it defeated all our calculations.
But we cannot make a claim on that account; that is too remote.

183. In your main contract you allow 10 per cent, for profit, 5 per cent for management, and
12^- per cent, for contingencies?—Yes.

184. Then you had a margin upon the promissory notes of 50 per cent., apart from the general
contract ?—Yes ; that is, 50 per cent, on the passage-money We advanced more than half as much
again in the way of payments per kits. In June, 1872, before we had made this agreement, instruc-
tions weresent to the Agent-General from this side not to demand payment of the £1 for ships kit
and to pay the expenses, if necessary, of taking people to the ship insteadof their paying their own
expenses. All this is not included in the £10 we paid for passage-money

185. You were entitled to recover £15 ?—Yes.
186. And were only expected to pay the Government £10?—Yes.
187 And the other £5 should be?—For the loss of collection, and the risk of losing by deaths

and people falling into sickness. Mr, Barron : for bad debts, in fact.
188. Have you endeavoured to exhaust the parties to these promissory notes?—Not in every

individual case. We found it was a very unprofitable business ; the expenses were so large. We
spent £735 in trying to recover in law expenses alone, besides the expenses of our. own agents. We
have recovered some money by legal proceedings.

189. It was so expensive you abandoned all idea of recovering more moneyfrom the immigrants
themselves ?—Yes. Of course the time for recovery has now expired by the statute of limitations.
It has only just expired.

190. Before the time had expired, you did not use all necessary means to recover, simplybecause
it was unprofitable?—-We took allpossible means, but we could not find the people to a large extent.
I would rather you would ask Mr. Billing these questions, because he practically had the carrying
out of it, and can give more direct evidence than I can.

191. When you entered into the contract with these immigrants, you knew exactly so long as they
remained in your employment you had the opportunity to recover ?—We had control over them.

192. But when they left you found it very difficult and costly to enforce the contract ?—Yes.
193. When you entered into the contract in England you took that risk?—Yes; to that extent—

i.e., of having to enforce a contract which, for all we knew or were informed, was binding in New
Zealand as in England, and which the Courts would uphold.

194. Youknew there was arisk of their leaving your employment, and knew, if they did, the diffi-
culty and cost would be greater?—We understood there were no other works going on, so that they
could not find employment if they left us. We expectedthere would be a certain percentage of deser-
tion, and were quite prepared to meet that; but we did not conceive there would be wholesale deser-
tion, as we expected the law would be effective to prevent that. The whole scheme proved to be
unwisely drawn up. Men found that they had £15 to pay, and were much disgusted when others had
to pay only £5, and so they went to work for other employers. When men came on Government
terms, and were left free from prosecution by the Government, our men thought they should be put
on the same level. If the Government had prosecuted for the recovery of their £10 promissory notes
from immigrants we should have had a better hold upon our men; but the Government early gave up
proceedingsfor the recovery of their notes. As I said most distinctly, it was never contemplated by
us to make any profit out of this immigration. The margin was only given to cover losses which might
reasonably be expected to occur, and the scheme was not our own.

Fkiday, 15th July, 1881.
Mr. A. Bbogden's examination continued.

195. Mr. Ttirnbull] Did you take into consideration, in accepting the contract for works, that you
would have to import your labour ?—No ; but we certainly contemplated that we should have to send
out 600 or 700 men.
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196. "Were not contracts taken under the open system at a much lower rate ?—I am not able to
reply from my own knowledge ; but I believe that many of the contractors who have taken contracts
at low rates havefailed.

197 Did your firm succeed in obtaining any contracts under the open system?—l do not
remember if we tendered for any under that system.

198. Was the extra £5 taken as a guarantee? That was the sum fixed upon by Dr. Featherston,
as being sufficient to guarantee us against ioss; and, if we had recovered that, it would have gone to
reduce the loss we might sustain from others failing. That £5 was intended to cover the risk arising
under ordinary circumstances.

199. Was it to enable you to take all the risks yourselves ?—No ; Ido not think so. We were
acting, as it were, under Governmentadvice. The Government were taking promissory notes of £10
each from other immigrants ; hut theyhave not recovered the amount of those promissory notes.

200. How much did you claim?—We claimed £L7,467 ss. 4d.
201. Is that the only sum which, under the circumstances, should be paid to you?—That is the

only sum which, under present arrangements, we ask to be paid; but even then we would suffer avery
large loss. We do not claim from Government the amount of money which we paid for immigrants'
kits, &c.

202. -You stated that if you had sent out 600 men, you would have been at the expense of about
£3,000 in doing so ?—Yes; if we had sent out these 600 men, we should have sent them out at £5
each, as that was the arrangementon the subject with Dr. Featherston.

203. Does this number of immigrants include the men's families?—In that case, we should not
have selected men with families at all. We should have selected special men, who would either go to the
colonies leaving their families behind them, or thosewho had no families. Of course, there might have
been a few exceptions, if we wanted special men; and, in that case, we might have sent out their
families also. In the 18th paragraph of the petition, we say: "Out of the 2,000 male immigrants
and their families contemplated to be sent out by your petitioners, 1,877 statute adults, or 2,174
persons, were actually forwarded, and of these, no less than 887 or 41 per cent., were women and
children—a class much more valuable to the colony than to your petitioners."

204. Would the men have been likely to have left without their families ?—Many of the first
men who were selected went out leaving their wives behind ; but men with families would probably
make bettersettlers than men without them.

205. In your agreeing with the men, did you take any particular care to find out that you would
be able to enforce payment of the promissory notes ?—We concluded that the law would enforce
paymentof the promissory notes. We thought the law of master and servant, or some other similar
law, existed in this colony; and weconsidered that,if such were not the case, either the Agent-General
or some of his officers would have informed us of the fact.

206. Do you know that repeated attempts were made by yourbrother, whilst here, to bring the
Masters and Servants Act into operation in this colony?—No, I do not know that he did; but in
those days there was no telegraph between here and England, and communication was necessarily
delayed. And betweenMarch and 2nd May, when this agreement was first under consideration and
settled, it was impossible to get informationon all subjects of this kind, properly and in time.

207 I understood you to say that you gave two bills to Government for £18,240 ?—We gave
them several bills.

208. At that time, when youknew the Government were bringing out immigrants at such prices,
did you enter any protest?—Yes, undoubtedly we did; and we should have resisted payment of the
promissory notes in the English Courts, I think successfully,but here we could not do so. The
Government deducted the money for the amount of thepromissory notes forcibly, from moneys which
they owed us for works done. The fact of the matter is, that, while we were sending out immigrants,
and were charged by the Government £10 each, they were sending them out for £5 each. We have
had to pay twice as much as any of the others. The very month of June, 1872, in which the agree-
ment of 27th June was signed, instructions were sent from here to alter the Government terms,
making them morn favourable to immigrants—viz., the £1 which was required from each immigrant
for his kit, was after that time to be at the charge of Government, and not of the immigrant; and
there was a great modification of the terms altogether,and a constant diminution of the charges to
the immigrants. All this time, however, we were made to pay the £10, and the £1. for ship's kit. (It
is to be observed that, before there was any deduction made from our contract moneys for the amount
of the promissory notes, we made our appeal to the Agent-General, viz., in June, 1873.)

209. Were the deductions on account of promissory notes you refer to made in England or this
colony?—They were made here. The letter of the 10th July, 1873, produced at last sitting of the
Committee, is the answer to our appeals in the previous month. 1 would repeat here that, if Govern-
ment had attempted to recover the money for the promissory notes in England, we should have resisted
theirclaim before the Courts of Justice.

210. Did your representative here try to resist the claim?—Yes.
211. I believe you paid here a good deal of money awayin cash ?—Yes ; for medical treatment,&c.
212. Had it anything to do with the transhipment of immigrants ?—No. Some expenses connected

with the landing, &c, of immigrants have beenrepaid to us by the Government; but I do not consider
these transhipment charges. In respect of transhipping these men from one port to another, we have
paid £767 We were urged, to send the men out by the Agent-General, and, at the time many of them
cameout, we had no works to put them on at the place they arrived at; and we had in many cases to
send them to other ports. In fact, the Government put pressure both upon us and the Agent-General
to send men out, before the contracts for works with us were entered into.

213. In your letter to the Agent-General, your agent seems to have been aware that considerable
difficulty existed in collecting the moneys for promissory notes ?—Yes ; but we thought that some
mistake might have been made in the matter; and Dr. Featherston assured us that our agent must
have been in fault. As soon as we found out that difficulty was experienced by our agent here, we
stopped sending out immigrants. The last few ships we sent out contained only the people with whom
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We had previously come to an agreement. At that time strikes were frequent in England, and, if it
had not have been for that circumstance, we should not have been able to get men to come out.
Practically, we did not send anybody out after we had received this unsatisfactory intelligence.

214. Did you not receive considerablebenefit through bringing these immigrants out—did not the
fact of their corning out enable you to obtain labour cheaper than you otherwise would?—For the time
being, there was a considerableinfluence in the wages, through the numberof immigrants coming out;
but, immediately afterwards, Government letother contracts for public works to many other contractors,
and there was great competition for labour.

215. In a letter from Sir Julius Vogel, written on the 3rd July 1874, he says: "In considering
the amounts they were to be paid, Messrs. Brogden and Sons frequently referred to the expenses they
might have to incur in importing labour, and theprices fixed included heavy margins forcontingencies."
What was the margin for contingencies?—At Home, 10 per cent, is the margin generally put on.
That percentage will secure you a little profit with good management, but with bad management you
are certain to lose on it. In this case we charged 12| per cent., which, in a new country, I consider
fair. At the same time, the extra 2^- per cent, was not profit.

21G. It appears, also, that your firm is favourable to the payment of a high rate of wages?—That
is absurd. So long as we had the largest amountof work in hand wekept the wages down to a moderate
rate, but after that they became outrageous.

217 Were the immigration contracts and the contracts for works in any way connected?—
The two things stood entirely on their own bottom—that is to say, the immigration and the works
contracts were entirely separate and distinct undertakings.

218. Who arranged these matters?—Mr. Henderson, on our part, arranged the prices for the
works, and Mr. Carruthers on the part of Government. Subsequently, however, the works were let by
tender.

219. In the making up of your accounts in connection with these contracts, how does this immi-
gration matter stand?—We have kept a separate account of it altogether.

220. Has it ever been taken into profit and loss ?—Yes ; we were obliged to do that.
221. Captain Kenny.'] When negotiations were first commenced between you and the Agent-

General, with reference to immigration, had there been any agreement respecting the contracts which
wereafterwards entered into, or proposed to be entered into, between you and Sir Julius Vogel?—No.
There were preliminary contracts entered into in England which were not ratified by the Assembly ;
but that was previous to ourentering into the immigration arrangements. Then that led to a suspensory
agreement; and all agreements, both that for the £4,0J0,000 and that for the£500,000, weresuspended,
although the contract for £500,000 was binding both on Government and on us. All these contracts
were suspended, pending negotiations that were going on. About that time we were authorized to go
on with certain works in Auckland, for which we should be paid on certain terms,until newterms were
arranged. The new contracts werenot arranged till August, 1872.

222. Tour proposition to assist Government in introducing immigrants was to your own interest,
as you looked forward to employing men largely in New Zealand, and knew that the price of labour
would probably rise in consequence of the influx of capital and the extra employment. You say there
was a necessity for doing what you could in the way of reducing the price of labour in the colony?—
Tes ; but it was not our proposition. The negotiation was commenced by the Government, and we
undertook this matter at their request.

223. It was simply as a business man that you entered into this arrangement, and not from any
sentiment at all ?—Tes ; it was simply a business arrangement.

224. You contend that, having to some extent furthered the interests of the colony, you are
entitled to somecompensation ?—Yes ; but we have, even in that point of view, been charged twice as
much by Governmentas the Government have charged anybody else.

225. May I ask you whether, in making that complaint againstGovernment, you are guided by the
same line of argument which you would adopt if you were transacting business with a private firm?—
Yes, if the provisions were the same. If, for instance, I took a contract for carting material on a road
on which there was no toll-bar, and if afterwards a toll-bar was erectedby the person with whom I had
contracted, I should certainly have felt myself entitled to compensation in consequence of having to
pay toll-dues, which I did not contemplate when I took the contract. I should say, in a case of that
sort, "I am entitled to have these dues remitted; but, if lam compelled to pay them, lam entitled to
some compensationfrom the person from whom I took the contract."

226. Did you not apprehend that the Legislature would interfere with the law of the colony
relating to imprisonment for debt?—You must remember that these things are in the nature of condi-
tions precedent. It was upon the assurance of a certain person that we enteredinto this agreement,
and, if the conditions which he set forth were altered, the results must be altered also. The conditions
precedent were that we had certainsecurity—we were assured that we had that security by the Agent-
General, who was the representative of the Government.

227 You have, of course, examined the proceedings of a former Committee. I see from the
papers that Mr. Henderson was asked a question before the Committee to the following effect—it is
on page 5 : "Do you not remember that the consideration of the difficulties that the firm would
certainly have to encounter in obtaining a sufficient supply of labour at reasonable rates formed a very
important element in the terms granted by the Government to the firm. I wish you clearly to under-
stand me: I mean that the probable rates of labour wereurged on the part of thefirm as a reasonfor
considerably more liberality being granted by the Government." The answerto that question was :

" That was one reason why we were anxious to bring out men upon the same terms as they were
brought out by the Government. Otherwise we would have employed labour from a much cheaper
market. We were desirous of bringing out men that would be useful, not only to ourselves but like-
wiseto the Colony Had it been otherwise, we would have got men from another quarter altogether."
The difficulties of the labour market it seems by this were taken into consideration by your agent
here, or by yourself in going into this matter ?—That we were bound to consider that we should
disturb the labour market very much was pretty manifest. I may say that Mr. Gisborne distinctly
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states, in his despatch of the 25th November, 1871, that Government had opened negotiations with
Mr. James Brogden.
" 228. You have said that you had no desire to make a profit, nor did you wishto make a loss by this

work. Now, as a contractor of large experience, you must know how very importantan element the
cost of labour will be in taking a contract, and consequently you would naturally leave a large margin
to meet the case of a rise in theprice of labour ?—Tes ; but thatonly refers to the labour we employed,
not to the men we imported under the emigration agreement. The price we paid for the labour we
employed was that on which we based our contract price, and we charged accordingly; but this is a
claim for sums paid on account of immigration. No doubt the introduction of so many immigrants
would have an effect upon the labour market, and we complain that we should receive only apartial
benefit while bearing the whole cost, and further that the Government have charged us twice as much
as they have charged any other persons, whereas the colony, and not us, has had advantage of these
people.

229. You, in making the allowance for the rise in wages, would simply be following the law else-
where ?—Yes.

230. You no doubt made your contract with the view of recouping yourself by paying a lesser
price to the men you brought to the colony than they would have got elsewhere ?—No ; they would
not work for us for less than they could get from anybody else. We were to pay them a minimum
wage of ss. per day but at the same time, if the minimumrate of wages in the colony was greaterthan
that, they were to receive the current rate. The agreementwas thatany dispute respecting therate of
wages that might arise should be settledby the Governor We actually introduced moreadultmales than
the Governmentdid during the same time,and we didso at ourown expense, while,at the same time, we
have paid doublethe amount charged by Government for bringing out other immigrants. We had to
pay in passage-money alonefor our 1,800 males and their families £18.240, while Governmentintro-
duced 3,262 people at a cost to the emigrants which at £5 each would be about £16,000.

231. You say you think that it is unfair that Governmentshould have charged you twice as much
for your immigrants as they paid for their own—will you explain that ?—Yes The utmost price
Government charged to any immigrant for cash was £5, and they charged us £10 ; that is to say,
if an emigrant applied for a passage to New Zealand he would only be charged £5 by Government,
while if we sent him out we would have to pay £10 for him.

232. If you applied for your immigrants to be sent out for £5 for each immigrant, would you
not be able to get it ?—No; they would not allow us to take advantage of that assisted scale. Our
promissory notes werereally cash, because Government took the money due to us to pay these notes,
and Government also greatly relaxed the terms to the other persons going out.

233. When you found Government would not accept your terms, were you obliged to accept
their terms ?—No ; we could not have been bound or compelled to send out one man.

234. And when you found that Government were imposing too onerous duties upon you, why did
you not refuse to send out any more ?—Look at Dr. Featherston's letterof the 16th July, 1872, and the
despatch named in it, and consider whetherwe could have thrown up the contract and declined to
send out more men. We could not tell actually whether we would have work given to us on the date
of thearrival of these men, and at the same time we were pressed to send them out.

235. You continued to send out immigrants thinking that your agreement was valid ?—Yes.
236. What was the date of Mr. Travers's opinion ?—sth September, 1872.
237 After you found the agreementwas invalid, you determinedto send no more immigrants ?—

We sent a few people with whom engagements had been made, but as soon as we found that arrange-
ments were unsatisfactory we ceased sending people out.

238. Hon. Mr. Dick.] How many men did you agree to bring out?—2,ooo men with their
families, altogether not exceeding 6,000 persons. We were bound by Government only to charge £15
per head.

239. When you first entered into this agreement, was Government bringing out immigrants ?—
Yes ; but not very largely

240. Were they doing it at £5 per head then ?—Yes, for assisted and nominated immigrants ; for
other immigrants the price was £1 deposit, and a promissory notefor £10.

241. Then you knew, when you entered into this arrangementwith Dr. Featherston, that, whilst
you were charging your people £15, Government were bringing out immigrants for £5 ?—Yes; £5 in
cash, or £10 in promissory notes.

242. Did yourepresent to Dr. Featherston the improbability of people coming out by youfor £15,
whilst they could come out under the Government scheme for £5 cash ?—We were charging £5 more
to our knowledge than the others who gave their promissory notes were being charged, and we were
putting our men to thatextent to a disadvantage. But, on the other hand, our men were in a some-
what better position than the others; because, whilst Government required theirs to provide them-
selves with a certain quantity of clothing, &c, and to pay £1 for ship's kits, and to travel to the ship
at their own expense, we provided our men with tho necessary kits, clothing, &c, and paid their
expenses.

243. Have Government prosecuted the men for not paying their promissory notes ?—They have
ceased to prosecute.

244. When do you consider your arrangement with Dr. Featherston to send out 2,000 men
ceased?—We determined to cease sending out men in November, 1872. I will put in a letter from
our firm in London to the firm here. It is as follows: "We have received telegrams during the past
week, urging us to stop emigration from England. No further vessel has been engaged for our
emigrants, and operations are now suspended. It may, however, turn out that in a few districts a few
familieshave been promised that they should follow by the Decembership, and, as we know that several
have been discharged from theiremployment, and turned out of their cottages in consequenceof having
applied to us for employment, we may find it difficult to refuse to send them out. None will,however,
be sent unless we arepositively committed to do so. A very large amount of money has been already
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invested in this department, and we shall look anxiously for advicesrespecting the men's conduct, and
their arrangements and intentions respecting repayment.—H. Twelyeteees."

245. You say that between June and September you ceased to send out immigrants P—During
that time there was a suspension, but not a stoppage.

246, Then you did not consider that agreement very strong ?—No ; that is not the view to take.
We suspended sending out emigrants in June, because we had no works to employ the men upon, and
we did not then know whereto send them.

247 Then Dr. Eeatherston was not insisting upon your sending out men ?—Tes. See his letter
of July We sent out 1,877 statute adults, of whom about 1,300 were men. We were prepared to
have sent out about 600 of those men ourselves on Government terms.

248. Was that ever proposed?—Tes, and agreed to by the Agent-General. That was when we
werecontemplating sending out men on our own account, but before we had begun to do so. The
letter is dated the Bth February, 1872.

249. And afterwards you sent out a number of men on.the same terms ?—No.
250. I see, by the return put in (Statement D) that during the years 1872 and 1873, when you

were sending out immigrants, the wages were lower than they had been at other times ?—Tes.
251. Does not that show that you got the full benefit of the fall in wages?—No ; but if we had

continued sending out men the labour-market would have still further declined.
252. Does not the fact that Governmentbrought out immigrants indicate that they did something

to help to lower the rate of wages?—On the contrary, the return I have put in shows that up to the
year 1875 the rate of wages was continually increasing.

253. The Chairman.] You stated that Governmenthad alteredthe terms of payment in introducing
immigrants ?—Tes.

254. When was that ?—I could only quote that from hearsay They began in September, 1872.
In August or September they ceased to require £1 deposit. There is a despatch from Mr. Reeves,
dated the sth June, 1872,to the Agent-General, in which he says, " This clause is to be struck out. The
cost of reaching the port of embarkation, the dock fees, and the 20s. or 255. per adult charged for mess
utensils and bedding, together form an amount which, in a great number of cases, must prove
an effectual barrier to the emigration of agricultural labourers and other suitable persons. Where
emigrants can pay these amounts, they should do so; but I cannot too strongly impress on you the
necessity there is that you should pay the railway fares and other charges for those who cannot
pay for themselves, rather than lose desirable emigrants. lam informed that nominatedemigrants,
who have had small sums of money remitted to them for railway fares, have declined passages simply
because they have been unable to raise the additional 20s. or 255. peradultdemandedfor their bedding,
&c.; and where the cost of railway fare has to be borne also it must undoubtedly largely tend to a
similar result. As it would be unfair to make some pay arid not others, you are authorized to
add whatever amounts you pay on these heads to the promissory notes of the emigrant incurring them.
In confirmation of the views I have aboveexpressed, I enclose a letter written at my suggestion by the
Rev G. C Cholmondeley, a clergyman long resident in Canterbury, who, from his knowledge and
experience of the condition of the agricultural labourer in the Old Country and in thecolony, is well
qualified to offer an intelligent opinion on the subject of emigration. I send you the letter, not only
because I fully agree with him in thinking that it is necessary to furnish agricultural labourers and
others with the cost of conveyance from their villages to the docks, but because I think the suggestions
he makes are, as a whole, worthyour attentive perusal."

255. What would that amount to per head?—£2 or £2 10s.
256. When did that letterreach England?—ln August, 1872.
257 At what time did you obtain a knowledge of these things ?—ln November, 1872. Mr.

Waterhouse, who was then Premier, telegraphed over: "Insufficient immigrants. Division between
provinces not accordant with instructions as pointed out by memorandums 114 and 115. Consider
following instructions absolute: Open immediately central Irish Agency in Dublin. Send fair propor-
tion emigration therefrom. Place Scotch Agency on original footing of efficiency Send Scotch
emigrants from Glasgow Complete with utmost despatch number emigrants specified in Gisborne's
memorandum 25th November last, exclusive of nominated and Brogden's, and if necessary make terms
more liberal." And, again, Mr. Waterhouse says, " Government decide, if number of emigrants
ordered not been despatched, you relieve emigrants of cash payments for passage to shipping port,
luggage, or outfit, leaving to your discretion addition of these payments to immigrants' notes. Tele*
graph number emigrants sailed since 22nd September." I believe that was acted upon immediately

258. When did thesematters come to your knowledge?—Not for a long time afterwards. Mr.
Reeves's despatch would not be heard of by us until some time after the telegram had arrived.

259. I suppose, practically, very few immigrants were sent out by you after you found that the
relaxation you have referred to had been made by Government?—Yes ; there were only two small
lots of 99 and 7 respectively

260. I understood you to say that, Government having relaxed their terms, you suffered loss,
whereas, if they had not done so, you would not have lost anything?—Tes, that is practically the
case.

261. Tou stated you ascertained that the agreementyou entered intowith Governmentfor sending
out immigrants was invalid ?—We were so advised by Mr. Travers,but the Courts have since held that
it was not so.

262. What did he advise with respect to the agreement you had enteredinto ?—I will put in the
advice. It is as follows:"I am of opinion that this contract is ultra vires. The 4th section of the
Act o£ 1871requires that all contracts under that Act or under the Act of 1870 shall be in the name
of the Queen, the Governorhaving no power to csntract in his own name, and still less to delegate the
power of contracting. — W T L. Travees.—sth April, 1872."

263. If the agreement is invalid,what claim has Government upon you for promissory notes ?—lf
they had only goneagainst us for the promissory notes in England we should not have been here, and
should have resisted their claim. But, instead of doing that, they retained moneys which wore due to
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us here, and the Courts of law have since held that they are right in doing so, on the ground that
there was a proper set-off.

264. The contracts were accepted with that indorsement by you ?—The contracts made before
could have had the same indorsementput upon them by virtue of this agreement.

265. Before the 27th June?—Made before this document couldhave reached New Zealand. In
fact it could not havereached here until about the end of August.

266. Were the contracts signed by you with that indorsement on them ?—No; those that were
indorsed were so indorsed afterwards.

267 Indorsed with your consent ?—We followed out the agreement, which bound us to agree to
the indorsement. It was done in a way neither with our assent nor dissent.

268. But could you have received contracts, and objected to that indorsement on them ?—I think
so. This immigrationagreement entitles them to the indorsement upon all the contracts.

269. On the 27th June the agreement was made?—'Yes. Thisis the memorandum, in fact, which
was indorsed.

270. Why was that not on all—that indorsement?—I think Mr. Henderson objected to it. There
was ample under any one contract to cover all the moneys.

271. There were sufficient funds under one contract to cover the whole liability ?—Always.
272. And when the Government kept back the money, was it under one contract?—Yes, it was

under one. And they deducted the moneys before they were absolutely due : they paid themselves
in 1876 for moneys that really were only due in 1877

273. Mr. Gave.] With reference to some questions that were asked you by Captain Kenny: In
the year 1872 you were constructing 180 miles of railway, while other contractors w ere only construct-
ing 70 ?—Yes.

274. At that time the rates of wages were lower than at any subsequent time?—Yes.
275. But they were then slightly above the minimum rate of wagesfixed under your agreement

with the men ? Yes ; the minimumrate under our agreement with the men was ss. a day
276. So that at that time you had practically the command of the labour market ?—You may say

we had the command of it in one sense. We had it to a very large extent.
277 But, as other works were given to other contractors, therates of wages increased ?—Yes.
278. The result being that your immigration benefited other contractors rather than yourselves ?

—Yes, other contractors werebenefited along with the rest of the community
270. To what extent would your immigration scheme have extended for thepurpose of your own

works if it had not been for the agreement with the Agent-General ?—As I stated before, we should
have sent out 500 or 600 men.

280. Five hundred or 600 men, with no wives or children?—Not many with wives orchildren.
281. Referring to the contract of the 18th December—the temporary contract—under that you

were to receive 10 per cent, profit only upon the actual expenditure ?—lt was not 10 per cent, profit,
because we had large expenses running on as well. The contract was only about £16,000 altogether
for works here.

282. And there was no allowance made under that for cost of immigration ?—No; we were to
receive the absolute outlay plus 10 per cent. As I said, it was only £.16,000 altogether.

283. The actual expenditure was vouched, was it not ?—Yes.
284. I believe, before entering upon the contract, you had to provide a large capital ?—Yes.

Before we received anything back in England from the moneys sent out here, we had advanced some-
thing like £80,000; that is, we paid away that before we got anything back from this side. Ido not
say we did not get our money from the Government as soon as it was due to us. Ido not wish to be
understood to insinuate that for a moment. I merely mention it as a fact that it required a very large
advance of money before we got anythingback. Altogether we hadpaid about £80,000 out of pocket
before we had any return.

285. And the remuneration you got was 10 per cent.?—Yes, an estimated 10 per cent. As to
the 12$ per cent, for contingencies, of which an honorable member spoke, it is a question whether you
could make 12| per cent, pay or not. With good management a little might be got from it, but with
bad management there would be a loss upon it. The 5 per cent, for management does not cover the
cost, because from it all office expenses, and travelling expenses, and a number of other charges have
to be taken. The 10per cent only is the estimated profit, and that is much eaten into by various
things.

286. A question was put to you by Mr. Bell, in cross-examination, asking why you did not take
steps to recoverfrom the men in your employment when you found the number of men was dwindling
down ?■—Yes, I wish to correct the answer to that question, which is either imperfectlywritten, or I
misunderstood it. We did take steps to recover withreference to our ownmen, not by prosecuting,
but by deducting the money from their wages. The money was only due by instalments, and we
deducted them while the men werein our employ Weretained the instalments from the wages.

287 And you wereonly entitled to deduct so much per week ?—Just so.
288. Of course it was unnecessary to take proceedings against men who were actually in your

employ ?—Quite unnecessary I should think that would be just the way to drive the men away if we
deducted from their wages and prosecuted them as well.

289. So that it was not until the men abscondedthatproceedings against them becamenecessary?
—No.

290. In reply to a question by Mr. Barron, you stated, when you entered into the contract in
England, you took therisk of having to enforce the contract with the menfor service ?—Yes, that was
arisk we did take, but the answerwritten stops short of the actual reply The question was in relation
to the engagementwith the men. We took the risk of having to enforce that engagementunder what
we supposed to be the law of the country These engagements were carefully considered by the
Agent-General, and he said they would be enforceable. The mode in which wages wereto be paid in
case of dispute was actually settled by him. The risk we took was the risk of having to enforce our
engagements with the men. I admit we could have gone against them for damages for breach of
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contract, but going for damages against a number of immigrants whom you have been obliged to find
even in clothing would be a very unprofitable business.

291. So that practically you had no means ofenforcing those engagements?—No.

"Wednesday, 20th July, 1881.
Mr. James Billing, examined.

292. Mr. Cave.] You came to New Zealand in the year 1872 on behalf of Messrs. Brogden, and
took charge of the immigration department, I think?—I did.

293. Will you state to the Committee, as shortly as you can, the difficulties you had to contend
with in recovering the amounts of the promissory notes from the men, stating first the difficulties
raised by the men, and the grounds on which theyrefused payment ?—I may commence with the first
vessel, the " Schiehallion," which arrived about the 9th July, 1872. There was no work for the men at
that time,as no contracts had been entered into. We had no work in Wellington. The men werekept
onboard the vessel three or four days, and by that time thePicton andBlenheim contract was arranged

294. There was no work in Wellington, but you had the Picton and Blenheim contract ?—Tes ;
so we shipped the men over there, but, previous to their going, therewas considerableagitation amongst
them, owing to men from the shore interviewing themregarding the rate of wages that was to be paid.
A deputation from our men came on shore, and had an interview with Mr. Henderson and myself, and
we arranged to give them the ruling rate of wages at Picton They then went over there.

295. Did they continue working for the firm for any lengthof time?—No, they gradually dropped
oft". Mot more than 25 per cent, of those who went over stayed with us, and we had to fill the places of
thosewho left with local labour. Our men who left went to work for farmers and others, to the gold-
diggings there, and other employments. Some of them objected to pay on account of the large amount
of the promissory notes,refusing to have deductions made from their weekly wages.

296. Can you speak as to the men by the " Halcione " ?—Tes, they landed in Wellington. At
that timethe Wellington and Hutt contract was just starting, and these men were put on to work

297 Sixty-two men came in that ship?—Tes ;we lost them all except about ten or twelve. They
left and went to otheremployments.

298. Was that the case with all the ships?—With certain ships the percentage of those who
left us was considerably greater than with others: for instance, the ships that went South.
The "Bebington" arrived here when the works on the Wellington and Hutt line were suspended
on account of alterations in the plans being made by the Government Engineer. Those men were
sent some to the Bluff and some to Picton. The "Lady Jocelyn," another ship, arrived at Canter-
bury and, there being no work for our men in that province, they were sent on to the Bluff. The
" Forfarsh'ire " arrived in March, 1873. The Wellington and Hutt contract was well in hand then,
so we sent them off to Oamaru, where we had a contract. The " Lutterworth," another vessel,
arrived at Dunedin early in April, 1873. She was the last for us. At the timeshe arrived we had
landed over 600 adults in Dunedin, and, as we had no work for the "Lutterworth's" men there,
they were shipped off to Oamaru.

299. And the " Jessie Readman " ?—She arrived on the 15thDecember, 1872. Just about thetime
she arrived we were in negotiation for the "Upper Hutt contract, which we did not succeed in getting,
as the Government insisted on the withdrawal of certain parts of the conditions which protected us
from loss if the designs were imperfect or faulty We got two days' work for the men from the
Provincial Government on Evans's Bay Eoad. The Provincial Government were anxious the men
should not leave this province ; but, as we had no further work for the men to go on with, they left
us almost to a man. ■

_
300. As to these ships, you say the Government did not provide works on which the immigrants

could be employed as they arrived—the firm was not provided with work on which to employ them ?—
Tes, in the case of the vessels I have mentioned. In the case of the "Lutterworth," which arrived at
Dunedin, we had already quite sufficient men there for the works which were being carried out, and
those men were sent to Oamaru. No Government immigrants had been sent there up to that time.
Our men were enticed away at -once when they found they could get employment elsewhere, and
thus could get rid of their liability to us by distributing themselves all over the province.

301. Was the cost of transhipmentpaid by the Government?—No ; we paid it all.
302. Was the claimfor this sent in to the Governmentfrom timeto time?—Tes.
303. And this is oneof theclaims now put forward ?—Tes.
304. Prom those men who absconded, did you attempt to recover the promissory notes ?—Yes;

we took every available means, and went to considerable expense in doing so, far exceeding any
recoveries made from them.

305. What difficulties in the law Courts had you to contend with —anything in connection with
stamps ? Tes ; that was one of the objections raised in several cases —that there was insufficient
stamping, and the men left our employ to evade paying the oue-fifth of their wages on account of their
promissory notes. In taking work under sub-contractors, the men refused to allow the sub-contractors
to take oft' the one-fifth from their wages. Some of the men were under age, and in the actions we
brought against them we were nonsuited on the plea of infancy

306. Were you able to restamp the notes in the cases taken into Court?—-Yes; but, when the
cases came on again to be tried, the men had cleared out.

307 You were unable to stamp them while the cases were pending in Court ?—Tes.
308. Were any efforts ever madeto enforce the agreement for service?—Of course w\, produced

the agreement; but the men, on the other hand, brought theirs forward, and said that w<^ ha(jpromised
to give them work when they arrived. This was notably the case with those who cs'iae -y^. c « jeßSie
Keadman." They said that,as the agreement had been broken by us, they were r [mtre* bound by it

4-1. U-
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And with other ships. Some of the men by the "Bebington" and " Forfarshire " refused on that
ground.

309. Have you any return at all of thenumber of cases brought into Court and the amounts ?—
We bad one hundred and thirty-three cases tried.

310. I believe in some cases the men went through the Bankruptcy Court?—Yes, in many
cases. Of course that was when they were very hardly pressed by us for payment the}7" filed ; that was
their last resort. "When they found they could not get away they filed, and so gotout of their liability
in that way

311. And they got their discharge?—Tes. There was one case, that of Charles Mallowes. He
went under an assumed name. We got witnesses to prove he was the same Charles Mallowes we
imported. In that case Judge Johnston spoke very strongly about the injustice of our having to lose
our money that way by some of the men taking advantageof the Bankruptcy Act to evade their liability
to us. I will read an extract with reference to this case from a newspaper: " The case of Charles
Mallowes, heard in the Bankruptcy Court yesterday, should go some way in convincing the Government
of thepropriety of the course we advocated the previous evening—that of cancelling all outstanding
immigrants' promissory notes, and arranging with Messrs. Brogden to place their immigrants on an
equality with those of the Government. Mallowes was a man with a family, and earning only £2 a
week, yet with a debt of no less than £64 hanging over him on account of passage-money No doubt
his position in the colony was adecided improvement on that which he occupied at Home, and the debt
was fairly and honestly due to Messrs. Brogden. His Honor Mr. Justice Johnston very properly
pointed this out, but he also drewattention to the fact that the colony had benefited by the introduc-
tion of Mallowes and his fellow-immigrants, and that it was most unjust that Messrs. Brogden and
Sons should be the only losers by the transaction."

312. Mr. Bell.] Can you tell us who wrote that article ?—I cannot. 1knew nothing about it
until I saw it in the paper.

313. Mr. Cave.'] Does that give a report of the proceedings in theBankruptcy Court ?—Tes.
The Chairman: It is comment upon the case.
Mr. Cave : First the report of the case is given, and then the paperproceeds to comment on it.
314. Mr. Cave.] Some of the men, I believe, refused to allow you to deduct from their wages on

account of the promissory notes ?—Tes.
315. Where was that ?—At Napier, Invercargill, andDunedin.
316. Did the Courts uphold them in their refusal?—When we sued the men we invariably got

judgment, exceptfor thereasons I have stated. In most of the cases we took into Court we got judg-
ment ; and soon afterwards the men clearedout.

317 Then the judgment was really of no use to you?—Not the slightest.
818. And then didyou put in force the Act empowering you to imprison debtors atall ?—ln many

cases.
319. With what effect ? Did you find it hadany beneficialeffect ?—No ; we found we had to pay

the maintenance fees —so much per week. In several cases the men preferred to remain in gaol, and
would do their term through obstinacy In cases where men had largefamilies we did not go to such
extremes; we confined it to single men. We did onceput in a married man called Knight, a man with
a debtof £60 or £70 ; but his wife came to me in great distress, and I released him, and neverput in
another case of that sort.

320. Altogether you found the Courts unavailable?—We could generally get judgments, but we
could neverrecoveranything appreciable under them.

321. Tou did everything in reason to recover?—Tes; we left no stone unturned. Of course if
we could have got at other men we might have sued them too, but that would be at greatexpense.
Sometimes the men, as in this province, might be eighty or one hundred miles up country, where the
writs would have to be sent and the chances of gettinganything would be very small.

322. Mr. Hell.] Yrom your experience in this litigation, can you say whether there is anything
in the law of New Zealand that prevented you fromrecovering your money different from that which
existed in England ?—I cannot speak as to that.

323. Were you informed by your legal advisers of any difference?—No, I cannot recollect any-
thing of thatsort. The difficulties here were the pleas that 1 mentioned. In the majority of cases we
got judgments, but the difficulty was to carry them out to recover anything under them.

324. But your legal advisers did not advise you that there was any difference in the law of New
Zealand and that of England upon that point ?—I donot remember that they did.

325. And the principal reason why your immigrants refused to pay was the difference in their
terms and those of the Government immigrants?—Tes.

326. Do you think the quantum of the difference mattered at all ?—Most decidedly That was
the main objection of these men on arrival here, that the Government immigrants who came out in the
same vessels

327 Tou do not understand my question. The fact of therebeing a differencebetween the terms
was the reason alleged by your immigrants for not paying; but did the amount of the difference have
any effect. Would the payment by the Government immigrants of, say, £5, instead of £3, have any
affect. Would that make a difference in their refusal ?■—To a certain extent that had an effect. On
Ag other hand the men had offers of engagements from settlers here, and they heard from Govern-
KneMt immigrants and otherpeople of the difference in thepassage-money The menmostly took upon
tikemsejU'es to refuse payment.

$28. You attribute the non-payment toa defect of human nature,not to a defectin theadministra-
tion o^ the lw of the colony ?—As regards the administration of the law I told you we succeeded in
obtaining 'Uidgm^its but were not able to enforce them. That was ono cause, and another was our
inability tokkeeP the en at work witl> us-

-329 Then "r°u attribute your loss to the dishonesty of the men?—Partly, and partly to the idea
amongatthem that ha<l teen overreached.
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330. This difference between the terms of the Government immigrants and yours ?—Yes,

exactly
331. Tour firm knew the difference perfectly well at the time in England ?—I cannot speak for

them. The Agent-General probably communicatedwith them. I cannot say from recollection, bnt I
think in the negotiations the terms were mentioned.

332. Are you aware, when Messrs. Brogden began to export emigrants from England under some
verbal arrangements with the Agent-General before the agreement of June was signed, that there was
a very marked difference between the terms of the Government immigrants and yours ?—As I under-
stand, the arrangement was only a temporary one. Five ships altogether had been sent before the
agreement was executed. These men weresent out in the expectation that works would beready for
them. Before contracts had been entered into, these five ships had been sent out on the advice of the
Agent-General that the men would be required — that they were much wanted, labour being very
scarce.

333. Five ships were sent before the agreementof June, 1872,was signed ?—Yes.
334. So far as you understand, the object was to provide men for works Messrs. Brogden

considered they would obtain contracts for ?—No ; thesemen weresent out in anticipation of contracts
through the Agent-General pressing upon our firm to send them out.

335. As to the Picton and Blenheim contract, is it true the men left you there ?—The great
majority of them.

336. Did you not dismiss a great number of them ?—Not that I am aware of.
337 ?ou are not aware of it ?—No.
338. Do you remember at one period they all stopped work ?—I cannot speak from personal

knowledge. I was not present at the time. It was outside my duty
339. Cannot you recollect ?—lt is many years back, and there were disputes on manyof the lines.

I cannot recollect that one.
340. Do you remember a large number of your men being sued at Picton, when Mr. Connolly

defended them?—Yes.
341. On that occasion the men stopped work, did they not?—I cannotrecollect that. I remember

the menbeing defended by Mr. Connolly
342. You do not know whether they struck or not ?—No.
343. You cannot say, of your own knowledge, whether the Picton men left you, or whether they

were discharged by you?—My impression is they left; I cannot say whetherowing to a.strike or not.
I think I may safely say none of the men were everdischarged except when the works were suspended
for a few days on the Wellington and Hutt line. That is the only case where any men had to be dis-
charged.

344. Son. Mr. Richardson.] Are you aware whether the rates of pay Messrs. Brogden were giving
the men on their arrival were equal to those being paid by other contractors ?—ln what locality ?

345. In all localities?—At the timethe men arrived the rates of wageswere in a fluctuating state.
In Auckland, for instance, the men were working nine hours a day, as they did in some parts of the
South. In Wellington it was eight hours.

346. lam quiteaware of that. Did Messrs. Brogden offer the same rate of pay as was given by
other employers in each of these places ?—Yes ; lam quite sure of that. In some cases some men got
less than others: some were worth more than others, and were more competent. Taking the men all
round, they got the averageruling rateof wages. When theyarrived,of course therewas some dispute
as to the number of hours the men should work. Eventually they came down to eight hours, the same
as with other employers of labour.

347 Are you aware of any complaints from your men on several occasions that they were not
treated in the same way as other men in similar positions were, both as to hours and rates ofpay ?—
The evil of it was that there was a desire on the part of many employers of labour here to alienate the
men from our service. The men got dissatisfied, owingto the interference of outsiders, who told them
there was plenty of work elsewhere they could get, and tried all they could to prejudice the men
against us.

348. "Was there any attempt on Messrs. Brogden's part with a view of giving the men better terms
than other contractors offered ?—The men entered into an engagement with the firm by which the
minimumrate of wages was to be ss. a day of nine hours. They could not tell what therates of wages
for men were until they arrived. Even when the negotiations were going on, Government sent Home
to say the rate was 65., whereas when the men arrived the rates of wages were 7s. and Bs. As to the
men leaving us with regard to the rates of wages, thatwas a side-issue. It was raised to enable the
men to get away Any men going to work for the firm were given the ruling rate.

349. Mr. Murray.] You said work was not available when the men arrived?—Yes, in the case of
some ships. The " Jessie Eeadman" arrived here with 150 adults or more. The works in Wellington
were stopped for the reasons I have already mentioned. They had two days' work at the Evans's Bay
Eoad provided by the Provincial Government. The men at once turned round on us and were dis-
satisfied, and said we had broken our contract, as there was no work for them.

350. Whose fault was it there was no work for the men ?—Some of the plans of the Wellington
and Hutt line were undergoing changes in the Public Works Office.

351. Through the faulty design of the Government Engineer?—Yes.
352. You attribute that to the fault of the GovernmentEngineers ?—Yes.
353. How were the men provided with sustenance?—They had to do the best theycould.
354. Were they givenany wages by way of allowance for that time?—No; they only got wages

for the time they wereworking.
355. Do you think the Government introducing immigrants free was the cause of Messrs. Brogden

having to pay more for their labour in the country ?—That was the keystone of the whole business.
It took away the last chance we had of recovering on the notes.

356. The introduction of immigrants without charge, do you think that a reason Messrs. Brogden
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should have to pay morefor their labour ?—That is a question on which I cau scarcely give an opinion.
It did not affect the labour mirket very materially

357 Did it affect it all ?—I cannot speak from knowledge. It could be easily worked out. I
know if the wages-sheets were got from the office.

358. Do you not think it would have a tendency to reduce the rate of wa^es?—Not at all.
359. Do you not think Messrs. Brogden were to some extent compensated, by the introduction of

free immigrants lowering wages, for losses they might have sustained from the promissory notes ?—Not
at all. If we had had the men working for us during the period they had engaged for we should not
have lost anything; but there was such a demand for labour that three-fourths of them were lost to
us just as we were getting our contracts.

360. Why did you not send the men you kept here several days over to Picton at once ?—So they
were within four days. There was no steamer available earlier.

361. The " Jessie Eeadtnan" menI speak of ?—We were fully supplied at Picton with men then,
and the same with regard to other places.

362. Were they all your own men employed at Picton?—-No ; a large proportion were others.
363. Why did you not dismiss the others and put on your own men?—-We had sent sufficient

immigrants over to carry on those works, and if we had sent these they would have gone as the others
did.

364. Is it true all the immigrants were not first-class people—men not equal to the mark ?—No ;
they were all first-class people. All the Immigration Agents say so.

365. Mr. Barron.~] Were there any Scotchmen amongst these men ?—I cannot say for certain.
That is a difficult question to answer. I know there were a good many Englishmen amongst them.
The Government returns give their nationality

366. Mr. Turnbull.~\ What was the class of men who left you generally ?—We kept a lot of men
simply for the sake of saying we had carried out the engagements with them for work. The greater
portion of the best men left us. The best men—that is, the artizans—left us.

367 How did these notes run up to £72 in one case ?—That is for a man and his wife and
children, and also outfits for them.

368. One vessel came to Dunedin with men when you were without any work for them?—Yes.
We had work there, but were fully supplied with labour. There were already 600 introduced there
by us.

369. What became of them ?—They went up country
370. Captain Kenny. .] You stated, in answer to a question, that some of the men, in refusing to

carry out their engagements,complained of thecontract between Messrs. Brogden and themselves being
broken, as they had not been kept at work?—Yes.

371. Was it part of their engagement that they should be kept fully employed for two years ?—
Yes.

372. Was that contract carried out onthe part of Messrs. Brogden ? Had all the men opportunity
of full work with you ?—No, I cannot say that, because, in case ofa ship arriving here, the men, seeing
there was no work, of course dispersed, and said that on our part the contract had been broken.

373. Was that plea ever advanced in Court by the men ?—Yes.
374. Was it ever admitted by the Magistrate?—No.
Mr. Cave : There was no Masters and Servants Act hereby which the contract could be enforced.

But that would not affect the promissory notes in any case.
CaptainKenny: Were not the promissory notes given under the engagement to find them two

years' work ?
Mr. Cave : No ; they were given for the kits and the passage-money, irrespective of that.
CaptainKenny : But on the understanding they should be engagedfor two years.
Mr. Cave : The engagement for two years was not enforceable on either side other than by action

for breach of contract.
375. CaptainKenny..] I understand you to say one of the reasons assigned by the men for not

fulfilling their engagementsfor the repayment of the passage-money was that they had not beenkept
fully employed as they were promised by the firm? —Yes.

376. Can you give the Committee any idea as to the extent to which this part of the arrangement
was not carried out; that is to say, were the men kept out of employment for a long period,or only
for a few days on arrival ?—Only for a few days on arrival, and in the case where the works were
suspended.

377. I understand there were disputes between thefirm and the men, sometimes endingin strikes ?
—Yes.

378. During that time the men were out of employment ?—Yes.
379. For how long did these disputes keep them in enforced idleness ?—I cannot say In most

cases the disputes were fairly adjusted between the parties. Ido not think the number of hours inter-
ferred with it at all: it was as to the rates of wages. We offered the men the fair ruling rate of
wages in the district where they were located, and most of them accepted what we contended was the
current rate. Those who would not accept were the class of men who desired to getaway to evade the
responsibility of their promissory notes. The difficulty we had was in deducting the one-fifth from
their wages.

380. There is another question you were asked, whether the immigrationconducted by the Govern-
ment did not tend to keep down the rate of wages. Your reply was No. I should like to ask you
whether it did not tend to prevent the wages rising higher. If the Government had not introducedtheir
immigrants, wouldnot the rate of wages havebeen higher?—It did rise considerably, notwithstanding
the introduction of the Government immigrants: wages continued to rise because of the enormous
amount of work going on all over the country Of course we suffered along with others. The intro-
duction of the Government free immigrants did not seem to affect the market in the slightest degree.
There was the same general demandfor labour and not the supply to meet it. When the ships came
in all the menfound employment at once.
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381. That is not exactly an answer to my question. From your knowledge of the law of supply
and demand in the labour market, as in other things, areyou not of opinion, if the Government had not
introduced immigrants, Messrs. Brogdeu would have had to pay higher wages?—Certainly not. The
rates of wages at that time induced many from Australia to come over here. Far from lowering the
rate, wages seemed to go up a shilling or two higher per day

382. If I understand you right, it is your opinion that the introduction of 4,000 or 5,000 immi-
grants had no effect in keeping down the rate of wages, or in preventing it from rising higher?—No;
it did not seem to have that effect.

383. The Chairman.] By this agreement, were Messrs. Brogdencompelled to (md workfor the men
whether the G-overnmentgave the firm contracts or not ?—Messrs. Brogden undertook to find workfor
these men for two years. For that period they were bound to find work for them.

384. And the men were suspended from work without wages ?—That was owing to the Govern-
ment not carrying out the arrangement to find work for them.

385. Were the men entitled to compensation when not employed?—-No.
386. But was not the firm bound to employ them? Not bound to pay them when not

employed.
387 Are we to understand therewas really no contract by the firm to findwork ?—The men could

not turn round and say so.
388. Was there, or was there not, a contract by the firm to find work for the men?—There was.

this contract, but it could not be enforced on either side in the colony
389. Neither way ?—Exactly When we sued the men for their promissory notes, on the other

hand they pleaded the breach of contract by us.
390. Was any decision evergiven as regards this contract in New Zealand?—No, none.
Mr. Cave : An action at law could have been brought for breach of contract.
The Chairman: No action at law was taken in any Court in New Zealandon either side to enforce

this contract ?
Mr. Cave: No, Proceedings in the nature of criminal proceedings could not be taken, simply

because there was no statute under which proceedings could have been instituted.
Witness : No such case was ever taken into Court. The Magistrate told the men that they could

sue the firm for breach of contract.
391. The Chairman.] Did the men takeaction against Messrs. Brogden to enforce what appears to

have been a contract to find employment ?—No.
392. Neither you, on the other side, for breach of contract? —No.
393. Hon. Mr. Richardson,] In your evidence you stated once or twice the Government did not

find any work for Messrs. Brogden's men. Was it not the case that Messrs. Brogden tendered at such
a high price that Government had to refuse the tenders?—1 am not aware. I know many tenders sent
in by Messrs. Brogden were not accepted. The first one refused was owing to the Government
insisting on one clause beingaltered, which Messrs. Brogden's agent wouldnot agree to, although the
contract price was agreed to. The alteration proposed was in effect to make the contractors respon-
sible for insufficient designs. Mr. Henderson refused point blank to allow that clause to be so altered.
That was the cause of our having the " Jessie Steadman" men on our hands.

394. Do youknow that ofyour own knowledge ?—To the best of my belief that tvas the case.

Mr. John Lawson, examined.
395. Mr. Cave.] Ibelievein the year 1872you cameto New Zealand on behalf ofMessrs. Brogden ?

—Yes.
396. And you took charge of thefinancial department in New Zealand?—Tes.
397 You came in the ship " Halcione "?—Yes.
398. I believe in the same shipj several immigrants sent out by the firm were brought over?—

Yes.
399. And in the same ship there were also several Government immigrants?—-Yes.
400. You can tell the number of each by reference to the tables?—Yes ; there were about sixty

of the firm's, and about 150 Government immigrants.
401. Did anything occur on the passage out between the Government immigrants and the firm's

immigrants?—Yes; the firm's immigrants expressed great dissatisfaction when they had compared
notes with the Governmentimmigrants, and found they were coming out under more favourable terms
than themselves. The firm's immigrants were then greatly dissatisfied.

402. Under what terms were the Government immigrants being brought out at that time?—l
believe it was for £5 cash, and either £8 or £10 by promissory notes.

403. And this occasioned considerable discontent among Messrs. Brogden's immigrants ?—Yes ;
very much discontent.

404. Did you hear anything said by the firm's immigrants with reference to their declining to
carry out their engagement with the firm on arrival in New Zealand in consequence?—Yes; some of
them told me distinctly they would not work for the firm.

405. I believe you prepared a number of statements and tables which have been put before the
Committee ?—Yes.

406. Those statements have been compiled from the firm's books ?—Partly, and partly from
parliamentary papers.

407 And to the best of your belief they are quite accurate ?—Yes.
408. I think there is another statement which you have prepared, showing the number of

immigrants landed in New Zealand in the year 1873, showing the number of males brought by the
Government, and also the number brought by the firm ?—Yes. There were forwarded by the Govern-
ment 1,244 men, 1,545 women, 993 children, and 179 infants. During the sameperiod the firm brought
1,298 men, 373 women, 344 children, and 101 infants.

409. So that during that period the firm brought over about fifty more working-men than the
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Government ?—Yes; that is so. I may say that statement can be verified by reference to Parlia-
mentary Papers, D.-4, 1873, pages 2 and 3.

410. Did you have any experience with reference to the collection of the promissory notes ?—
Yes; as regards the mon«y actually collected.

411. And you know by reference to the books that a comparatively small amount has been
recovered under them ?—Yes.

412. You kuow nothingreally as to the collection of the moneys?—No ; Mr. Billing had that in
Land entirely

413. lion, Mr. Richardxon.] You stated that the men told you on board the vessel they would not
work for the firm on arrival, having found out they came on different terms from the Government
immigrants. When you arrived here, did you take any steps to inform the firm of that, before the
immigrants left the vessel?—l am not positive. I did, no doubt, explain the nature of the discontent
expressed by the men.

414. It is a very important point. Can you state whether youreally did or did not tell the firm ?
—I have no doubt I did.

415. Do you know what steps they took on your representation?—No, I do not remember that.
As regards the " Halcione " men, not any steps were taken, as the majority of those men went to
work.

416. The Chairman.] You stated Government immigrants came in that vessel who paid £5 cash,
or giving notes for £10 for their passage ?—I am speaking oft' the book. I believe it was either £8 or
£10 by notes. I know it was £5 cash. The parliamentary papers will give the information.

417 As you were on the vessel I thought you would positivelyknow the exact amount?—l
would not like to speak positively as to the figures. It was either £8 or £10.

418. Five pounds cash or either £8 or £10 in notes ?—Yes.
419. Not both?—l think not.
420. Under what terms had Messrs. Brogden agreed with their immigrants ?—They gave

promissory notes for £1.5 per statute adult.
421. What ship was that?—The " Halcione."
422. Those terms were similar to those given after the agreement was signed ?—Exactly so.
423. None were sent out on more favourable terms before the agreement was signed ?—No.
[Application was made by Mr. Cave that the originalletter'of the lOih July, 1873, from the Agent-

General to the Hon. the Colonial Secretary might be produced to the Committee, on the ground that
if any memorandawere written thereon such memorandamight afford information to the Committee
as to the grounds on which such letter was withheld from the previous Committee in September, 1873;
and, further, that the Governmentmight ba requested to furnish, for the information of the Committee,
a return showing the sums recovered by the Government in respect of the promissory notes given to
the Government by the assisted and nominated immigrants referred to inKeturn D.-4, 1873.]

William Thackee, examined.
To Mr. Cave: I live in Lloyd Street, Wellington. lam a carter. I came to Wellington in the

" Jessie Headman" in 1872. I was engaged at Leamington by Brogden's agent. I brought my wife and
six children: four under Messrs. Brogden, and two girls of thirteen and fourteen under the Govern-
ment by assisted passages. I gave a promissory note. There were some Government immigrants in
the same ship. They paid £5 each. When I got here I went to work for Messrs. Brogden, over
across the road against the baths. Because therewas no railway work for us, we went on the road.
The, railway work was stopped. We worked a day and a half there, then I went to work for a miller;
but I worked for Brogdens afterward on the Hutt line. I paid about £10 or £11 off the promissory
note. It was deductedfrom the wages.

424. Mr. Cave.] Did the firm ever sue you?—Yes ; and got judgment. I was never bankrupt.
425. When you left the firm, whom did you workfor ?—i worked, for the Government on the line

as ganger and platelayer.
426. When working for the Government, why did you not pay thebalance ?—Because I told Mr.

Henderson, when he could notgive me any more work, that I would not pay I told him if there was
no more work I would pay no more money ; and, thatas he had broken the contract with me, I would
not pay him.

427 Was that the only reason?—I did not think it hardly proper we should have to pay when
Government immigrants were coming for nothing at that time. I thought I had paid enough.

428. You paid £11 out of £63 ?—Yea.
429. Whom do you work for now ?—For myself.
430. The Chairman.'] You told Mr. Henderson you would not pay any more. Why not?—

Because he broke the contract with us in not finding us any work. We signed our agreement for two
years.

431. You signedto serve two years, they to find you two years' work?—Yes ; they to stop one-
fifth of the wages.

432. You consideredthey broke their bargain with you ?—Yes; theycould not find us any work.
433. That was the reason you left their service ?—Yes; I worked till the work was finished, and

heard then there was no more work.
434. Mr. Turnbull.] You heard of New Zealand at Leamington ?—Yes ; the agent for Brogdens

was there.
435. There was no Government agent there ?—No.
436. And you did not know you could get out any cheaper?—Two of the children came out as

assisted immigrants.
437 Did it not occur to you you were paying more than the Government was charging ?—I did

not know the Government were taking them out till we got to London, and then it was too late,because
I had signed everything.
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438. What was the Government bringing them out for?— £s I believe.
439. Was that the reason you would not work?—No; I worked as long as Brodgen got any

work. That was the timeIrefused to pay when they had finished the line. Then I went to Henderson's
office, and he said he had got no more work. I toldhim it was hardly fair we should pay our passage,
and said I should not pay any more, as they had got no work for me. He said he had no more work,
as Government had broken their contract with them.

440. Mr.Allwright.] You brought your daughters out under the Governmentarrangements?—Two
of them.

441. Why not yourselves?—We did notknow There was no Government agent there.
442. Then how did you know for your daughters?—That was worked between Brogdens and the

Government. I do not know how they did it. All girls over twelve years were supposed to be
assisted as servant-girls.

443. Captain Kenny!] Did you not make some inquiries whether the Government arrangement
could not extend to the rest of tiiefamilywhen you found out?—No ;wenever thought of it, because
we bad made all agreements and were satisfied.

444. You had all completed before you heard about the Government arrangement?—Yes.
445. The reason you considered yourself acquittedwas because thefirm had broken your agree-

ment ; because they could not give you two years' work?—Yes.
446. Without saying that made any alteration, the hardship of having to pay more than you would

have had to pay the Government?—l considered we should not have to pay because the Government
were bringing them out free. That was very nearly two years after we came out.

447 You considered thefact of the Government bringing in immigrants at lower rates than your
own absolved you from the obligation to pay ?—Not altogether. I said it was not fair for us to pay
I would have paid if they had carried out their contract with me.

448. The Chairman.] How long did you work for Messrs. Brogden ?—All the timetill that line
was finished ; then they had no more work, and I left and went to work for the Government.

449. Mr. Cave.] How did you pay the Government for the two girls ?—I paid nothing at all for
them.

450. The Chairman] On what conditions did they come out; on your promise to pay something?
—Supposed to pay something. Government had an agreement. It was donebetween Brogdens and
the Government.

451. What did you understand?—That they were to be assisted.
452. To what extent ?—I do not know
453. Did your note to Messrs. Brogdea cover the daughters'passages at all?—No; it had nothing

to do with that. The girls signed an agreementfor themselves.
Petee Someks, examined.

To Mr. Cave : My name is Peter Somers. I live in Nelson Street, Wellington. I came to New
Zealand in 1872 in the ship " Jessie Headman." We arrived here on the 16th December. Iwas
engaged to come out by Messrs. Brogden's agent. I was then a single man. To pay the passage-
money I gave Messrs. Brogden a promissory note for, I believe, £17 13s. On landing here I worked
for Messrs. Brogden a day and a half.

454. Mr. Cave.] Why did you not continue to work for them ?—There was a disagreement as
to the rate of wages; likewisebecause they wanted us to work nine hours a day Iobjected to that.

455. How much have you paid on account of your promissory note?—1 forget the exact amount.
456. Were you ever sued ?—Yes.
457 Why didyou object to pay?—Because I considered that I had paid sufficient. Considering

that, on the vessel I came out by, the Governmentbrought out families of assisted immigrants on lower
terms, I considered I had paid sufficient—equal to what they paid.

458. Did you think Messrs. Brogden had no right to charge you more than the Government
charged ?—I thought it was a great hardship. I objected to pay That was the principal ground.
Directly after, by the nextvessel, they came without paying anything, and I had to pay all expenses to
the port of embarkation too.

459. Mr. Bell.] What was your disagreement with the firm ?—I objected to the nine hours a
day

400. Was there something with regard to the wages?—I wanted to have the wages fixed.
461. At what sum?—That was to be arranged between the firm and the men.
462. Then other men disagreed at the same time ?—About ninety
463. Where ?—ln Wellington.
464. Where have you been since then ?—I have stopped in Wellington ever since.
465. What about the others ?—I cannot say much about the others. Some are working here.

Several have alwaysremained in Wellington.
466. Did the others go away at once?—Some did, and some did not. The majority of them went

up country
467 How long after the disagreement ?—I cannot state.
468. How many men struck ?—About ninety struck for a proper arrangement to be made to know

on what terms they wereto work us.
469. How longafter the strike were you sued ?—About eighteen months, as near as I can judge.
470. Did you ever see Messrs. Brogden's agents in that time?—Yes.
471. Was application madeto you for payment of the money ?—There was.
472. Did you pay anything ?—Not until I was sued.
473. Judgment was obtained against you, I understand?—Yes.
474. Have you been insolvent since ?—No.
475. So the judgment is still in force against you ?—I think so.
476. Mr. TurnbulL] How much have you paid?—l cannot tell the exact amount. I think about

£Q. I cannotbe certain,
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"Wednesday, 27th July, 1881.
Hon. G- M. Wateehouse, examined.

477 Mr. Travers.~\ I believe you were Premier of New Zealand from October, 1871, to March
1873?—I was.

488. At that time I believe the Public Works and Immigration Scheme propounded by Sir Julius
Vogel was in full operation ?—Tes, it was just gettinginto full operation.

479. I see by the Blue-books that, on the 23rd November, 1572, you wrote a memorandum to the
A gent-General. Have you any recollection of that memorandum P-—I have a general recollection
of it.

480. At that time, did the Government consider the question of immigration a verypressing one?
Undoubtedly they did, as the memorandum shows.

481. I believe that during the time you were Premier there were some negotiations between
Messrs. Brogden and the Government with reference to their being relieved from the consequences of
the contract that had been entered into with them?—Yes, there were some such negotiations.

482. And I believe that you transmittedto the Agent-General the correspondence that had taken
place between Mr. James Brogden and the Government with reference to it for the Agent-General's
guidance ?—Tes.

483. "Was it not the intention of the G-overnment at that time that the question of relieving
Messrs. Brogden was to be referred to the Agent-General, andreported on by him ?—I think the cor-
respondence shows what the object of the memorandum was. The memorandum says, "The Govern-
ment have invited the Messrs. Brogden to place themselves in immediatecommunicationwith you, and
have promised to favourably consider any suggestion or recommendation you may make on the sub-
ject." The correspondence shows the subject on which the Government had promised to consider the
suggestion of the Agent-General.

484. It was the intention of the Government at that time to favour any suggestion that was made
with reference to the contract?—No; the letter states distinctly what the object was.

485. But that would involve the repayment of the advances, would it not?—l can, of course, only
speak on this subject from a very indistinct remembrance of what took place. I think it was on the
arrival of the first vessel with Messrs. Brogden's immigrants that Mr. James Brogden discovered that
the anticipations he entertained with regard to getting back his money for the promissory notes were
incorrect. Mr. O'Borke was then Minister for Immigration, and the matter was referred to him. He
made a memorandum uponthe subject on which the Cabinet minute was based. That minuteappearsto
me distinctly to show what the action of the Government has been, and it does not appearto me to bear
out your inference that the relief from liabilities was referred to the Agent-General, because the
despatch says, " I have to express the regret of the Government that, after the gravest consideration,
they find themselves unable to meet your views so far as to relieve the firm from their liabilities in
connection with the conduct of immigration under the agreement referred to." It then goes on to say
that any recommended modification of the agreement so far as concerned future operations would be
favourably considered.

486. But the main subject of Messrs. Brogden's application was relief from loss, was it notr—
I cannot say that it was. 1 was not so fully acquainted with the circumstances of the case as I would
have been had 1 been connected with the negotiations from the first.

487. Have you seen a letter which was sent by the Agent-General to the Government, and which
is dated 21st July, 1873 ?—Yes.

488. Do you not think it is clear from that letter that Messrs. Brogden were never intended to
be losers by the transaction?—When Mr. Hall left the colony therewas an impression on thepart of
the Government that he would communicate with the Agent-General in connection with the general
interests of the colony, and it is just possible that he may have considered that matter was remittedto
him under the general covering words.

489. It seems evident, from this letter which Mr. O'Borke sent to Mr. Brogden, that there had
heen a request on the part of the latter that his firm should be relieved from existing obligations, and
recouped for any losses the}r might have sustained ?—Yes.

490. Does it not seem from this letter that special and favourable considerationwas to be given to
the matter when the Agent-General had sent in his report on the subject?—l do not think so.

491. Can you say whether any further negotiations were entered into by the Government with
Mr. James Brogden ?'—l cannot say Mr. O'liorke would have everything to dowith any negotiations
that were being carried on.

492. Mr. jßell.] I understand you'to say that the Government expressly refused to refer to the
Agent-General any question of repayment to the Messrs. Brogden of the money they had spent in
sending immigrants to the colony ? —I say that they decided that Messrs. Brogden were not entitled
to any further payment for services they had rendered.

493. Can you recollect whether the question was pressed on the Government of the day by
Mr. James Brogden ?—I have a very shady recollection of thematter, but I think thatwas the case.

494. At that time—l mean about the 22nd November—Messrs.Brogden had practically ceased
to send out immigrants ?—I am not sure that we knew the immigration had been stopped.

495. Was any distinction drawnat that time between the actual outlay and the loss by Messrs.
Brogden ?—I cannot recollect exactly I know the two things were mixed vp—I mean the loss that
had accrued and the liability that was to be incurred. Necessarily my recollection is of a very hazy
character after this lapse of time.

496. The Chairman.'] In this letter of Mr. O'Rorke's, which was written in November, 1872, I
understand there are two distinct applications—namely, first to be recouped for all past losses; and,
secondly, to be relieved of all future obligations. I takeit that the Government refused thefirst?—Yes, I think so.

497 And up to that time large liabilities had been incurred by Messrs. Brogden under the con-
tract of June, 1872 ?—Yes.
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498. With respect to the second part of the letter, where you state that you are willing to give

favourable consideration to the question of relieving them from future liabilities, why did not the
Government at once relieve them if it appeared to the Government then that their losses would be
heavy ?—You are asking me a question that you would naturally think Iwas in a position to answer,
but you must remember that this matter occurred nearly nine years ago, and it is impossible for me to
recollect the circumstances. I can recollect that there was a difference of opinion in the Cabinet, and
this led to akind of compromise, which is a common thing, and which took the shape of the Cabinet
decision upon which this letter is based.

499. Are we to understand that the Government had entered into a contract that would benefit
thecolony materially, and that they would not relinquish their claim on the Messrs. Brogden ?—They
express their willingness to do so in the letter, but, at the same time, they decline to take any action
until they hear from the Agent-General.

500. The Government, at the time, was not advised that the contract entered into with Messrs.
Brogden was ultra vires/I—l1—I am not aware that the Government had anyknowledge that the contract
was ultra vires.

501. Then, the fact that the contract was ultra vires was a deadletter to the Government ?—I am
of opinion that if the Government hadbeen aware of the fact it could not have escaped my memory.

502. Son. ~E. Richardson.] Inthe matterof contracts, do youremember what allowance the Cabinet
made in dealing with Messrs. Brogden's tenders for works ?—The Cabinet made no allowance. The
allowance was specified in the agreement,and the Government werebound by thatagreement. I think
that I know the circumstance to which you are referring, and it was alluded to at a Cabinet meeting,
and it appears to have dwelt on your mind as it dwelt on my own, but the matter was mentioned only
with a view to influence the decision of the Cabinet at the time. Ido not know how far it would be
justifiableto state more as to the statements that were made in Cabinet in reference to it.

503. Mr. Murray.'] I understand that Messrs. Brogdenwere to have an allowanceof £5 for each
immigrant, to cover any risk they might run in regard to therecovery of the amounts of thepromissory
notes from the immigrants. Now, in the event of Messrs. Brogden having recovered all the money
from the immigrants, and made a profit out of them, would you considerthat the Government had any
claim on the Messrs. Brogden for the amount they had been allowedfor the risk they ran?—No.

504. Then, would you consider that if Messrs. Brogden sustained a loss they would haveany claim
on the Government ?—Certainlynot; but if representations which were not facts were made, it would
be for the Government to consider how far they were bound by therepresentations of their officers, and
how far, as a matter of commercial morality, they ought to compensate Messrs. Brogden for any loss
they had made in consequence of having placed too much reliance on these representations.

505. Whose representations do you refer to ?—I refer to the fact that Messrs. Brogden entered
into the contract at a timewhen promissory notes were being taken from the immigrants. There was,
subsequently, an alteration in the policy of the Government, and they abandoned all attempts to
recover any of the moneys due by the immigrants on their promissory notes. This was a change in
the policy of the country which had probably not been thought of when the contract was taken, and it
would be for the Government to consider how far they ought to take that into consideration.

50G. Are you aware that it was represented to Messrs. Brogden that theywould have no difficulty
in recovering the amounts of the promissory notes ?—I know nothing except what is shown in the
correspondence now before the Committee.

507 Are you aware that bills which had been givenby immigrants to theProvincial Governments
were remaining unpaid at that time?—Yes.

508. Was it generallyknown that therewas a considerable amountof moneydue to the Provincial
Governments, and which was not likely to be collected?■—I should not like to say The Government
certainly did calculate on collecting a large portion of the promissory notes, and my impression is that
the Provincial Government of Otago used to introduce immigrants on the same terms. I believe that
for political reasons the promissory notes given by immigrants in the Province of Wellington were
abandoned.

509. Had the Messrs. Brogdenany opportunity of finding out these facts before theyentered into
this contract?—I cannot say that Mr. JamesBrogden was aware of them or could inform his brothers
in England.

510. Mr. Turnbull.] In reference to your memorandum of 23rd November, 1872, and Mr.
O'Borke's reply to Mr. Brogden, would the refusal to release them from their obligation be an
implication that they were not bringing out a sufficient number of immigrants?—No; I am quite
certain that was not the reason. It was on the broad question whether we should pay for the
immigrants already introduced.

611. Then on page 6 it is stated that the regulations granting free passages were entered into
on the 7th March and revoked on the 17th March ?—That was probably for some technical reason.
We found that we could not get the necessary number of immigrants unless we paid full price for
them.

512. Was that letter of the 10th July, 1873, received by you while you were Premier ?—No, I
was not in the Ministry at that date.

513. CaptainKenny.] Youstated that it was during the time that you were Premier that the first
shipload of immigrants arrived ?—No, I did not say that. The first arrival must have been about a
month or so before Ibecame Premier.

514. You stated that there was evidence at that time of the probable breakdown of Messrs.
Brogden's scheme of immigration?—Yes,I meant to say that there was evidence of their probable
inability to collect the money for the promissory notes.

515. Did Mr. Brogdenput himself in communication with the Government on the subject ?—I
think he did, but he would have more to do with Mr. O'Eorke than myself on the subject.

516. When you learned the state of things in connection with Messrs. Brogden's immigrants did
you refer the matter to the Agent-General in your despatches?—The despatches bearing on the
subject were sent either from the Colonial Secretary's Office orfrom that of the Minister forjlminigra-

-s—l. IA.
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tion. They would notbe signed by me as Premier except in the absence of those Ministers. I cannot
say what those Ministers have stated in their communications to Messrs. Brogden, but propably the
whole of that could be ascertained by a reference to the Appendices to theParliamentary Proceedings
for 1873.

517 Are you awarewhether there is any report from the Agent-Generalasto what passedbetween
him and Sir Julius Vogel when the arrangement was made with the latter ?—I have seen the letter
that is printed. That is all I know about thematter.

518. Messrs. Brogden made their claim whilst you were Premier ?—Yes.
519. And it was made on the ground that there was unintentional misrepresentation by which

Messrs. Brogden had been misled?—Yes.
520. Was there nothing to show how far Messrs. Brogden were justifiedin saying they were mis-

led?—I have no doubt Sir G. M. O'Eorke could give your more information on that subject thanI
can.

521. Son. Mr. Dick.~\ The petition which is now before the Committee says : "Immediately after
the " " Morefavourable terms." You were in the Government at the time these
more favourable terms were being carried out, wereyou not ?—The Government with which I was con-
nected was not a party to the preparation of those more favourable terms ; but we were in office when
the immigrants arrivedunder them.

522. Mr. James Brogden in October, 1872, seems to have waited on the Government andclaimed
to berelieved of his liability ?—Yes.

523. And the Government declined to relieve them ?—The Government declined to relieve them
from the liability to carry out the agreementfor the future unless they were recommended to do so by
the Agent-General.

524. That was whilst the Government were bringing outimmigrants on more favourable terms ?—
Yes.

525. Then the Government considered that Messrs. Brogden had entered into a contract which
they were bound to carry out without any responsibility being attached to the Government in the
matter of recouping them for any loss they might sustain through not recovering the amounts of the
promissory notes ?—Yes.

526. Then the Government simply regarded it as a contract ?—Yes.
527 Mr. Bell.'] What were the more favourable terms to which you refer ? What was the altera-

tion made in the terms ?—The alteration in the terms was the progressive improvement of the regula-
tions under which immigrants were sent out to the colony The terms were progressively improved,
until at last the Government paid the whole of the passage-money, and also the expenseincurred in
transhipment.

528. I would ask you whether any immigrants who paid by promissory notes were allowed to pay
less than £10 before October, 1872 ; that is to say, whether immigrants who paid by promissory note
alone, were allowed to pay by promissory note at any timeduring theyear 1872 ?—The correspondence
will show that; and, as a matter of fact, I believe that the advance-notes wereenforced in scarcely any
case.

Hon. W Gisbobne, examined.
529. Mr. Travers."] Ibelieve you were a Minister in the year 1871?—Yes, I was.
530. While you were a Minister I believe there were somenegotiations with Mr. James Brogden

with reference to the subject of immigration ?—Yes.
531. Can you state whether these negotiations were opened by Messrs. Brogdenwith the Govern-

ment in the first instance, or by the Government with Messrs. Brogden ?—I cannot say exactly I
may say that Messrs. Brogden had had negotiations with Sir Julius Vogelin England, and proposals
were sent out, which, however, were afterwards modified in the colony, before they were submitted to
the House. The matter was the subject of frequent discussion between the two parties.

532. I believe the major contract,which involved the question of compensation, had beenrejected
by the House?—So far as I recollect, the Ministry did not recommend the major contract.

533. These fresh negotiations that took place had special connection with immigration ?—First
■with regard to public works, and then withregard to immigration.

534. I believe the Government at that time felt the necessity of importing large numbers of
immigrants in connectionwith the public-works scheme ?—Yes; the whole success of thepublic-works
scheme depended on concurrent immigration, within certain limits. It was considered that immigra-
tion should, be carried on concurrently withpublic works.

535. I understand that matters were carried so far that a draft agreement was actually prepared ?
—Yes, it was so.

536. Have you any recollection of the terms of that agreement—l mean asregards the reimburse-
ment of Messrs. Brogden for the money they had expended ?—You will find the agreementenclosedin
a memorandum dated the 25th November, 1871, No. SG,addressed by me to the Agent-General.

537. At that time was it not an essential part of the proposed arrangement thatMessrs. Brogden
should not incur any loss in connection with the arrangement?—We certainly didnot expect that they
would incur any loss ; in fact, we believedthematter wouldbe mutually advantageous, and notattended
with pecuniary loss to either. Of course, in using the word " loss," I mean foreseen loss.

538. Do I understand you to mean that the Government were placing them in aposition where
they would not suffer any foreseen loss?—Yes.

539. And, assuming that theresult wouldhave been attendedwith unforeseen loss, wouldyou have
considered that the Government would have been liable to make up that loss ?—At the timeof claim
for compensation being made I was not a member of tho Ministry, and therefore cannot say whether or
not compensation is due to Messrs. Brogden on account of this matter.

540. Can you say of your own knowledge whether the colony received abenefit from the immigra-
tion carried out by Messrs. Brogden ?—I am certainly of opinion that the colony did receive a benefit
from it.
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541. Quite independentof any benefit that the Messrs. Brogden might have received ?—Yes; at
that time the Government were very anxious to get immigrants to cometo the colony

542. Is it not a fact also that the number of immigrants brought out by Messrs. Brogden bore a
large proportion to the number brought out by the Government during the same time?—I am not in a
position to say that, because I retired from the Government before the arrangement was made.

543. Mr. Sell.} You do not suggest that the Messrs. Brogden were to import immigrants other
than those whom they wouldrequire for their own work ?—I think thatwas part of the agreement.

544. Then the men whom they were to import would be men independent of the class of men.
which the Government would require for other purposes?—Yes. The arrangement for railway
contracts with Messrs. Brogden was not so large as was anticipated.

545. But thebenefit you obtained was the use of these men after the Messrs. Brogden had done
with them ?—We thought these immigrants would settle in the vicinity of the railways.

546. But the benefit which you anticipated would be the use of these men after Messrs. Brogden
had donewith them ?—Yes.

547. Was not the point of difference between yourself and Mr. James Brogden this: that you
could not agree with Mr. Brogden in regard to taking the risk of immigrants absconding?—Yes, I
think so. Messrs. Brogden wanted, if I recollect aright, the Government to take the risk, and the
Governmentwanted Messrs. Brogden to take it.

548. Mr. Turnbull.~\ Prom your memorandumof the 25th November, 1871, Mr. Brogden appears
to have taken no risk in the matter. You say, " The Government offered Mr. Brogden to take off
10 per cent, of the amount paid for passage-money from the promissory notes he was to give you, to
cover his risk, but he would not accept. He continued saying he must be put upon the most favour-
able terms; in other words, that he for the whole of his immigrants must have terms as favourable as
the terms granted by you to immigrants direct, but he to be at liberty to make with his immigrants
what arrangements he pleased, irrespective of the arrangements made betweenthe Government and
him. I enclose for your guidance the draft of the agreement proposed for Mr. Brogden's signature,
but which he declined to agreeto "?—Yes ; but the end of the memorandumshows that the Govern-
ment had no responsibility lam not able to say from memory what risk the Government took:
there was an agreement entered into between the two parties, but Iknow that the draft agreement
was objected to by Mr. James Brogden at the last moment. It was sent Home, and referred to
Messrs. Brogden's firm there.

549. Hon. Mr. Dick.} When the Government entered into this agreement with Messrs. Brogden
for the bringing out of immigrants, did you consider that Messrs. Brogden were guaranteed against
loss in carrying out the arrangement?—No, not at all.

550. You just looked upon it as a contract which the firm took in this colony, andin which, if they
made a loss, it was their own fault ?—Yes, exactly

551. Are you aware of any misrepresentations that weremadeto Messrs. Brogden?—No ; I would
not have been a party to anything of the kind. There may have been misconception on the part of
Messrs. Brogden, but there was no intentional misrepresentation on the part of the Government.

552. Mr. Travers.] Did the Government, in submitting the agreement that they did submit,
suppose it was one calculated to entail a loss on Messrs. Brogden?—That was not our opinion; but,
of course,we were not guardians of their interests, and we thought they were quite able to look after
their own interests. At any rate, we did not think that they would sustain anycertain loss by carrying
out the agreement.

553. The Chairman.] Does the memorandum of the 25th November, 1871, give a full account of
the negotiations entered into with Mr. James Brogden on the subject ?—That memorandum waa
written to explain the views of the Government on the subject.

554. And therefore we may assume that it would contain all thefacts ?—Yes.
555. Were you in the Ministry when the letter was received from the Agent-General, signifying

that the immigration contract of the 27th June, 1872, had been entered into ?—I do not think so. I
have no further knowledge of the matter as a Minister.

Edwin Hibbebd, examined.
To Mr. Gave: My name is Edwin Hibberd. I live at the Upper Hutt. I came in the ship

" Halcione " with my wife and three children. I came as one of Messrs. Brogden's immigrants. They
paid for us, I believe, £45. I was supposed to pay for all. There were Government immigrants in
the same ship. Ido not recollect the number. During the passage the Government immigrants were
treated better than we were. If I wanted even a little vinegar they would not give it me or sell it
for money If we went to complain about anything we were taken no notice of, but if the Govern-
ment immigrants complained to the captain the matter was always putright..

556. You think you were not treated so fairly?—l am sure we were not.
557 When the ship arrived, did you go to work for the firm ?—Yes, for some time—two daya

overat the Bay—but I could not support my family on the wages.
558. How long didyou work with the firm, then ?—Two or three weeks, on and off.
559. And then you went to find work for yourself?—Yes.
560. Did they sue you on your promissory note?—Yes.
561. Did you pay anything ?—No, I could not, and support my family I could not see any

possible way of making any progress. I thought we should have some land.
562. Did you become bankrupt ?—Yes.
563. How long after being sued ?—Directly
564. You never attempted to pay anything ?—No.
565. And you neverpaid anything ?—No ; I think they stopped half-a-crown from my wages.
566. You left working for the firm because you were dissatisfied with their stopping money on

account of the passage ?—Decidedly It was little I earned, and I could not get the children food if
part of it was stopped.
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567. Mr. Bell.~\ How much was stopped out of your wages ?—I think it might have been
three half-crowns. It was either three half-crowns or one;I am not certain.

568. Was there more stopped from wages for you than for a single man ? Tour passage-money
was £45, and a single man's would be £15 ?—I do not know if more was stopped. Ibelieve there was,
but cannot say for certain.

569. How long after you left the firm were you sued ?—I think it must have been twelve
months.

570. Where were you in the meantime ?—I was working for the Corporation of Wellington.
571. What were you earning ?—los. a day
572. What were you doing when you were sued ?—I was still there. By some means I was dis-

charged from my employment, and was out two or three weeks until the matter was seen into, and
then I was re-employed, and kept there seven years.

573. The Chairman.'} You said there was a distinction between the treatment of you and the
Government immigrants on boardF—l am positive there was.

574. Was there not an agent of the firm on board ?—There was. I think his name wasLawson.
On several occasions, when my wife was ill, I went to the doctor for medical comforts, but he would
neither give them nor sell them.

575. Did you not make representations to the agent?—I did; and I believe he spoke to the
captain about it.

576. And, notwithstanding the representation made by Mr. Lawson, the Brogden immigrants
were not treated differently?—No, we were not; it seemed to make no difference.

577. Why were you treated differently?—I cannot tell the reason for it.
578. When the vessel arrived here, were any representations made to the Government as to the

treatment ?—Tes ; by me and others.
579. To whom?—lt was down at the Customhouse.
580. Was there no complaint made to the Commissioners when they came off to the ship, on her

arrival. Their first inquiry is as to the treatment—if there are any complaints ?—I do not recollect
anything of that sort, Sir. If there was, they got the straight answer from me.

581. But were no complaints made to the Commissioners ?—I cannotpositively answer that ques-
tion, because I do not recollect.

582. Were complaints made afterward ?—Tes.
583. In writing ?—Several of us appeared, to give our statements. They came round with a

petition for us to sign, for the captain and crew ; but I and some others would not sign it.
584. Whom were the statements made to ?—I think to the Immigration Agent.
585. With what result ?—There was nobody there the second time the meeting came on.
586. Hon. Mr. Richardson.} What wages were paid by the firm ?—7s. or Bs. a day, I cannot say

which.
587. How many hours ?—I think ten hours, at that time, or they wanted ten hours. I believe it

was eight hours we worked. I will not speak positively
588. When you left, did you get work at once?—Not directly Before I got anything fairly it

might have been six weeks.
589. And, then, at what wages?—Bs. a day at first, for eight hours.
590. Were there any dissatisfied among the men at the hours ?—There was, at first; but that

was altered. That was altered to satisfy the men.
591. Mr. Turnhwll.} Was there any talk among the men about the difference in price between you

and the Government immigrants?—There was a great deal said about that. It caused all surprise.
The sore point among us was that these people paid half, and we paid double; and whenever the
Government immigrants complained to the captain he would set things right, but not for us.

592. Did that excite any discontent among the Brogden immigrants ?—Tes; all I spoke to were
dissatisfied.

593. Did you represent that to the agents when you got here?—There was hardly time to do so.
It was hurried over as quickly as possible. There was no time to speak of it on board the ship.

594. Captain Kenny.~\ Tou signed a promissory note for £45 ?—I think so,
595. What induced you to sign it ?—I came to the colony to better myself.
596. Were there any conditions on which you signed ?—I believe the conditions were that when

we came to thecolony, and settled down to work, there would be a portion of land for each of us.
597 When you signed the note, was it simply for the passage-money,or were there other condi-

tions, as a guaranteeof a certain rate of wages for a certain time?—I think not.
598. You simply gave the promissory notes for the passage ?—I could hardly remember.
599. Were you prepared to pay ?—No.
600. Why ?—Because I had no means to do it.
601. Then you have no complaint to make. Tou simply found yourself unable to meet your

engagements,and. took the legal course to getrid of your liability?—I thought of the unjustness of
charging me so much, and letting me have less than the Government immigrants on the voyage. I do
not think any man would support a thing like that. I would hare tried more than I did, provided I
had been satisfied as to the treatment on the way out.

602. Then you would not pay even if you had been in a position to ?—No, not if I could
help it.

603. Although you had signed this document and entered into the contract ?—I promised to pay.
604. Mr. Turnbull.~\ Would you have given that note for £45 if you could have got out for £25 ?

—No ; but I didnot know at that time.
605. How soon did you hear ?—I heard on thepassage.

Sir G. M. O'Eoeke, examined.
606. Mr. Trovers.} I believe, Sir Maurice, that you were Minister for Immigration in the years

1872 and 1873?—Tes; from October, 1872, to October, 1873.
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607. And I believe that in that capacity you hadcorrespondence with Mr. James Brogden on the
subject of immigration?—Tes; and I also had personal interviews with him on the subject.

608. Can you say whetherMr. James Brogdon did, or did not,early in 1872,express dissatisfaction
in regard to the contract that had been entered into by his firm?—Tes. When I came into office, in
1872, one of the first things the Immigration Office had to deal with was an application by Mr. James
Brogden to be allowed to abandon the contract that he had entered into with the Government on
behalf of his firm. The matter was considered to be of so much importance that it was dealt with by
the Cabinet as a whole, instead of by the department which it particularly affected.

609. Have you any recollection of the distinct grounds of complaintwhich were put forth by Mr.
Brogden?—As far as I recollect, their complaint was that their immigrants had to pay £15 per head,
while the Government immigrants were only charged £5.

610. What did Mr. Brogden complain of as the result of that upon the operations of the firm ?—"He complained that some of these immigrants, in orderto get rid of their liability, abandoned their
connection with the firm. Some went to other parts of the colony and some left thecolony altogether,
while others again took employment from the settlers at probably higher wages than the firm of
Brogden and Sons was offering.

611. Is it not a fact that the Government abandoned the attempt to recoverany money from the
immigrants on account of their promissory notes ?—As far as I canrecollect, no persons, or very few,
were brought before the Courts to compel them to pay while I was Immigration Minister, andI do
not think that the Government immigrants paid much of the money that they owed.

612. And ultimatelyall attempts to recover the money were abandoned?—I do not know that
officially, but I have heard it stated that it was so.

613. I presume that would affect the chance of the Messrs. Brogden recovering their money?—
Yes ; I think it was so stated by the Agent-General, Dr. Featherston.

614. I believe you were examined as a witness before a Committee that inquired into the matter
on a former occasion ?—Tes; that was in 1873.

615. You arereported to have stated there that " to all intents andpurposes the contributions
Government received for Brogdens' immigrants, of £10, were the same as the contributions of the
ordinary Government immigrants." Is it a fact that the whole of the money, or part of it, was paid in
cash ?—The Government stopped the moneys from amounts due to Messrs. Brogden on their railway
contracts.

610. I believe the system of free immigration was adopted by the Government during the time
you were in office?—Yes.

617 Po you not think that would materially interfere with the Messrs. Brogden's chance of
recovering the moneys due to them on their promissory notes ?—No. Before the Government esta-
blished free immigration the Brogdens had discontinued their contract to bring out immigrants.

618. Do you not think the immigrants would object to pay this £15 when they knew that others
were being brought out for £5 ?—Yes.

619. Are you aware that a letter was addressed by the Messrs. Brogden to the Agent-General
on 12th June, 1873, on this subject ?■—Yes; I have read all the correspondence.

620. And in that they recapitulate the arrangements under which the agreement of June was
effected ?—Yes.

021. Can you say whether the Agent-General ever, in any communication -with the Government,
disclaimed the statement there made ?—I am not aware that he ever disclaimed the statement. I
think that the Messrs. Brogden, in taking the contract, did not expect to make any profit or any loss.

622. You do notrecollect any disclaimer on the part of the Agent-General in reference to this
matter?—I recollect that a letter was received from the Agent-General to the effect that, in con-
sequence of our changes, the Messrs. Brogden would experience greater difficulty in getting in their
money I have no recollection of any letter in which the Agent-General disclaimed any recollection
of this matter. The letter which was written in July must have beenreceived by the Immigration
Office before I left the Ministry in October. The letter which has just been handed to me has not
been printed with the other documents, and, before saying anything about it, I should like to be
allowed to have an opportunity of reading it. I believe it is thereply to a letter from the Immigration
Department in November, 1872, directing the Agent-General to hear the claims of Messrs. Brogden
to be allowed to abandontheir contract, and in which he was instructed to offer them such a modifica-
tion of their contract as would appear to him reasonable.

623. Mr. Bell.~\ You will remember that your letter refers only to future contracts ?—Yes, I
remember that the languageof the letter was that it should only refer to future transactions.

624. Mr. Turnbull.] What sum was charged by the Government for bringing out immigrants
when the contract was first entered into with Brogden?—During the time I was in office the charges
were varied I think three times. I could not be positive whether we were charging £10 or not for
assisted immigrants, but I think the charge at that time was only £5. I think the clerks in the
Immigration Department would be able to give more definite information. The Government found
that, in consequence of the Agent-General's changes in March, 1873, immigrants were getting free
passages one week and having to pay for passages in the following week.

625. In the letter of the 10thJuly was any memorandummade with reference to the matter?—I do
notknow, as I have not yet read the letter.

626. CaptainKenny.~\ You made use of the word " contract " just now To what do you refer ?—
The immigration contract of 27th June, 1872.

627 Is that the instrument referred to ?—Yes.
628. By that contract, were Messrs. Brogden obliged to continue sending out immigrants after

June? What was the nature of that instrument ?—The Messrs. Brogdencontracted to land a certain
number of persons in the colony, the contract being made with the Agent-General.

629. Do you remember the 6th clause of the petition, in which an allegation is made to the effect
that Messrs. Brogden implicitly relied on the assurance-that they should be indemnified against all loss?
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Is there no memorandum from the Agent-General describing his action in thefirst instance ?—I was
not awarethat the Q-overnment werepledged to indemnify Messrs. Brogden against any lossunder that
contract.

630. Then you do not remember any report from the Agent-General to the effectthat he had given
any assurances, such as are described in this petition, which would prevent them from being losers by
this transaction ?—I do not think anything of the kind was reported by the Agent-General during the
time I was in office. There was nothing to thateffect, as far as Iremember, except the statements made
by the Messrs. Brogden in their petition and the correspondence. I think Messrs. Brogden said they
had that promise from the Agent-General so long ago as the year 1872.

631. But the Agent-General did not refer to the matter in anyway?—No, not to my know-
ledge.

632. Hon. Mr. Dick.'] This petition refers to interviews which Mr. James Brogden had with you
in 1872; in which interviews he urged that the Government should relieve his firm from their
liabilities ?—Tes ; and I may say that Mr. James Brogden not only saw me, but Mr. Waterbousealso,
on the subject. Mr. Waterhouse was then Premier. In October, 1872, immediately after the session,
I had to go to Auckland, and Mr. Waterhouse received Mr. James Brogden in my absence. When I
returned to Wellington, in the following January I think, I had interviews with Mr. James Brogden,
and they were doubtlesspractically the same as those he had had with Mr. Waterhouse.

633. Are you aware that any relaxation of the terms was agreed to at any of these interviews?—
No ; the whole of the arrangements wereremitted to the Agent-General,who was supposed to be much
more fully acquainted with the circumstances than the Government could be.

634. In November you sent a despatch to the Agent-General, informing him that if he thought
proper to modify the arrangements he could do so: were you influenced by your conversation with
Mr. James Brogden to send that despatch ?—Tes, probably I was. That would be only applicable to
future transactions, and not to the past. I find, on reperusing the evidence, thatwe tied the Agent-
General strictly down to the future transactions, and not to the past.

635. This was after Messrs. Brogden had abandoned the bringing-out of immigrants ?—Tes.
636. Then the Government adhered to the past without making any alteration whatever ?—Tes.
637 Tou did not think it necessary, notwithstanding all the arguments of Mr. James Brogden,

to relax the agreement?—I have an impression that we thought the Agent-General ought to deal
more favourably with the Messrs. Brogden than the contract admitted of his doing, but, as the
correspondence shows, we limited him to future transactions.

638. The Chairman.] Are you awarewhythis immigrationcontract of 27th June was entered into ?
—It was entered into before I came into office. I know, however, that Messrs. Brogden represent
that they entered into the contract at the instigation of the Agent-General, but, as I have said,
the matter was arranged before I took office. I cannot say what was the reason or cause that
actuated the Government in entering into it. The first I knew of it was that, on taking office, the
Messrs. Brogden wanted to get rid of the contract.

639. Eepresentations having been made in New Zealand by Mr. James Brogden to Ministers that
this contract was a losing one, and application having been made to relieve his firm of the liability
why did not the Government relieve them of their liability as regarded thefuture ? —Ithink that, prac-
tically, they did so, inasmuch as Messrs. Brogden ceased to send out any immigrants after they had,
made application to abandon the contract.

640. In the letter of the 2nd November, 1872, where there are two applications, one to recoup
them for past services, and the other to relieve them of future liabilities : with regard to the first, I
understand that you refused to relieve them, while the second question you referred to the Agent-
General himself. I wish to know why the Government itself did not at once relieve them from
future operations ?—The Government had only been a short time in office at that time, and
the matter was referred to the Agent-General, and, as he exercised very large powers in these
matters, we thought it better to leave the affair to him, acting under instructions received from the
Government.

641. But what I want to ascertain is, why the Government didnot use its own discretion and deal
with the matter finally ?—We thought the matter could be more easily dealt with by the Agent-
General and the Messrs. Brogden (both parties being in England) than it could be by correspondence
from here.

642. Were you at that time aware that the contract was invalid?—I do not recollect that. We
were in that position that we could enforce the payment of the moneys due to us by them, because we
had moneys belonging to them on account of railway contracts, and we could deduct from them the
amounts they owed us.

643. Were you aware that you could not enforce the carrying on of the immigration con-
tract ?—No, I do not think so.

644. Did you wish to relieve them, or did you find that you had not the power to relieve them ?—I think the Government were of opinion that they should not force Messrs. Brogden to carry out the
contract, as it was pressing very hard upon them.

645. Mr. Travers.] Do you not think that the correspondence shows that they were guaranteed
against loss ?—I should not interpret the words of the contract to mean that they were to be indemni-
fied for their losses.

Hon. John Hall, Premier, examined.
645a. Mr. Travers.~\ The Committee will remember that theAgent-General,in a letterto the Colonial

Secretary,stated that Mr. Hall was present at an interview which took place with Messrs. Brogden.
Iwould nowask Mr. Hall what took place at that interview?—I recollect the conference perfectly
well, and I rememberalso that I attended it at the request of Dr. Featherston. At that time I had
recently arrived from New Zealand, and until I left the colony I was a member of Mr. Waterhouse's
Government, which, to thebest of my recollection, had received aremonstrance from, Messrs. Brogden
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on the subject of their treatment in the matter of the introduction of immigrants by them. In
accordance with Dr. Featherston's request I attended at his office and saw the three Messrs. Brogden
there. A long conversation took place on the subject, and they gave a number of reasons why they
considered that they had been badly treated ; but of course, after this lapse of time, I cannot recollect
the details of theconversation. It must be remembered that the interview took place nine years ago.
The letter of the 10th July says, " I have the honor to inform you that I had yesterday a conference
with the Messrs. Brogden, at which the Hon. Mr. Hall was present. Mr. Hall, in the discussion,
detailed fully the negotiations which had taken place in the colony between the Government and Mr.
JamesBrogden." My impression is that this referred to an application to the Government by Messrs.
Brogden for a reconsideration of their case, and it was because I had a personal knowledge of the
subject that Dr. Featherston asked me to attend on that occasion.

645b. Have youread the Agent-General's letter of the 10th July since then?—I remember that
the Messrs. Brogden did frequently, at the Agent-General's office, urge reasons why they considered
that they had a claim on the Government. As is stated in this letter, these promissory notes given to
the Government were for a less amount than that whichMessrs. Brogden received from the immigrants.
I have no further recollection of the matter than that they urged these points as grounds for relief.
Dr. Featherston did not make any promise at the time ; he was very guarded in his expression of
opinion.

645c. Mr. Sell.'] Can you remember whether Dr. Featherston admitted that he had made any
epresentation to the Messrs. Brogden, such as they have asserted that he did make ?—No, these
hings occurred over eight years ago, and I cannot remember details.

Thuesday, 4th August, 1881.
Mr. Bell's statement.

Mr. Bell: Ido not desire to make a speech, but will simply confine myselfto calling the atten-
tion of the Committeeto the new evidence which Messrs. Brogden have adduced in support of their
petition, and will briefly point out how it bears upon the case. This is now the third time that the
grievances of Messrs. Brogdenhave appeared inaprintedstatement,whereas the case for the Government
has never been presented in a collected form; were it not for this, I would not take up the time of the
Committee with an address dealingwith the facts from the Government point of view There has been
previously no opportunityof evenstating briefly thereasons which have induced successive Governments
of the colony to refuse to give consideration to these claims. The Committee will remember that this
petition is founded upon certain grievances, which may be very shortly stated in this way : First, that the
Brogdens entered into the immigration contract at the urgent request of the Government, and not at
their own wish. Secondly, that the contract of 1872 was made, and the prior shipments of immigrants
were made, upon thefaith of certain representations by the Agent-General to the Messrs. Brogden,
upon which representations they necessarily relied, but which representations, however, proved to be
incorrect. Thirdly, that immediately after the execution of the agreement the Government began
taking out immigrants in the same ships on more favourable terms, and that this created disaffection,
which resulted in repudiation by Messrs. Brogden's immigrants of their promissory notes. Fourthly,
they allege that every possible chance of recovery was extinguished by the abolition of imprisonment
for debt. Ipropose to call the attention of the Committee to the new evidence bearing upon these
several allegations,feeling sure that the members of the Committee have in their minds—without any
need of recapitulation of facts by me—theprinted evidence takenbefore theCommitteeof 1873, and the
printed documents which have been presented by the Messrs. Brogden. Now, what I would say, first
of all, is that the evidence, as a whole, shows clearly that Messrs. Brogden did enter into the immigra-
tion scheme for their own benefit, and that they always intended to import immigrants—their expressed
intention being to control the labour market. Mr. A. Brogden himself frankly admitsJ^hat they would
have sent out 500 or 600workmen in any case. Thisis borne outby his letter of theBth February, 1872,
to Mr. JamesBrogden, in which he states, "We shall also be sending out 500 to 600 workmen." Then,
in corroboration of this,Imayrefer to Mr. Henderson'sletterof the 24th January, 1872, inwhich he says,
" Should you engage men, which wefeel sure you may safely do, let it be for labour, ss. 6d. for nine
hours." Mr. Henderson, in the same letter, also writes, "The men here employed upon theworks have
struck against the nine hours' system, but should theyfor the present submit to the nine hours the
momentwe commence work upon a great scale we may expect another strike, and hence the necessity
of arranging with Dr. Featherstonfor a supply of good mechanics and labourers sent out by you so as
to be under your control, although the passage is paid by the Agent-General." It will be observed
that he says, "so as to be under your control." And. he adds, " 300 men could be sent here"—that is,
to Auckland—thus clearly showing that the Messrs. Brogden all along intended to import immigrants
to control the labour market and to enforce the nine hours system. In further support of what I
submit, I will quote from the letterof Mr.Noble,manager of Messrs. Brogden'sfirm in London. Writing
on the 14th March, 1872, Mr. Noble says, "We are now merely collecting up the men whowere under
promise to go,andwaiting further news from you before making fresh engagements." That shows that
Messrs. Brogden desired aparticular class of men, and we have Dr. Featherston's positive statement,
in the despatch of the 10th July, 1873, that the class of men thefirm desired—single men and navvies—
wras not such as the Government were anxious to import, and thereforeit was absolutely necessary that
Messrs. Brogden should import them for their large railway contracts. The Committeewill remember
that Messrs. Brogden's terms were that all men should remain in the employ of the firm for two years,
and Messrs. Brogden, if they could have managed to enforce that condition, would had the control of
the labour market, for they had the works for nearly a million—which was a very large part of the
contracts being carried out under the public works system at that time—and they tendered for nearly
all the other railway works, and no doubt expected to get them. Now, what Iwish to impress upon
the Committee as the view taken by successive Governments of this claim is this: that from the very
first, and throughout, Government refused to take the risk of absconders. They offered to find the pas*
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sages, deducting thepassage-moneyfrom the moneys payable to Messrs. Brogden. The Government
said, in effect, " You want a particular class of men ; we will import them. We will take your pro-
missory notes, but we will not take those of these men. You deal with the men, and youcan make what
termsyou like to protect yourselves." That was thepositionfrom the very first,and I proposeto prove it
from correspondencewhich tookplacebefore any immigrantswere imported. This is madeperfectly clear
by Mr. JamesBrogden's letter of the 25th November, 1871, in which, after stating the terms proposed by
the Governmentand himself, he says, " I thoughtwe could have worked thematter out that the Govern-
ment would take the risk, as they enforce a limitationon the price to be paid for labour—l therefore
thoughtitwould be better thatyou arrangewith Dr.Featherston. We couldnot agree as to the Govern-
ment taking the risk of absconding persons." It is perfectly clear that the Governmentrefused to do
the very thing which Messrs. Brogden are asking the Committee to have done now Mr. James
Brogden referred the matter Home, for the purpose of getting rid of the risk, no doubt. Then the
Government, in referring the matter to the Agent-General (D.-l, 1872, page 10), expressly intimate
that Messrs. Brogden must take the risk of recovery themselves. That is how I read that memo-
randum. I take it for granted they had it in their mind, and that what theyproposed in thisreference
Home was that the Agent-General and the Messrs. Brogden should agree upon some margin, but that
the Brogdens were to take the risk throughout. Now, the Messrs. Brogden had ample notice of the
risk, because, in the same letter of the 25th November, 1871, which was the beginning of the whole
matter, Mr. James Brogden used these remarkable words: " Dr. Featherston has some experience in
this " (i.e. promissory notes), "as in "WellingtonProvince alone he was a party to a loss occasioned to
the extent of £40,000 on account of persons who either repudiated theirpromissory notes or absconded."
In writing, therefore, in November, 1871, before they commencedsending out immigrants, Mr. Brogden
informed them of a loss in one province alone of £40,000 ; and yet Messrs. Brogden say they could
not have anticipated such a difficulty They say they could not have anticipated it; but I submit the
Committee has positive and conclusive evidence that they had ample notice of the circumstances of the
colony—a member of their firm was on the spot, and his attention had actuallybeen calledprominently
to thefact that there was a risk of absconders—such notice as would be sufficient to disentitle the firm
to relief in any Court of equity, and even, I submit, before a Public Petitions Committee, which no
doubt takes a wider view of such matters than a Court of equity To a lawyer, at least, the statement
that Messrs. Brogden could not anticipate the difficulty surrounding the recovery of these promissory
notes seems absurd. Mr. James Brogden had the best legaladvice that could be obtainedin thecolony
He had months during which he could have communicated those circumstances to England. For the
Messrs. Brogden, to whomhe referred it, to say now that they had no notice of these difficulties, that
they in England did not know what Mr. Brogden knew, is, to a lawyer, absurd ; and I think it would
also seem the same to any ordinary mind not twisted as a lawyer's is, perhaps, apt to be twisted. Of
course, themain question arises upon the negotiations with the Agent-General, if the Committeereally
think that the remaks made by theAgent-General upon the question are to bind thecolony Now, the
representations of the Agent-General were, I submit, if they are proved at all, mere statements of the
Agent-General's opinion. "While the negotiations were going on, and before any agreementwas signed,
Messrs. Brogden continued to send out immigrants, they taking promissory notes for £16, and under-
taking to hand to the Government their own promissory notes for £10. If the Agent-General said
that the promissory notes were legal, and that judgment could be recovered upon them in the colony,
he said whatwas strictly true. If he said there was a law of imprisonment for debt in force in the
colony, he said what was strictly true, and continued to be strictly true up to the end of 1874, when an
Act much more useful for enforcing payments was passed. Then comesthe third point. If the Agent-
Generalsaid that a margin of £5 would be sufficient to cover all losses, he said what turned out to be
incorrect. That was merely the opinion of the Agent-General: it was for the Messrs. Brogden to fix
with theAgent-General a margin which would be sufficient to protect their firm from loss. If it has
been proved he made such a statement, it is, I submit, to go for no more than a mere expression of his
opinion. It is the first timeI have everheard that a mere opinion, expressed by a partyto a contract,
is to be construed as arepresentation which wouldentitle theotherparty to be freed from his obligations
under the contract. Mr. A. Brogden(4th April, 1872) writes, " "We discussed the question several times
with Dr. Featherston,and,as Imentionedin my last letter,heproposed thattheGovernment shouldpay the
passage and werepay themby instalments, less 25 per cent, to cover loss which the Government would
bear. We have proposed and arranged verbally with the Agent-General that we act upon these terms,
keeping a strict ledger account." And on the 7th March, 1872, Mr. A. Brogden writes, "We shall
also continue to send out immigrants until the number you mention is reached. We shall arrange
with Dr. Peatherston on the basis of our undertaking the liability of the passage-money with the
Government, much in the same way as proposed in the draft agreement." Well, about this draft
agreement: the Committee will remember that the difficulty was that the Government would not
undertake the loss. That was the very objection that Mr. James Brogden raised to the draft agree-
ment of 1871—the objection that Government would not take the risk. Mr. A. Brogden says, " W
will arrange with the Government as proposed in the draft agreement." Now, the Committee will
remember that Dr. Featherston always distinctly refused to have accounts or let the Government have
anything to do with risk. He said, " There is no finalityin such an arrangement; fix the margin and
you take the risk." He would not agree to Messrs. Brogden's proposal, because there was no finality
about it. Dr. Featherston neveradmitted that he made any such statement,but it is true that he has
not denied it. There is a verycurious letter from Mr. Noble, which I think favours this view, that the
statement which Dr. Featherston made was not made till after Messrs. Brogden found the immigrants
refusing topay If that view be correct, Mr. Brogdenis mistaken—of course I meanhonestly mistaken—
in fixing the time when the statement was made by Dr. Featherston. Mr. Noble, writing on the Ist
November, 1872, says, "Your brother saw Dr. Featherston yesterday, but he will not release them
from any portion of the emigration agreement. He says that there is ample margin allowed in the
difference between the £10 paid him and the £15 we can charge to cover any possible loss, and he
backs up the statement by his own personal experience. I believe your brother will try and get this
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from him in writing, as it willbe a powerful lever in any appeal to the Government for a modification
of terms in case of loss to be able to show that the agreement was signed upon his representations."
Mr. Noble seems there to have desired that the statement made by Dr. Featherston in November, 1872,
should be reduced to writing, and it does not seem improbable tiiat there may be a misconception in
Mr Brogden's mind as to the time whenDr. Featherston said the margin would be sufficient. Mr.
Brogden maybe in error when he says the representations were made previously I suggest this was
the date when Dr. Featherston said, in effect," I know the margin will be sufficient to protect you, the
33 per cent, profit will bring you out right." Not that I think it is of much importance, because I
cannot see that a statement of opinion, such as Dr. Eeatherston is said to have given, can bind this
colony to surrender obligationswhich Messrs. Brogden entered into with it. I submit it was clearly
agreedthat Messrs. Brogdenshould take the risk, and that in fixing theirmarginfor therisk they should
have rested on the adviceof Mr. JamesBrogden, which therewas ample timeto have obtained, and which
they actually didobtain. The othermatters which Messrs. Brogden seem to place so much reliance upon
Iapprehend the Committeewillsay were neverproved. The terras upon which their immigrantswereim-
ported were, they say, worse than thoseconceded to the Government immigrants. Of course, but that
was by the act of Messrs. Brogden themselves. They should have known perfectly wellwhat the conse-
quences would be of bringing out their immigrants at one rate, while Government immigrants were
brought out at alowerrate. If they did not know they failed to discount human nature. Why should
they ask thecolony to recoup them for their ignorance of human nature? Messrs. Brogden blame the
Government because these men were dissatisfied. But the Committeewill find that, throughout the
period over which these immigrantsof Messrs. Brogden were imported, there was never any alteration
of the immigrationconditions of Government immigrants, except in regard to nominated immigrants.
When the contract was signed Messrs. Brogden knew that their immigrants had to pay more. Why
should the colony compensate Messrs. Brogden? It was only a natural disinclination on the part of
men coming out in ships with Government immigrants to pay more than their fellow-passengers, and
any person of ordinary foresight would have expected that difficulty at once. That difficulty was
actually foreseen in the colony before any immigrants were landed ; for on the Oth July 1872, Mr.
Henderson, their agent, writes, " I am sorry that the immigrants were not sent out on the usual
Government terms, namely, £5 cash, or£7 10s.promissory note. lamafraid the men on arrival here will
feei dissatisfied,and that we shall lose many of them. Please do not send anymore exceptupon the usual
Government terms, and even then the Government ought to allowyou 25 per cent, for risk, and pay all
expenses, &c." That was Mr. Henderson's idea. I do not place too great reliance on that, because
Mr Henderson had not been long enough out here to form an opinion from the special circumstances of
the colony But, from his knowledge of human nature, he knew what would happen. This, however,
was a matter which Messrs. Brogden were as competent (nay as large employers of labour, far more
competent) to judge of as the Agent-General. One other point I wish to refer to, and that is, the
charges for transhipment. Messrs. Brogden allege that the Government did not perform the fourth
clause of the contract, by treating the Brogden immigrants in as beneficial a manner as Government
immigrants. Upon that point I have elicited that the colony hasrepaid to Messrs. Brogden the sum of
£1,126 or thereabouts, which they had expendedin landing expensesand medical comforts. Another
sum of £300 odd, claimed on the same ground, remains under consideration, the items being ques-
tioned : there has been no'definiterefusal to pay that sum if properly vouched. With regard to this
question of transhipment charges, I simply submit that, so far as the colony was concerned, it did not
matter whether 300 men were landed in Wellington or in Picton : the colony, once they were
landed, got the benefit of the immigration, and they were as good to the colony at one port as at
another. Of course it would be better for the Messrs. Brogden to have the men where they wanted
them. But Ido not see why the Government should pay for conveying Messrs. Brogden's labourers
to whatever part of the colony they were wanted at the time. Messrs. Brogden must pay for the
transhipment of their men as any other contractor would have to do. With reference tothe, complaint
about the abolition of imprisonment for debt, it is enough to point out that Mr Henderson said, in
1873, that imprisonment for debt was useless to them because they had to pay 10s. per week
for each man imprisoned ; and that the grievance now is that the last chance of recovery has been
extinguished by the Act for the Abolition of Imprisonment for Debt. Some curious evidence has been
adduced from the immigrants landed here by the petitioners. Three men who remained here in
Wellington all the time, but werenot sued till twelve or fourteen months after they landed : that men
living in a place where the firm had their head-quarters were not sued for so longa period is strong
evidence that Messrs. Brogden did not use any diligence in endeavouringto recover upon the notes.
The probability is they had this present claim in view, and preferred to rely on the chance of getting
their money back from Government. It may be gathered, from the evidence that they gave in 1.873,
and from the manner in which they conducted themselves since, that they were advised they could
resist the payment of their own promissory notes—as they endeavoured to do in the case f Broaden
versus the Queen, when they were defeated. I think, from the way in which Messrs. Brogden have
lain on their oars, as they have preferred to do, it is pretty clear that they thought that they could get
their money from Government—and get it without trouble and expense; and that, instead of taking
action to get in these moneys, they contented themselves with the opinion of their legal advisers that
Government could not stop the amount of these notes from sums payable to the firm. In conclusion,
I would ask the Committee to believe thatI have not stated one-tenth part of what I understand to
be the Government case. I wouldask the Committee also to believe that I refrained in cross-examina-
tion from asking numerous questions which I had intended to put. I have neither directed any part
of my cross-examination, nor any part of my remarks, to show that it is a stale claim or an unfair
claim. I have rested throughout upon this: that successive Governments have all agreed that there
is no equity in this claim—that there is no scintilla of right to claim the allowance which Messrs.
Brogden ask for. I have tried also to show, from the new evidence that they have brought before
the Committee now, in addition to that which they brought before the previous Committee, that they
have never had a shadow of right to say to the colony that the colony has repudiated any engagement
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of the Agent-General, or treated them less fairly than it would have treated residents of the colony
I propose to call evidence to show that an allowance was made in Messrs. Brogden's contract for the
hours of labour. That, of course, is a matter which bears upon the subject. It is true that Mr.
Carruthers said there was onlya slight allowance made, but the Committee will remember that that
was notborne out by the evidence of Mr. Henderson, who was acting for Brogdens in 1872. There is
a somewhatsingular discrepancy between the evidence of Mr. Henderson and that of Mr. Carruthers.
To throw light upon that subject, I propose to examine Mr. Richardson.

Mr Gave : With reference to thisreturn furnished by the Government to the Committee, I would
point out that it does not show on theface of it in respect of what promissory notes the recoveries
have been made. It doesnot give the datesof the promissory notes in respect of which the payments
have been received. This is a return extending over ten years, and includes recoveries made within
the whole of that period in respect of all the promissory notes takenfrom emigrants by the Govern-
ment during the same period, and therefore gives a misleading view

Hon. Mr. Richabdson, C.M.Gk, examined.
616. Mr. Bell.] You were a member of the Waterhouse Government ?—Yes.
6t7 When did you come into office ?—ln October, 1872.
6-18. You had nothing to do with the negotiations for the immigration contract ?—No, nothing

at all.
649. You were Minister for Public Works in that Government, from what term ?—From a date

early in November—I was previously Minister withoutportfolio—and I remained Minister for Public
Works for more than four years.

650. You were well acquainted with the contracts entered into with Brogden, and not only with
these, but also with the contracts of other contractorsfor the railway works of the colony ?—Yes.

651. Were you Minister at the time when the contract for the millions-worthof public works
with Messrs. Brogden was arranged?—No. The general agreement was arranged in 1871; but the
works were letpiecemeal, and the letting of them extended on till 1873. There weretwo large contracts
let under the agreement by myself, during my term of office.

652. Can you state what is your opinion as to whether an allowance was made to Messrs. Brogden
for a probable increase in theprice of labour?—I stated distinctly, in my evidence to the Committee
of 1873, that fully 15 per cent, was paid by the Government over and above the rates at which the
works would have been done by contractors in thecolony lamsure that thatpercentage was allowed.
Tt was done deliberately At all events, in the contracts that I arranged, the addition of 15 per cent,
overand above the Engineer's estimate was made deliberately in the Cabinet. It was added upon my
representation.

653. Have you a return showing the prices at which Brogdens contracted, and prices at which
contractors who tenderedpublicly contracted ?—I have not areturn exactly of that kind, but such a
one was prepared before I left office. The total amount of Messrs. Brogden's contracts was just short
of a million. Comparing the prices of other contractors whoso contracts were taken and carried out
concurrently with those of Messrs. Brogden, the result showed that the colonial contractors' prices
were more than 20 per cent, below the prices paid to Messrs. Brogden for their work—thatis, taking the
average of Messrs. Brogden's contracts, and the average of the other contracts. That return I cannot
lay hands upon now 1 have a statement also, which I had prepared as far as it went, before a Com-
mittee of 1873, and has since been completed. This is a statement of all contracts which Brogdens and
their agents tendered for publicly I will put that statement in. [Statement handed in.] That shows
that i he contracts tendered for by Messrs. Brogden publicly were all letat an average of 20| per cent,
below th' prices they tendered for. These are the contracts which Messrs. Brogden tenderedfor and
did not succeed in getting, and thereturn shows the sum they were let for to private contractors.

654-. The Chairman.'] I understand, Mr. Richardson, that this 15 per cent, which was agreed in
Cabinet to be given to Messrs. Brogden was overand above what was considered the value of thework
to local contractors. Was that donefrom the beginning of the arrangementwith the firm ?—No ;at
the earlier stages,and before I took office, theprocess had been, as was explained before the Committee
in 1873, that Messrs. Brogden and the Engineer-in-Chief met together, and arranged what was con-
sidered to be a fairprice for the work; theEngineer-in-Chief then brought up his report to the Govern-
ment, and the works were accepted or otherwise. When I took office I objected altogether to that
course ; I called upon Messrs. Brogden to tender for the work, and I also called upon the Engineer-in-
Chief to send in his estimate of what the work would be if done by ordinary contractors in the colony..
Then the Cabinet, knowing what had been done previously with the other contracts, and which has been
stated in evidence before the Committeeof 1873, agreed upon my recommendationto add 15 per cent.
to the Engineer's estimate of what the total cost would be if done by local contractors, as estimated
by t he Engineer-in- Chief ; and Messrs. Brogden wereto have the work if their tender'was below that,
or about it.

655. It was in October, 1872, that the new system was introduced?—Yes.
656. What was therelative price of the works given to Messrs. Brogden before that time, com-

pared to what local contractors would have done the work for ?—The actual difference was a trifleover
20 per cent.

657 In contracts let before October, 1872?—Yes ; that was the difference.
658. Was that 20 per cent, or 15 per cent, made to Messrs. Brogden in consequence of an antici-

pated rise in the pri-e oflabour?—lt was given as 15 per cent., but in reality it worked out to 20 per
cent. It was supposed they should have 15 per cent, given to them to cover liabilities,more than any
other local contractor would have to provide: that is to say, going into large works, it was known,
labour must rise, and for this, and increase, and other contingencies, they were allowed 15 per cent.

659. Had this anything to do with covering losses in the immigration contract?—The immigration
contract was neverconsidered. The circumstances un<ler which that contract was enteredinto were
quite understoodby myself, and I always had a clear idea about it, because Mr. James Brogden con-
sulted me immediatelyafter his arrival in Wellingtonrespecting it, and 1 advised him myselfby telling

See p"ge 45.
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him what had occurred in my own case. I had been a contractor in this colony, and I told him that
myself and partners had had to import, at our own cost, a large amount of labour to get the market
steady He told me that he had written Home two or three times about the matter, and that
he intended to take steps to have the proper class of men sent out.

660. Mr. Murray.'] Was this contract for immigration treated as a separate concern?—It was
treated so far as a separate concern, but a condition in the immigration contract was fulfilled which
gave the right to the Government to deduct from the other contracts the amount of the promissory
notes issued by Messrs. .Brogden under the immigrationcontract.

661. Had this 15 per cent, which the Brogdeh's got above the estimated cost by the Government
Engineer anything to do with recouping them for any loss which they might sustain through the non-
fulfilment of immigrants in paying their promissory notes ?—lt had nothing whatever to do with it.
They had to provide their own labour from whatever source they pleased. The matter of importing
their labour was not recognized in any shape or way,so far as these works wereconcerned, except that
the amount due to the Government for their promissory notes was to be stopped from the contract
payments.

662. Then, why did Messrs. Brogden get 15 per cent, more than other contractors?—'Because it
was held at the time that, coming out from England, as they were put to a very large expense, their
works being broken vp—a bit in this part of the country, a bit in another—they were under larger
expense than any other contractor. It was also held thatany contractor taking thework would have
to get labour somewhere, of a kind specially suitable for public works.

663. Would other contractors not have to get labour as well as Brogdens ?—Doubtless they
would, and doubtless they provided in their own calculations for getting labour.

064. Mr. Turtibull.j You said that 15 per cent, was paid over and above the estimated cost of the
works : I want to know if the 15 per cent, alluded to is the contingency which is put in in all tenders ?
—No; the estimates included the ordinary contingencies allowed to contractors; and then there was
an additional 15 per cent, paid to them.

665. Hon. Mr. Dick] You say you gave Brogdens work at more than the Engineer's estimate,
and then added 15 per cent, to that estimate ?—I gave them more than the Engineer's estimate, and
the percentage in addition. The Engineer's estimate afterwards turned out correct. The public
tendering showed it to be so.

666. Did you consider that the colony owed something to Messrs. Brogden, in consequence of the
engagementsentered into with them by Sir Julius Vogel?—Yes,of course ; and Parliament, after con-
sidering the matter, directed the Government to find them a millions-worth of works. The firm's diffi-
culties, arising from all sources, were taken into consideration in the arrangement of all their works.
You will find, from the evidence of Mr. Henderson before the Committee of 1873, that due and full"
consideration was given to all these points.

667 And, after you got tenders from others, you found they were20 per cent, less than the price
paid to Brogdens for their contracts for similar works?—Yes.

668. Were the contracts performedby other contractors quite as well carried out ?—As a rule,
they were equally as well done.

669. With 20 per cent, less paid for them?—Yes.
670. In some respects, your position as a contractor was similar to Brogdens—that is, you took a

largo contract from the Provincial Government of Canterbury ?—Yes.
671. And on your arrival in the colony you. found you could not carry it out without interfering

with the labourmarket?—lt did interfere. In the first place, my partner came down,and was advised
in the same way that Mr. Brogden was. He was advised by the then Superintendent, Mr. Moorhouse,
that we should have a great deal of trouble if we did not import men ourselves ; upon the strength of
that, 1 brought down with me 100 men, and we afterwards imported 300 more. We brought more
than 400 men into the colony and did so entirely at pur own cost. In the settlement of accounts we
suggested that bringing so many men into the colony at our own cost was a reason why we should
receive reasonable consideration ; but it was refused point blank, in any form or shape.

672. Mr. Brogden arrived here before you became Minister for Public Works. The Government
suggested to him to consult you about the labour question?—Yes.

673. Did you inform him of the difficulties your firm had had about labour ?—Yes.
674. Told him you had imported labour at your own cost ?—-Yes.
675. Are you aware whether Mr. James Brogden took action on your advice?—Mr. James

Brogden told me that he had at once taken action upon it, and advised his firm at Home to send out
men.

676. Then your idea at that time was that Brogdens were acting similarly to what you had done
—that they were bringing out their men at their own cost ?—Certainly

677 Captain Kenny.] Did Messrs. Brogden tender for any other works besides those for which
they sent in private tenders?—Yes ; they tenderedin their own names, and tenders were also received
which Government understoodto be Messrs. Brogden's, though they were in the name of gentlemen,
working with them. They tendered by themselves and agents for some £870,000, by public com-
petition.

678. What difference was there between their tenders and the tenders which were accepted ?—An
average of 20 per cent.

679. Can you state the value of the works done by Messrs. Brogden ?—About a million : it might
be more; but their contracts amountedto abouta million. The prices which I referred to before were
prices of contracts of other contractorsrunning concurrentlywith those of Messrs. Brogden, and would
average 20 per cent less.

6SO. lleference has been made more than once to the discrepancy between the evidence of Mr.
Henderson and Mr Carruthers—can you explain that discrepancy?—lt is very easily accountedfor. Mr-
Henderson, surrounded as he wasby gentlemenonthe Committeeof 1873, who, on behalf of the Govern-
ment, made these contracts, himself being a partner, and therefore interested in them, stated that all
these matters had, in arranging theprices given for the work, received due andfull consideration. Mr.
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'Carruthers, on the other hand, says, " I did not make any special allowanceto Messrs. Brogden." But
he said, " Whoever has theseworks willbe put to very considerableexpense,and I have allowed for it."
The allowancewasmade in thatway That it was made is provedright through thepiece, from beginning
to end, in theprice of the works which Messrs. Brogden got by private tender and in the price of
the works offered them by private tender, which they did not accept, and which were afterwards let
by public tender, the same difference of about 20 per cent, appears. Then, the works which Brogden
tendered for publicly, were let to local contractors by public tender, at about 20 per cent, less than
Brogden's, and within, as arule, of about 5 per cent, of the Engineer-in-Chiefs estimate.

681. Then, it may be concluded that among contractors and business men general!}' this rise
in wages was anticipated ?—No doubt.

6b2. And that they madearrangements for introducing immigrants, or tendering at prices which
would anticipate the rise?—I presume so.

683. Mr. Turnbull.~\ Then, you reckon that Messrs. Brogden were paid £150,000 by the colony
more than they should have been ?—I certainly do not say that.

084. You say they got 15 per cent, on a millions-worth of work?—l say that Brogdens were
brought out here in a most extraordinary position. Government and Parliament took the view that
they must get a millions-worth of work at fair prices ; and it is a question what werefair prices under
the circumstances.

685. Hon. Mr. Dic7c] That arose from the position in which Sir Julius Vogel had put the colony
with respect to the firm ?—Tes: the same thing would have had to be done for any other firm that
might have been sent out under similar conditions as those arranged with Messrs. Brogdeuin England.

686. Mr. JBarron.~\ 1 did not clearly understand from you whether Mr. Carruthers based his
estimates entirely on the tenders of other contractors, or whether he took into consideration actual
quantities, and the price of labourin the market at the time?—ln the first place there is his evidence
■on record, showing how prices were agreed upon for contracts amounting to about £700,000. After-
wards the Engineer made his own estimate in detail, which he submitted to me, and I submitted it to
-the Cabinet. He allowed the full profits on to the tenders before they came up to be dealt with by
Government. The whole practice of the department was that, whenever a public tender was called,
theEngineer sent his estimate in, and the Minister based the action taken by the Government on that
estimate.

687 Then it is a fair assumption to suppose that those contractors upon whose estimates these
contracts of Messrs. Brogden were based would take into consideration a fair margin of profit?—
Yes.

688. Then, in addition to the 15 per cent., they would have the margin of profit that the other
contractors allowed for?—To a great extent theyhad. It wasknown that, owing to their works being
so cut up, they were put to some expense; but in their estimate,before the 15 per cent, was put on, a
fair margin for profit and contingencies was put on Mr. Carruthers's estimate.

689. It is no unfair assumption to suppose that the Messrs. Brogdenhad a profitfrom the Govern-
ment of 30 per cent., 15 per cent, above the Engineer's estimate, and the usual 15 per cent, margin of
profit ?—I do not state that at all. That is a matter of opinion. I stated what was the ruling price
of work for the time, and how the prices were arrived at and tenders dealt with by Government.
No further allowance was made than would have been made to Brassey or any one else in the same
position.

690. Mr. Cave."] If, as I understand you, the work was split up into smaller sections, then the
Government would have got it done cheaper?—Practically it was split up into small sections.

691. Can you state, of your own knowledge, whether the work which was given to these small
contractors was completed within the terms for which it was let?—In a great many cases it was.
Taking it upon the whole it was done quite as favourably and as near within the margin as the
Brogden contracts.

692. Did not some of the contractors fail, and the Government have to take over the works at a
loss?—ln some cases the contractor failed,but Idonot know that the Governmentsustained a loss. I
think the guarantors completed the contracts—that was, on the Wellington and MastertonKailway
The immigrants my firm brought out were not from England, they were from Australia.

603. I think you were Minister when this letter of the 10th July, 1873, was received?—Yes.
691. Allow me to call your attention to this paragraph : " Dr Featherston to the Colonial Secre-

tary.—It was pointed out to them that Mr. James Brogden had commenced the negotiations in the
colony, and had been on the point of signing the contract, when, at the lastmoment, he declined, on the
ground that he preferred that the terms of the contract should be arranged between his brothers and
myself; that, in order that they might be secured against loss, I agreed that they should take
a promissory note of £15 from each adult, they giving to the Government a promissory note of £10
per adult; "that this allowance of 33 per cent, might be deemed ample to secure them against loss."
Would not that be, to your mind, an admissionby the Agent-General that lie had made an assurance
to Messrs. Brogden that 33 per cent, was enough to secure them against loss ?—That is entirely an
expression of his own opinion. I know what has taken place throughout the piece, and I take the same
view as was put upon it by counsel here to-day It is simply a matter of opinion of the Agent-General
all through.

695. Son. Mr. Dick.'] Am I correct in stating that Messrs. Brogden had a millions-worth ofwork
before they had to go to competition for any ? Yes.

696. There were worksbeing competed for before Messrs. Brogden gotall their work?—Yes.
697 And you gave them a certain amount of work without competition, at a price based on those

prevailing in concurrent contracts, and put 15 per cent, on to that?—Yes.



I.—lA.

APPENDIX.
[Return
handed
in
by
Hon.
E.

Richardson,
C.M.G-.

Statement
showing

the
Works
Tendered
for
by

Public
Competition
by
Messrs.
John

Brogden
and

Sons,
and

the
Difference
between

their
Tenders

and
the

Prices
at
which

the
Work

was
let.

W
A.

Thomas.

7—l. 1a

45

Contracts.

Dates
and

Amounts
of

Messrs.
Brogden's

Tenders.

Dates
and

Amounts
of

Accepted
Tenders.

Difference
between

Messrs.
Brogden's

and
Accepted Tenders.

Contract
No.
1,

Winton
to

Kingston

Tokomairiro,
Tokomairiro
to

Lawrence

Grlenore,
Tokomairiro
to

Lawrence

JBoundhill,
Tokomairiro
to

Lawrence

Waitahuna,
Tokomairiro
to

Lawrence

Tuapeka,
Tokomairiro
to

Lawrence

Port
Chalmers
Wharf ..TVanganui,

Wanganui
to

Manawatu

Deborah
Bay,

Dunedin
to
Moeraki

Hutt,
permanent
way,

Wellington
to

Masterton

Wangaehu,
Wanganui
to

Manawatu

Biver,
Wellington
to

Masterton
No.
2,

Winton,
Winton
to

Kingston

Pakipaki,
Napier
to

Waipukurau
Pakuratahi,

Wellington
to
Masterton

Port
Chalmers,

Dunedin
to

Moeraki

Southern,
Timaru
to
Waitaki

Mataura,
Clutha
to

Mataura
Hook,
Timaru
to

Waitaki
Purakanui,
Dunedin
to

Moeraki

Brunswick,
Wanganui
to

Patea

Wanganui,
permanent

way,
Wanganui
to
Manawatu

Incline,
Wellington
to
Masterton

Marton,
Wanganui
to

Manawatu
Blueskin,
Dunedin
to

Moeraki ..Westport
Station,

Westport
to

Mount
Eochfort

Eangitawa,
Wanganui
to

Manawatu
Clutha,

form,
and

permanent
way,Clutha
to
Mataura

May
16,
1873

„
22,

„

„
22,

„
22

!>

22,

,,

July
15,

„

Oct.
8,

„

Mar.
9,

1874
April
17,

„
29

„
30,

„

June
24,

„

July
15,

„

Sept.
2,

„

„
23,

„

„
23,

„
23,

April
2l[
1875

May
26,

„

Oct.
1,

„

Feb.
23,
1876

Mar.
22,

„

May
26,

„

„
31,

„

„
14,
1877

£

S.

d.

16,703
16
2

14,141
14
9

19,308
14
2

22.047
0
11

13,588
2
11

17,212
18
8

21,438
0

0

22.127
0

0

70,023
S
11

3.209
7

0

26,948
7

2

20,600
9

4

39,537
4

8

23,773
4

4

87,609
18
6

55,086
7

4

23,770
3

6

24,008
0

0

44.622
17
11

85,687
0

0

31,062
0

0

4,945
13
0

61,125
9

8

23.369
1

6

45,171
0

0

32,458
6
10

11,972
16
9

10,770
10
0

May
16,1873

a

22,

„

;>

22,

„

i;

22,

„

..22,

„

5i

22,

,,

July
15,

„

Oct.
8,

„

Mar.
9,

1874
April
17,

„

i)

2J,

„

June
24,

„

July
15,

„

Sept.
2,

„

»

23,

„

)>

23,

„

jj

23,

„

April
21,
1875

)>

28,

„

May
26,

„

Oct.
1,

„

Feb.
23,
1876

Mar.
23,

„

May
26,

„

„
14,
1877

£

s.
d.

12,760
3
10

11,023
0
11

16,491
14
6

19,780
0

0

12,414
10
10

13,846
9

8

16,408
6

3

16,372
4

8

35,227
7

2

2,125
0

0

19,959
11
0

19,138
0

0

27,835
16
8

19,532
15
0

61,979
19
0

47,968
0
11

18,544
7

8

19,588
16
9

35,852
0

0

68,384
13
0

31,552
0

0

3,895
0

0

49,029
1

8

19,356
0

6

45,000
0

0

30,070
17
11

9,958
6

8

10,000
0

0

J
M.
Watson

J
and

E.
Campbell

W
Strachan Morrison

and
Irvine

J.
Goodfellow

D.
Pro'udfoot

W
Strachan

D.
and
J
McKenzie

McKirdyWPell McKirdyWH.
L.

Bennett
McKirdyTV

F
Oakes

W
Strachan

Q
Pratt McMenamin

and
Co.

D.
Proudfoot

J
Wain

P

Lanigan Wilkie
and

Denby
McKirdy

J
D.
Fraser

D.
Proudfoot

W
Smith Nathan

and
Wilkie..,

Proudfoot
and

McKay
£

s.
d.

3,943
12
4

3,118
13
10

2,816
19
8

2.267
0
11

1,173
12
1

3,366
9

0

5,029
13
9

5,754
15
4

34,796
1

9

1,084
7

0

6,988
16
2

1,462
9

4

11,701
8

0

4,240
9

4

25,629
19
6

7.118
6

5

5,225
15
10

4,419
3

3

8.770
17
11

17,302
7

0

110
0

0

1,050
13
0

12,096
8

0

4.013
1

0

171
0

0

2,387
8
11

2.014
10
1

770
10
0

1

.

178,824
9

5

872,918
14
0

694,094
4

7



I.—lA 46

Mr. A. Bro&best to the Chairman, Public Petitions Committee.
Sib,— "Wellington, Bth August, 1881.

I beg to make the following observations on the return handed in by the Hon. Mr. Richard-
son at the conclusion of the lust sitting of the Committee.

The first seven tenders on the list are on Mr. Smyth's own account. We never had any connec-
tion with or interest in them; and, as he carried out some contracts with the Government, I am unable
to see why these are included in the list of tenders by us.

Tenders by Gwynneth have also to bo taken out.
Of the remaining eighteen, at least nine were let to parties who failed, and the works had to be

completed at the cost of the guarantors or the Government.
The Deborah Bay contract was the subject of public notoriety, and a large sum had to be added to

the accepted tender.
The Purakanui contract was carried out at a heavy loss to the contractor; and in someof the other

cases, if the contracts had turned out disadvantageous^,theparties had not the means to bear the loss.
But Mr. Richardson, the then Minister for Public "Works, must know, although he did not so

inform the Committee, that the failure of contractors for railway works was of constant occurrence :
no wonder that we declined to tender on terms and at prices involving such consequences.

Mr. Richardson's statementwith regard to added percentagesis not sustained by the listproduced
by him, as in one case there was only a difference of £110 in a contract of £31,500, and in two cases
the odd money, even to pounds and shillings, appearsto have been taken off, and the contract given to
another contractor.

But Mr. Richardson, while including all the contracts in question in his statement, was in a
position to speak only of those given to us after he became Ministerfor Public Works, which amounted
only to £192,000. Mr. Carruthers is more competent to speak of those prior to Mr. Richardson's
time, and his evidence is before the Committee.

I respectfully submit that Mr. Richardson's evidence is disingenuous, and calculated to mislead,
and that the Committeeshould give no weight to it.

I shall be obliged if you will consider this as part of myevidence.
I have, &c,

J Kelly, Esq., Chairman, Public Petitions Committee, Alex. Bkogden
Parliamentary Buildings.
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Hon. E. Bichabdson, C.M.G-., to the Chairman, Public Petitions Committee.
Sic,— Wellington, 15th August, 1881.

I have to thank you for giving me the opportunity ofreading the statementsigned by Mr. A.
Brogden, in reference to the evidence I gave before your Committee in connection with Messrs.
Brogden's immigrationpetition.

As there can be no doubt that the object of this statementof Mr. Brogden is to endeavour to show
to the Committee that my evidence is not worthy of credence, and, to quote his own words, is
" disingenuous, and calculated to mislead," I consider I am entitled to reply to his letter of the Bth
instant, quoted above.

Feeling, as I did, that the subject-matter of the inquiry was of extreme importance, Iwas very
guarded in the evidence I gave, and kept far within the mark in the adversestatements I made bearing
on Messrs. Brogden's contracts, and the way in which they were carried out,
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Manawatu
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Bay,

Dunedin
to
Moeraki

Hutt,
permanent
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Wellington
to

Masterton

Wangaehu,
Wanganui
to

Manawatu

Hirer,
Wellington
to
Masterton

No.
2,

Winton,
Winton
to

Kingston

Pakipaki,
Napier
to

Waipakurau
Puburatahi,

Wellington
to

Masterton

Port
Chalmers,

Dunedin
to

Moeraki

Southern,
Timaru
to
Waitaki

Mataura,
Clutha
to
Mataura

Hook,
Timaru
to

Waitaki
Purakanui,
Dunedin
to

Moeraki

Brunswick,
Wanganui
to

Patea

Wanganui,
permanent
way,

Wanganui
to
Manawatu

Incline,
Wellington
to

Masterton
Marton,

Wanganui
to
Manawatu

Oct.
8,

„

Mar.
9,

1874
April
17,

„

))
*">

55

June
24,

„

July
15,

„

Sept.
2,

„

!>
"'

55

23
35

*"
J
5

55

>5

23,

„
23

55

TJ
J

55

April
21,
1875

5>

28,

„

May
26,

„

Oct.
1,

„

Feb.
23,
1876

22,127
0

0

70,023
8
11

3,209
7

0

26,948
7

2

20,600
9

4

39,537
4

8

23,773
4

4

87,609
IS
6

55,086
7

4

23,770
3

6

24,008
0

0

44,662
17
11

85,687
0

0

31,662
0

0

4,945
13
0

61,125
9

8

23.369
1

6

Oct.
8,

„

Mar.
9,

1874
April
17,

„

55

V>

J)

„30,

„

June
24,

„

July
15,

„

Sept.
2,

„

»
23,

„

„
23,

„
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)5

April
21,
1875

55

28,

„

May
26,

„

Oct.
1,

„

Feb.
23,
1876

16
108
©

3-

ie',372
4

8

35,227
7

2

2,125
0

0

19,959
11
0

19,138
0

0

27,835
16
8

19,532
15
0

61,979
19
0

47,968
0
11

18,544
7

8

19,588
16
9

35,852
0

0

68,384
13
0

31,552
0

0

3,895
0

0

49,029
1

8

19,356
0

6
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P
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Denby
...

McKirdy
J
D.

Eraser
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4

(a)

34,796
1

9*(/)

1,084
7

0

(b)

6,988
16
2

(c)

1,462
9

4

(d)

11,701
8

0

4,240
9

4

(e)
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6
(/)
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6

5

(J)

5,225
15
10

4,419
3

3

8,770
17
11

17,302
7
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0
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1,050
13
0

12,096
8

0
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1

0
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0

0—
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8
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6
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„
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17
11
W
Smith

"sr

rr

_^o[??O-4O—
0-

55

**5
55

Xu,UUU
y

y—i

770
10—0-
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5
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Contract
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t
Carried

out
at
a

loss.

(Signed)
W
A.

Thomas.
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You will remember that, in handing in the statement of contracts tenderedfor unsuccessfully by

Messrs. Brogden, I was very careful to state that I was not aware whether those sent in by Mr. Smyth
and Mr. Gwynneth, who acted as agents for Messrs. Brogden, were on account of the firm. At the
time, owing to the large amount of interest their Mr. Henderson took in connection with some, if not
all, of these contracts, the department was led to suppose that theyreally were Messrs. Brogcien's own
tenders; but as he denies the fact there is an end to the mattor, except that it is as well now to point
out that, if these contracts are taken out of the statement I put in, the remainder show a larger
percentage againstMessrs. Brogden than if they were left in.

I have applied to the Public Works Department, since I have read Mr. A. Brogden's letters, for
accurate information on the subject of these contracts, having only spoken from memory when giving
myevidence, and now do myself the honor to forward you a statement supplied by the Accountant of
the department, on reference to which it will be seen that I was perfectly justified in giving the
evidenceI did on the matter; and the fact remains that the works referred to were carriedout for the
sums named. And I may now be permitted to add that, with the exceptionof the Pakuratahi contract,
all of themwere let at prices within a trifle of the estimate of the Engineer-in-Chief, Mr. Oarruthers ;
and in that particular case I am in a position to state that, had the management been good, and the
contractors acted with ordinary prudence, it would have been carried out without loss either to the
original contractors or their sureties—evidence to that effect havingbeen given before your Committee
on a precious occasion. Doubtless Mr. A. Brogden has obtained the information on which he has
based his letter underreply from the same sources his firm didwhen tendering and carrying out their
works, and have been equally misled now as then.

Mr. A. Brogden's statement, that Iwas only in a position to speak of the contracts thatwere let
to his firm duringmy term of office, amounting to £192,000, is too absurd to require refutation, seeing
that I was Minister for Public Works during the whole time all their contracts I referred to were
carried out.

Mr. A. Brogden, while he refers to Mr. Carruthers's statement as to thepercentage added, which
I fully explained to the Committee, is particularly careful to omit all reference to his own partner's
(Mr. Henderson's) evidence before the Committee in 1873, when, as I stated to your Committee,he was
in the presence of all the gentlemenwho had arranged the details of all their contracts, and there ad-
mitted that everyconsideration had been given to all the difficulties they had to contend with, including
the labour question,in determiningthe prices paid to thefirm. And I submit that Mr. Henderson's
evidence on that occasion is of far more weight, given, as it was, at the timeeverything connectedwith
these contracts was fresh in the memory both of himself and those who had made them on behalf of
the colony, than anything that can be said now, after the lapseof eightyears.

I regret that Mr. A. Brogden should have been led, by those whoprobably knew better, to make
the remarks he has in his letter under reply regarding myself; but as all my connections with these
matters were purely of an official character, and as Minister for Public Works for the colony, I decline
to notice them in any other than in the manner I have herein.

I have, <fee,
The Chairman of the Public Petitions Committee. Edwabd Eichaedson *

Conteacts for which Messrs. Beogden and Sons Tendered Unsuccessfully
Extract from Letter by Alexander Brogden to Public Petitions Committee.

" Of the remaining eighteen [contracts], at least nine were let to parties who failed, and the
works had to be completed at the cost of the guarantorsor the Government."

(a.) Wanganui Contract.—Lot to W Strachan on Bth October, 1873. Taken out of his hands by
Government on 25th March, 1875, and completed by the Government, at a cost of £2,151 9s. lOd. in
excess of the original contract sum.

(b.) Hutt {Permanent-way Contract.—Let to C. McKirdy Contract sum, £2,125. By Order in
Council additional work, amounting to £2,900, was authorized. Both Messrs. Brogden and Mr.
McKirdy appearto have tendered for the same work, and, had the contract been let to Messrs. Brogden,
they would of course have been paid for the extrawork.

(c.) Wangaehu Contract.—Let to Walton Pell in April, 1874, by whom contract was assigned
to Bank of New Zealand in March, 1876, andcompleted.

(d.) Biver Contract.—Let to C. McKirdy, and completed by him.
(c.) Pakvpaki Contract.—Let to C. McKirdy, and completed by him. A bonus was promised if

work was completedto time, but, as completion was someweeks overtime, bonus was not allowed.
(f.) Pahuratahi Contract.—Let to W F Oakes, 2nd September, 1874. Assigned to J E. Nathan,

9th August, 1877, and completed by him.
(g.) Port Chalmers Contract.—Let to W Strachan, 9th September, 1874. Strachan declared

bankrupt, 12th July, 1875. Work relet to Allen and Kingstreet, who completed the contract, at
a cost of £2,163 3s. Id. less than Strachan's original contract.

(h.) Incline Contract.—Let to C. McKirdy, Ist October, 1875. Assigned to sureties (Young and
Greenfield), 11th August, 1877, andcompleted'by them.

(i.) Marlon Contract.—Tenderfor this work was given in by J D. Fraser for £19,356 os. Gd., but
he failed to comply with specification in his tender, and his deposit wasforfeited. The contract was let
to the next lowest tenderer, C. Stewart, for £19,957 lls. lid., and duly completed by him.

Further Extract from Alexander Brogden''s Letter.

" The Deborah Bay contract was the subject of public notoriety, and a large sum had to be added
to the accepted tender."

(j.) Deborah Bay Contract.—Let to MeKenzieand Co. Onlyportion ofDeborah Bay tunnel was
to be lined withbrick in the original contract, but it wasfound that a great deal more brick-lining was
required. The original contract was determined, and a fresh contract entered into with McKenzie and
Co. to complete the works of the Deborah Bay contract. Thefurther work of lining the tunnel was
made an extra to the contract. The contractors, by agreement, received a bonus of £2,500 for
completing works within contract time.

The tenders for the original contract (including Messrs. Brogden's) did not include the extrawork
for the tunnel. W A. Thomas,

Public Works Department, 13th August, 1881. Accountant, Public Works.

* The statement on page 47 was referred to the Public Worts Accountant, and returned letteredA to I inclusivewith tbe
following memorandum.
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No.
31

STATEMENT
of

Receipts
on

Account
of

Promissory
Notes

and
Balances

of
Notes
held
by
the

Immigration
Officers
on
30th
June,

1881.

Balances
representing
the

amount
of

the
Notes
held
by

Immigration
Officers
on

30th
June,
1881.

£

s.
d.

£

s.
d.

Auckland
............ ......8,035

1

6

Canterbury
...............12,928

17
J*

Taranaki
..................774

14
1

Westland............ ...121
11
4

Wellington
.........
...6,319
9

9

Otego
......
............ 12,017

17
1

Hawke's
Bay...... .........6,518
4

$ ■Nelson
.................. 552
17
9

£47M5
IO
6

Marlborough......... ......
276
17
o

*
Includes

balances
of

provincial
notes,

£225
9s.

6d.

James
0.

Gavin,

3rd
August,

1881.

Secretary
to
the
Treasury

Eeceipts.

Year
1872-73.

Year
1873-74.

Year
1874-75.

Year
1875-76.

Year
1876-77.

Year
1877-78.

Year
1878-79.
9
Months

1879-80.
Year

1880-81.
Quarter

1881-82.
Total.

Aueklana

£
s.

a.

85
io
o

£

s.
A.

73
10
o

£

s.
d.

22
11
o

£
s.

a. 600
£

s.
a.

£

s.
a.

19
o
o

£

s.
d.

47
6

o
j

£

s.
a.

85
8
10

£

s.
a.

36
8

6

£
s.

a.

£

s.
a.

375
14
4

Taranaki

39
o
o

100
18
9

45
3

6

iS
o
o

41
12

6

26
8

9

170

269
10

6

Wellington

99
o

6

767
9

9

576
13

6

256
18
10

70
1

7

IO9
12
2

68
6

o

5

5

o

26
3

s

1,979
i°
9

Hawke's
Bay

...

651
9

6

630
10
o

164
10
o

155
n
o

241
3

o

87
1

o

4°
!9
3

14
6

6

2OO
1,987
12
3

Nelson

43
16
9

43
6

9

360

38
11

6

IS
1

o

144
2

o

Jlarlborough
...

28
o
o

800
is
10
o

200

9
17

6

S
10
o

12
10
o

81
7

6

Canterbury

565
18
o

658
17
o

176
6

1

679
16

8

1,181
13
2

1,123
12
7

977
8

11

289
2

o

420
17
10

46
o
o

6,119
I2
3

Westlana

300
22
IS
O

18
12
o

16
S

o

226

100

63
14
6

Otago

50
1

o

134
10
o

167
10

6

104
15
o

211
9

9

268
is
o

101
o
2

75
°
°

254
3

6

2IOO
1,388
4
11

London

2

10
o

2
10
o

Totals

803
9

6

2,375"
3

1,744
18

7

1,762
2

9

i,37i
3

7

542
14
10

12,411
19
o

1.334
IS
9

1,641
6

o

"766
16
9

69
o
o
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STATEMENT
A.

PARTICULARS
of

Immigrants
Imported
by
Messrs.
John

Brogden
and

Sons.

Ships.

Date of Sailing.

Date of Arrival.
Port
of

Arrival.
Where
Immigrants

stlinL

wereSent
to.

Amount ofPromissory Notes.
Total

Recoveries onPromissoryNotes.

Amount of
Passages at

£10
each.

Recoveries on
£10

Passages inExcess
of Outfit.

Loss
on£10Passages.

Percentage ofRecoveries on
£10Passages.

No.
of

Cost
of

Mon
who

Transhipment
Paid

in

in
fulL

the
Colony.

Schiehallion
...

1872. April
13

1872. July
9

Wellington
Picton...I23i

£

s.
d.

2.135
9

1

£

s.
d.

712
s
8

£ 1,235

£ 194

£ 1,041
Per

cent. 'S'?
0

9

£
s.
d.

91
7

o

Halcione

„
20

,.
27

n

Wellington

Si*

912
3

4

285
16
8

5*5

100

4IS

19-41

4

City
of

Auckland
May

31

Aug.
4

Auckland

Auckland

212

4,240
17
9

770
6

7

2,100

162

1.938

771

7

Ballarat

June
13

Sept.
15

Napier

Napier...

ili

356
16
o

71
14
6

"75

'75

Bebington

„
28

Oct.
25

Wellington

(
Picton (Bluff...}■-

3.273
9
IO

339
6

J

1.495

39

i>45
6

2'6l

2

244
2

6

Lady
Jocelyn

...
July
31

Not.
1
1

Lyttelton

Bluff...52

1,181
7
10

26
7

4

520

5">

81
15
o

Christian
MeAusland

...Sept.
s

Dec.
5

Port
Chalmers

Dunedin

2I0j

4,277
11
8

190
2

7

2,015

4
1

1.974
2-03

Chile

„
12

„
28

Napier

f

Napier
i

Wellington
)

iS5

3.198
7

9

1,294
1

6

1,470

3^

J.I55
21-42

13

34
5

o

Jessie
Headman

„
22

..15

Wellington

Wellington

182*
3.831
12

8

388
3

8

',735

69

1,666

397

2

Zealandia

Oct.
s

„
28 1873. Jan.

5

Bluff

Bluff
...

18S

3.96
7

3

5

134
3

8

1,840

1,840
I

Crusader

„
10

Lyttelton

Dunedin

J9

3S5
16
9

386
180

180

Charlotte
Gladstone
Not.
4

Feb.
16

Port
Chalmers

»»

224

5,i39
8

o

210
o
4

2,240

2,240

Forfarshire

„
12

March
2

Wellington

Oamaru

i8
9
J

4,018
11
3

552"
1

1,660

120

1.54°
7-22

4

35
6
'7
6

Durham

j.

29

April
4

Auckland

Auckland

7

159
18

8

2
17
o

70

70

Lutterworth
...Deo.

23

..5

Port
Chalmers
(

Dunedin Oamaru

}

99

2,163
2

4

211
13
5

990

990

79
2

6

i>877i
39,241
16
4

5,192
18
7

18,240
1,040

17,200
S'7°

767
9

6

41

*
No

wort
for
these
rot
dial

irsed
amoni
;st
other
em]
)Ur
ere.
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STATEMENT B.

J Brogden and Sons, Wellington.—Monthly Immigrant Report to Firm in London.

STATEMENT C.
Messrs. John Beogden and Sons' Immigeation Account.

£ s. d. £ s, d. £ s. d. £ s. d.
Total amount of promissory notes given to Brought forward ... ...1,854 17 11 35,500 17 g

the Government under the Immigration Law charges, expenses of collection, and
contract for passages ... ... 18,240 o o other disbursements in connection with

Interest impounded by the Government ... 2,499 '<
Io the promissory notes in the colony ~.2,253 3 2

_——— *————" —- 4>&0o I 1
Total amountimpounded by Government 20,739 15 10 ■
Interest to March 28, 1874,paid in London 1,380 3 o Total disbursements ~. 39,608 18 6
Sundry other payments to Agent-General 290 o o Less recoveries from immigrants on pro-
Total of principal and interest, &c, received missory notes ... ~. ... ~, 5,192 18 7

by Government .. ... ... '—22,409 18 10

Cost of outfits and sundry other disburse- 34.415 19 11
ments paid by the firm in London ... .. 13.°9° 18 7 Approximate interest to June 30, 1881 ... ... 12,687 ° 9

Rations, &c,hospital expenses,and moving ——immigrants in the colony ... ... 3,042 2 5 Total disbursements and interest
Less repaid by Government ... ~, 1,187 4 6 to June 30, 1881 ~. ... £47,103 o 8

Carried forward ~, ~, 1,854 17 v 35,500 17 5

STATEMENT D.

Number of Statute Adult Immigrants Arriving in
the Colony during the Time of Messrs. Brogden
and Sons' Immigration.

Mileage of Railway-works under Construction.

B—l. la..

Ruling Rates of Wages per Day for Pick and Shovel-
Men, during the following Half-yearly Periods:—

Date of
Report.

Number
Working

for
Firm.

Number
Not

Working
for Firm.

Total.
Approximate
Expenditure

in New Zealand
on Works.

Remarks. Bute of
Report.

Number
Working

for
Firm.

Number
Not

Working
for Firm.

Total.
Approximate
Expenditure

in New Zealand
on Works.

Remarks*

1873-
April
May
June ...
July ...
August...
Sept, 4 ..,, 3°-
October...
November
December

1874.
January
February
March ...
April
May
June ,.,
July ...
A.ugust,..

236
321
278
219
133
125
86
75
77
48

i,°5S
970

1,013
1,072
1,158
1,166
1,20s
1,216
1,214
1,^43

1,291
)»

i6,ooo
19,000
15,000
25,000
13,000
18,000
13,000
26,000
17,000
29,000

All lines at
work.

1874.
September
October
November
December

34

23
14

1,257
1,266
1,268
1,277

1,291
,»

26,000
17,000
29,000
23,000

All lines at
work except
Hutt line*j) ,,

>J ,, jj

46
5°
43
33
32
5 1

39

1,235
i,245
1,241
1,248
1,258
1,259
1,240
1,252

jj

j)

i)

3)

J> 18,000
21,000
22,000
21,000
29,000
8,000

32,000
16,000

,,
jj

I,,,
,,
j,

1875-
January
February
March ...
April
May ...
June ...
July ...
August...
September
October
November
December

18
13
11

9
7
5
4
3
3
3
2

1,273
1,278
1,280
1,282
1,284
1,286
1,287
1,288
1,288
1,288
1,289
1,291

,,,,
)j,,,,

21,000
28,000
23,000
23,000
19,000
22,000
19,000
16,000
23,000
I 0,000
10,000
8,000

,,
J)

,, ,,
a ):

)t ,, ),

( Ditto, except
< Hutt and
(. Napier.

j) ,, },

j) ,5
,,

j) J, ),

j) ,,

Introducedby

Government. Brogden. Total.

tom July 9 to Dec. 28, 1872 ...„ January 5 to April 5, 1873
2,520!

742
3,262!

1.339
5384-

3.8S9i
1,280!

Totals S.UO

By
Brogden.

By
Others. Total.

luring 1872,. i873
» 1874
» 1875
» 1876

Miles.
180
239
183
9538

Miles.

1°104
342
437
344

Miles.
250
4°3
5 25
53^
382

g
6

HoI iz I
5 O

s. d.
1 4

s. d.
5 6

s. d. s. d.
5 6

s. d.
6 8

s. di
December, 1872 5 I0

June, 1873 ... 8 o 6 o 6 3 6 6 6 10

December, 1873 8 o 6 6 6 9 7 ° 7 o 6 6

June, 1874 ... 9 ° 6 6 7 ii 7 6 7 10 8 Q

December, 1874 10 o 6 8 8 2 8 o 7 10 8 o

June, 1875 ... 10 o 7 o 8 8 8 o 8 S 8 o

Average for six half-
years*

876 6-38 7*26 7-0 7'58

* The quotations given above t
and Sods' pfiy-sheets, and averagin
separately.

ire arm
' the ra

red at b;
ite of wi

r taliiDg Mesers.
iges for each si:

Brogden: months
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Apportionment of the Net Amotot of Beftods, pro raid, between the Passage-money and
the Cost of Outfit, &c.

£ s. d.
Passage-money, viz., 1,824 statute adults, at £10 18,240 0 0
Outfits, &c, viz.,— -

Ships' kits for immigrants .. 1,791 15 0
Outfit, railway fares, dock dues, medical examination, &c. 9,619 13 9
Agency expenses, &c, in England .. 1,679 9 10
Expenses in the colony notrefunded by Government 874 7 9

£13,965 6 4

Eecoveries from immigrants .. 5,192 18 7
£ s. d.

Less, Extra duty stamps in colony .. 75 110
Law charges incurred . .. 735 19 8
Expenses of collection .. 1,225 0 0

2,036 1 6

Net refunds ..i , .. £3,156 17 1

Passage-money, proportion of net refunds .. .. .. .. *1,788 0 0
Outfit, &c, proportion of netrefunds ... 1,368 17 1

£3,156 17 1

* Note.—Taking individual cases of refunds in excess of the outfit charges, the
amount contributed by the immigrants towards the £10 passage- money
(£18,240) is only .. ... ... ... £1,040 0 0

APPENDIX No. 2.
Mr. James Beogden to Messrs. Beogden and Sows.

G-eNtlemen,— Wellington, 25th November, 1871.
#■######*

"We should disturb the labour market materially if we proceeded to make railways and draw upon
the present resources of thecolony in labour to a large extent, and so disorganize industries ofvarious
kinds. Holding this in view, the Government wish to limit our payment to the working navvies, for a
days' labour of eight hours, to the sum of Gs. per day Now, we find this varies in different provinces
from 6s. to 10s. In theproximity of gold-mining theypay 10s.per dayreadily Inplaces where labour
is not in demand it is possibly 7s. 6d. to Bs. per day The Government prohibit theemployment of
Chinese labour. Hence the Government advise that one person or firm should control the labour
market, and thus the idea gains currency that we should have all the public works. I have, of course,
done all I could to foster this idea Then, the Government wish us to import men, with a view to their
employment on thepublic works, and to their future settlement in the colony; hence, they desired me
to consider animmigration scheme in connection with ourworks. I decline to take any risk or respon-
sibility without your approval and consideration. I have, therefore, arranged to refer you to Dr.
Featherston on this subject. I shall mention this more in detail presently, and, meantime, refer back
to the negotiations for works.

A lengthy agreementwas submitted as to our importing immigrants : the substance of it was that
we should receive from the Government £15 per adult for all persons imported; that we should import
2,000 men, who would possibly have some4,000 womenand children attached and connected with them ;
that promissory notesshould be given for thepassage-money, repayable in equal sums at two, three, and
five years to us by deduction from wages, and have twenty acres of settlement(fair or good land) land
allotted,for which they would have to pay £1 per acre, in the course of two, three, and five years, with
the power to take up an equal amount of landif they had paid for the first lot in one year after arrival.
I found that much better terms were being offered than those proposed to us in the case ofimmigrants
coming independently and applying to the Agent-Generalin England. The Agent-General has discre-
tion to pay the whole passage-money,and give the right to land above mentioned, or he may insist on
£5 of the £15 passage-moneybeing paidby promissory note of the immigrant. I find thatabout50 per
cent, of the immigrants after arrival disappear, and leave their engagements unfulfilled, although they
are promised, in addition, four days a week employment at ss. on public works, roads, &c, for one
year. I thought we could have worked the matter out; that the Government would take the risk, as';
they impose a limitation as to the price to be paid for labour. I therefore thought, as we shall have to
get labour imported, it would be better that you arrangewith Dr. Featherston a means of their being
sent out under the general terms theAgent-Generalin England is empoweredto act upon, at least until
you hearfurther from us here. Ido not intend we should run risks, but I see we shall require men. I
shall be anxious to hear what you have doneor proposed withDr. Featherston.

* * * * I would be glad to have information asto the operations
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of Thomson, Bonar, and others, who are conducting schemes of this kind, and information as to their
progress. We should get the Government Agent-General to pay the full passage-money of the men
we require. Remember also that, in the case of promissory notes given, a particular form is required:
these are to be indorsedby the Government, and drawn on a private firm, so as to be legal and reclaim-
able in New Zealand. Dr. Featherston has some experience in this, as in Wellington Province alone
he wasparty to a loss occasioned to the extent of £40,000, on account of persons who repudiated their
promissory notes or who absconded. We propose toget—■

2,000 adult males, at £15 passage-money .. .. £30,000
3,000 others (wives and families), at £15 passage-money 45,000
2,000 children, at £710s. ~ ... 7,500

6,000 £82,000
—the itemto be paid by the Government, but promissory notes to be given by the immigrants, and we
were to collect the moneys from the men. We should be paid the total sum, and collect in two, three,
and five years, but we couldnot agreeas to the Government taking the risk of absconding persons—we to pay 6s. per day, eight hours; deaths to be covered by insurance by the New Zealand Govern-
ment. So that the matter remains for you to act on until wefeel assured, by the terms of the Govern-
ment offer, that we can submit a proper offer here for the above operation.

Messrs. John Brogdenand Sons. James Beo&den.

APPENDIX No. 3.
The Agent-General to the Hon. the Colonial Seceetaet

7, Westminster Chambers, Victoria Street, Westminster, S.W.,
Sib,— 10th July, 1873.

I have the honor to informyou that I had yesterday a conference with the Messrs. Brogden,
at which the Hon. Mr. Hall was present. Mr. Hall, in the discussion, detailedfully the negotiations
which had taken place in the colony between the Government and Mr. James Brogden. Messrs.
Brogden repeated the statements made in their letter of the 12th June, which was forwarded to you
on that date, and contended that they had been deceived both by the Government and myself; that,
owing to the delay of the Government in giving them contracts, they had no wort to give the emi-
grants on their arrival, that many of them consequently left their service ; and that I had led them to
believe that there would be little or no difficulty in obtaining payment of the promissory notes given
to them by the emigrants, whereas their agents in the colony had informed them that only a very
trifling amount could be recovered. Under these circumstances they maintained that they were
entitled to be reimbursed by the Government for the whole of their outlay on emigration.

It was pointed out to them that Mr. James Brogden had commenced the negotiations in the
colony, and had been on the point of signing a contract, when at the last momenthe declined, on the
ground that he preferred that the terms of the contract should be arranged between his brothers and
myself; that, in order that they might be secured against loss, I agreed that they should take a
promissory note of £15 from each adult, they giving to the Government the promissory note of £10
per adalt; that this allowance of 33 per cent, might be deemedample to secure themagainst loss,
especially as these emigrants went out under engagementwith them, and on the distinct understand-
ing that acertain amount should be deducted each week from their wages towards payment of their
promissory notes ; that the emigrants, consisting principally of navvies, were required for the public
works, they were contracting for, and were not such as the Government would have selected; that the
vast majority of them were single men, who, under the regulations, if they had gone out as Govern-
ment emigrants, would have been obliged to pay at least £4 in cash towards the cost of their
passage, &c.

The discussion,which lastedtwo hours, ended without any arrangementwhich I couldrecommend
for adoption by the Governmentbeing proposed by them.

I am free, however, to admit that, if there is any probability of Messrs. Brogden losing nearly the
whole of their advances from causes not in any way of their own creating, it is not unreasonablefor
them to expect some concession on the part of the Government.

I have to-day received from them the letter which I enclose, and am inclined to think that the
proposal it contains is entitled to thefavourable considerationof the Government.

It will be seen that the amount of the promissory notes given by the emigrants to Messrs.
Brogden is £39,874 13s. 4d.; that the sum paid by Messrs. Brogden on account of the emigrants is
£11,411 Bs. 9d.; and that the Government hold Messrs. Brogden's promissory notes to the amount of
£18,240.

To meet Messrs. Brogden's debt to the Government, and to reimburse them these advances to the
emigrants, a sum of £29,651 Bs. 9d. would have to be recovered from the emigrants.

If, as I understand, 525 of the emigrants are employed by the Messrs. Brogden, it appears to
me that there ought not to be any great difficulty in recovering this amount, especially if the Govern-
ment co-operated wiih Messrs. Brogden. But, of course, the Government are alone able to form a
sound opinion on thematter. I have, &c,

I. E. Peathebston,
The Hon. the Colonial Secretary, "Wellington, New Zealand. Agent-General.
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Draft Immigration Agreement, forwarded to the Agent-Genera! 25th November, 1871.
Articles op Agreement entered into this day of 187 ,

between Sir George Ferguson Bowen, Knight Grand Cross of the Most Distinguished
Order of Saint Michael and Saint George, Governor and Commander-in-Chief in and
over Her Majesty's Colony of New Zealand and its Dependencies, of the one part, and
Alexander Beogden, M.P., Henry Brogden, and James Brogden, all of Queen's
Square, in the Cityof "Westminster, Eailway Contractors, and hereinafter referred to as
"the Contractors," of the other part.

Whereas by "The Immigrationand Public Works Act, 1870," as amended by "The Immigration and
Public Works Act Amendment Act, 1871," it is, amongst other things, provided that the Governor
may enter into such contracts as may seem proper with any person or persons, whether within or
without New Zealand, for the selection, conveyance to, or settlement in New Zealand of such classes
of immigrants and in such numbers as the Governor shall think fit: And whereas the Governor,
under the authority conferred on him by the said Acts, has determined to and doth hereby enter into
an agreement with the Contractors for the selection of immigrants to be conveyed to New Zealand,
and for the conveyance to and settlement in New Zealand of such immigrants, upon the terms and
conditions and in the manner hereinafter set forth: Now these presents witness that the Governor
(so far as he lawfully can or may under or by virtue of the said Acts, but not further or otherwise),
for himselfand his successors,all of whomarehereinafter includedin the expression "the Governor" (so
far as the covenants and agreements hereinafter contained are to be observed and performed on his or
their parts respectively), doth hereby covenant and agree with the Contractors, their executors and
administrators,all of whom are included in the expression " the Contractors ;" and the Contractors and
each of them, for themselves and himself, and their respective heirs, executors, and administrators (so
far as the covenants and agreements hereinafter contained are to be observed on their parts), do and
doth hereby covenant and agree with the Governor and his successors in manner following, that is
to say,—

1. In the construction of these presents the following words and expressions have respectively the
meanings hereafter attached to them, unless such meaning shall be inconsistent with the context:—
The expression "Agent-General" means the Agent-General for New Zealand for the time being
appointed under section45 of " The Immigration and Public Works Act, 1870."

2. The Contractors will withreasonable despatch convey from Europe and land in New Zealand a
number of able-bodied European male immigrants, not exceeding two thousand in number, together
with the families of such immigrants; such immigrants with their families not to exceed six thousand
adults. The immigrants to be selected and obtained by and at the expense of the Contractors, but
such immigrants to be subject to the approval of the Agent-General,or someperson orpersons to be
from time to time appointed by him, before they leave Europe.

3. The Governor shall and will cause to be paid in London, by the Agent-General on behalf of
the colony, to the Contractors, the cost of the conveyanceof the immigrants and their families to New
Zealand from the port of embarkation, such cost not to exceed £15 for every adult person, and for
every younger person such proportionate part of £15 as will represent the charge usually made for the
carriage ofnon-adult immigrants to New Zealand.

4. Prom time to time after each shipment of immigrants, on the Contractors proving, to the satis-
faction of the A gent-General,what number of immigrants as aforesaid have sailed from Europe, and
producing to him satisfactory evidence of the expense paid or incurred by the Contractors for the
conveyance of such immigrants to New Zealand, the Contractors shall forthwithbe paid in London by
the Agent-General a sum of money equal to the expenses aforesaid of the conveyance of such immi-
grants to New Zealand, not exceeding such sum for each immigrant as aforesaid.

5. Contemporaneously with each such payment as aforesaid to the Contractors by the Agent-
General, the Contractors shall and will deliver to the Agent-General, on behalf of the Colony of New
Zealand, their promissory notes,of such tenor as hereinafter provided, for the amount of the sum so
paid to the Contractors, together with simple interest at £6 per centum per annum; that is to say,
one joint and several promissory note of the Contractors for one-fourth part of the amount so paid
to the Contractors, payable at , to Isaac Earl Featherston, Agent-General for New
Zealand, or his order, at two years after the date of such payment to the Contractors by the Agent-
General as aforesaid, together with interest on the said fourth part of the said sum at the rate of £6
per centumper annum from the date of such payment to the Contractors as aforesaid, until payment
of the said promissory note by the Contractors; and also one other joint and several promissory note of
the Contractors for one other fourth part of the amount so paid to the Contractors as aforesaid, pay-
able at , to Isaac Earl Eeatherston, Agent-General of New Zealand, or his order, at three
years after the date of such payment to the Contractors as aforesaid, with interest on the said fourth
part of the said sum at the rate of £6 per centum per annum from the date of such payment to the
Contractors as aforesaid, until payment of the said promissory noteby the Contractors ; and also one
other joint and several promissory note of the Contractors for one other fourth part of the amount so
paid to the Contractors, payable at , to Isaac Earl Featherston, Agent-Generalfor New
Zealand, or his order, at four years after the date of such payment to the Contractors as aforesaid,
together with interest on the said fourth part of the said sum at the rate of £6 per centum per annum
from the date of such payment to the Contractors as aforesaid, until payment of the said promissory
note by the Contractors ; and also one other joint and several promissory note of the Contractors for
one other fourth part of the amount so paid to the Contractors as aforesaid, payable at ,
to Isaac Earl Featherston, Agent-General for New Zealand, or his order, at five years after the date of
such payment to the Contractors as aforesaid, together with interest on the said fourth part of the
said sum at the rate of £6 per centum per annnui from the date of such payment to the Contractors
as aforesaid, until payment of the said promissory noteby the Contractors.
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6. That the Contractors consent and agree that all moneys from time to time due and payable
from them under or in respect of the said promissory notes may be set off against any moneys for the
timebeing due to the Contractors by Her Majesty the Queen, or the Governor of New Zealand, or
the Government of New Zealand,under or in respect of any contract entered into, in the name of the
Queen or the Governor of New Zealand, by the authority of the local Government of New Zealand.

7 That the Contractors will convey the said immigrants to and land them at such ports in New
Zealand as the Agent-General shall approve of; that is to say, the Agent-General shall have power
to fix how many of such immigrants shall from time to time be conveyed to each of the several ports
of Auckland, Wellington, Marlborough, Otago, and ; and the Contractors will conform to the
decision of the Agent-General in the matter.

8. The Contractors will, so far as they are able, promote the settlement of the said immigrants in
New Zealand, and to that end will purchase from the Crown such of the waste lands of the Crown in
New Zealand as maybe agreed between the Contractors and the Minister for Public Works in New
Zealandfor the timebeing, not exceeding acres for every of such immigrants,and will,so far as
they areable, provide for the settlement of such immigrants on the land so purchased.

Immigration Contract entered into with the Messrs. Beogden, dated the 27th day of June, 1872.
Articles of Agreement entered into this twenty-seventh day of June, one thousand eight

hundred and seventy-two, between Sir Geoege Febgtson Bowen, Knight Grand Cross of
theMost DistinguishedOrderof Saint Michael and Saint George, Governorand Commander-in-
Chief in and over the Colony of New Zealand and its Dependencies (hereinaftercalled " the
Governor"), for and on behalf of the said colony, by Isaac Earl Featherston, of No. 7,
"Westminster Chambers, in the City of Westminster, Esquire, the Agent-General of New-
Zealand, of the one part; and Alexander Brogden, M.P , Henry Brogden, and James
Brogden, all of No. 4, Queen's Square, in the Cityof Westminster, and carrying on business
under the style or firm of John Brogden and Sons, as Railway and General Contractors
(hereinafter called " the Contractors "), of the other part.

Whereas by "The Immigration and Public Works Act, 1870," amended by "The Immigration
and Public Works Act Amendment Act, 1871," it is, amongst other things, provided that the Governor
may enter into such contracts as may seem properwith any person orpersons within or without New
Zealand, for the selection, conveyance to, and settlement in New Zealand of such classes of immigrants
and in such number as the Governor shall think fit: And by the same Act the Governor was autho-
rized to appoint some person to be Agent-General of New Zealand in the United Kingdom of Great
Britain and Ireland, whose duty it should be to doall things in relation to New Zealand that the
Governor in Council might direct: And whereas, by virtue of the authority contained in the said
recited Act, the Governor has appointed the said Isaac Earl Featherston as such Agent-General, and
the Governor in Council has duly authorized and empowered him to enter into such contracts as he
might think fit, with a view to carry into effect the provisions of the saidrecited Acts with reference
to immigration ; and, in part exercise of such authority, the Agent-General (which expression shall,in
the construction of these presents, mean the Agent-General for the time being for New Zealand,
appointed under section 45 of " The Immigration and Public Works Act, 1870") has entered into
arrangements with Messrs. Shaw, Saville, and Company, of Leadenhall Street, London, for the convey-
ance of such emigrants from London or Plymouth to New Zealand as the Agent-General shall require
to be conveyed during twelve months ending the seventh day of March, one thousand eight hundred
and seventy-three, on certain terms and conditions mentioned in an agreement made between the
parties, and dated the seventh day of March, one thousandeight hundred and seventy-two, hereinafter
referred to by the expression "the said agreement," a copy whereof has been handed to the Contrac-
tors : And whereas the Governor and the Contractors have entered into arrangementsfor the execu-
tionby the Contractors, in New Zealand, of railway and other works, in reliance upon which being
carried out, and with, a view to the execution of which works, the Contractors have selected and sent
out to the said colony men suitable to be employed on the said works, with their families, and are
desirous of sendingout other such men, and have applied totheAgent-Generalonbehalf of the Governor
to co-operate with them to effect such object on the terms and conditions hereinafter mentioned, which
the Agent-General on such behalf has agreedto do: Now these presents witnesseth that, for the con-
siderations herein appearing, the Governor (so far as he lawfully can or may, under or by virtue of the
said recited Acts or otherwise, but not further or otherwise),for himself and his successors (all of
whom are hereinafter included in the expression " the Governor "), so far as the agreements herein-
after contained are to be observed or performed on his or their parts respectively, doth hereby agree
with the Contractors, their executors, administrators,and assigns (all of whom are hereinafter included
in the expression "the Contractors"), and the Contractors, and each of them, for themselves and him-
self, and their respective executors and administrators, so far as the agreements hereinafter contained
are to be observed and performed on their parts, do and doth hereby agree with the Governor, his
successors and assigns, in manner following, that is to say,—

1. In addition to the emigrants so selected and sent out by the Contractors as aforesaid to New
Zealand, the Contractors will, with all convenient speed, with a view to the execution of such works as
aforesaid, select other emigrantsto proceed to New Zealand so as to make up, with those already sent
outby them, such a number (not exceeding, in the whole, two thousand) of able-bodiedmen of not less
than twenty-one years of age, besides wives and children, as the Agent-General shall from time to time
require; and will furnish to the Agent-General the names and ages of all such emigrants, and submit
them and their persons to such examination by duly-qualified men as the Agent-Generalshall from
time to timerequire ; and these presents shall only apply to such emigrants andproposed emigrants as
the Agent-General has already approved of and shall hereafter approve of, which emigrants are herein-
afterreferred to as " the said emigrants."
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2. The expression " adults " shall, for the purposes of these presents, mean a person of the age of
twelve years or upwards, or two persons above one year of age and under twelve years of age, the ages
being taken at the time of embarkation, and children of one year of age not being taken into account.

3. When and so soon as thereshall be, in the opinion of the Agent-General,from time to time, a
number of the said emigrants sufficient to fill a ship and ready to embark, the Agent-General shall
forthwith, from time to time, give the requisite notice under the said agreement, and use his best
endeavours,consistently with the said agreement, to cause such emigrants to be conveyed to such port
or ports in New Zealand as the Contractors may, in writing, request, and the Governor will make all
payments payable under the said agreement in respect of the conveyance of such emigrants: Provided
that if any of the said emigrants whoso names shall have been furnished by the Contractors to the
Agent-General for embarkation, and who shall have been included in the list prescribed by the 32nd
article of the said agreement, shall fail to embark, the Contractors will,upon the request of the Agent-
General on behalf of the Governor, repay to the Agent-Generalall sum and sums of money from time
to time paid by the Agent-General on such behalf under the said 32nd article of the said agree,
ment, for the emigrants who have so failed respectively to embark : Provided also that the Governor
shall not be required to pay the cost of orprovide a conveyancefor (including those already sent) any
greater number than two thousand able-bodied men of not less than twenty-one years of age, or any
greater number of the said emigrants in the whole than six thousand adults.

4. The Governor will, on the arrival of the said emigrants in New Zealaud, cause them to be
received and dealt with in as beneficial a manner as other emigrants are received and dealt with on
behalf of the Governor on arrival in the colony

5. With a view to a part repayment of the moneys so to be paid or expended by or on behalf of
the Governor, the Contractors will repay to the Governor the sum of £10 in respect of every
adult of the said immigrants who has sailed, or who hereafter shall be embarked as aforesaid; such
repayment to be secured, with interest, by the joint and several promissory notes of the Contractors, in
theform given and so signed as mentioned in the Schedule hereto ; such promissory notes in respect of
those emigrants who have sailed to be handed over to the Agent-General in exchange for the sum to
be so paid to the Contractors as aforesaid ; and the promissory notes in respect of those to be hereafter
conveyed to be handed over to the Agent-General from time to time, upon request, immediately after
such ship has, according to article 14 of the said agreement, proceeded to her destination. And in case
the Governor or theAgent-General shall, under the 30th article of the said agreement, be repaid the
half of the passage-money payable by him thereunder in respect of any of the said emigrants, an
allowance shall be made by the Governor to the Contractors at the rate of £5 for each adult
emigrant in respect of whom such repayment shall be made to the Governor or the Agent-General;
and the amount of such allowance shall, when ascertained, be written off by indorsement on and be
taken as part payment distributively of the instalments of the promissory notes given inrespect of the
shipment upon which such allowance shall arise. And in all cases in which any such repayment as
aforesaid of half the passage-money shall become due to the Governor or Agent-General under such
agreement, the Governor or the Agent-General shall demand and use his best endeavours to recover
the same.

G. The Governor may deduct the amounts which have from time to time become due and payable
by the Contractorsupon or by virtue and according to the tenorof the said promissory notes, from any
moneys payable by the Governor to the Contractors in respect of any railway or other works executed
by them ; and there shall be indorsed upon any contract for the time being in force between the
Governor and the Contractors with reference to such works, and upon the duplicate thereof in the
hands of the Contractors, a memorandum to the following effect, that is to say,—

Memorandum.
By an agreement madebetween the Governor and the Contractors, dated the 27th June, 1872, the

Governor advances the passage-money, at £10 per adult, of immigrants into New Zealand, not exceed-
ing 6,000 in number, and takespromissory notes of the Contractors for each advance, payable by four
equal instalments of two, three, four, and five years from the date of each advance, with interest at 6
per cent, per annum in the meantime, and with liberty to the Contractors to pay the principal and
interest earlier if they please, and with powerto the Governorto deduct the amounts which have from
time to time become due andpayable upon such promissory notes, and according to their tenor, from
any moneys payable by the Governor to the Contractors in respect of any railway or other works
executed by them under the within contract.

7 The Contractors may takefrom or for and in respect of every adult of the said immigrants a
sum not exceeding £16 in payment of that for which payment is hereby agreed to be made
by the Contractors to the Governor as aforesaid, and to cover the risk to the Contractors of the non-
payment of such a sum ; but they shall not, under any circumstances, take from or for or in respect of
any adult of the said immigrants more than that amount in respect of passage-money

8. If the Contractors desire to assure with the Life Assurance Office of the Government of New
Zealand all the said emigrants embarked in all or any of the ships, they are to be at liberty to do so
on the same terms on which emigrants sent out by the Honorable Colonel Feilding may be insured
under the arrangements made betweenhim and the Governor, a copy of the terms of which arrange-
ment has been handed to the Contractors.

9. The Governor, by beinga party to these presents, and the Agent-General, by signing the same
on his behalf, shall not incur any personal responsibility or liability whatsoever.

In witness whereof the Agent-Generalhas hereto, as agent for and on behalfof the Governor,
set his hand, and the Contractors have respectively set their hands, the day and yearfirst
above written.
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The Schedule above eefeebed to.
£ The ship " ," London.

We jointly and severally promise to pay to Her Majesty the Queen and her successors, on behalf of
the Colony of New Zealand, the sum of pounds, by four equal yearly instalments of
pounds each, at the expiration of two, three, four, and five years respectively, from the date hereof*
with interest in the meantime at therate of 6 per cent, per annum on so much thereof as shall for the
time being remain unpaid, such interest to be yaid half-yearlyon every day of
and day of ; thefirst of such half-yearlypayments to be made on the first of the said
days happening after the date hereof ; and in case default shall be made in thepaymentof either of the
said yearly instalments or of the said interest for one calendar month after the same shall respectively
become due and payable, then we jointly and severally promise to pay, immediately upon demand, the
whole of the moneys and interest hereby secured. But we are to be at liberty to pay the whole or any
part of the amount secured by thispromissory note at any earlier time or times than the due dates of
the instalments, if we think proper.

Payable at the offices in London for the time being of the Agent-Q-eneralof New Zealand, or, if
there be no such offices, then at the Bank of England. John Beogden and Sons.

Alexandee Beogden
Henet Beogden.
James Beogden.

On behalf of the Governor, I. E. Featheeston,
Agent-G-eneral,

John Beogden and Sons.
Alexandee Beogden.
Henet Beogden.

AVitness to the signatures of Isaac Earl Featherston, John
Brogden and Sons Alexander Brogden, and Henry
Brogden—

James Mackeell,
Solicitor, 21, Cannon Street, London.

Rene and Taboijedin,
Solicitors, 1, Victoria Street, Westminster.

James Beogden *Witness to the signature of James Brogden—

* The signature " JamesBrogden " is only written in pencil in the agreement to show where the signature is to be
inserted.

Authority: G-EOBaE DidSbusy, GovernmentPrinter, Wellington.—lBBl.
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